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This second Supplement (the Supplement) is supplemental to, and should be read in conjunction with, the
Base Prospectus dated 27 September 2013, as previously supplemented by the supplement dated 9 January
2014 (together, the Base Prospectus) relating to the €4,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme
established by FGA Capital Ireland p.l.c. (the Issuer) and unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by
FGA Capital S.p.A. (the Guarantor). This Supplement constitutes a supplement for the purposes of Article
16 of Directive 2003/71/EC, as amended (the Prospectus Directive) as implemented in Ireland by the
Prospectus (Directive 2003/71/EC) Regulations 2005, as amended (the Prospectus Regulations) and is
prepared in order to update the Base Prospectus. Unless otherwise stated herein, terms defined in the Base
Prospectus have the same meaning when used in this Supplement.

This Supplement is for the purposes of (i) updating the "Documents Incorporated by Reference™ section of
the Base Prospectus in order to incorporate by reference the Issuer’s audit report and audited annual financial
statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2013, (ii) disclosing the Guarantor’s consolidated
financial results for the financial year ended 31 December 2013, and (iii) updating the paragraph headed "2.
History and Development" in the "Description of the Guarantor" section of the Base Prospectus.

This Supplement has been approved by the Central Bank of Ireland (the Central Bank), as competent
authority under the Prospectus Directive. The Central Bank only approves this Supplement as meeting the
requirements imposed under Irish and EU law pursuant to the Prospectus Directive.

The language of the Supplement is English. Certain legislative references and technical terms have been
cited in their original language in order that the correct technical meaning may be ascribed to them under
applicable law.

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Supplement and the Guarantor accepts
responsibility for the information relating to itself and the Guarantee contained in this Supplement. To the
best of the knowledge and belief of the Issuer and, in respect of the information relating to itself and the
Guarantee only, the Guarantor (each having taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case) the
information contained in this Supplement is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to
affect the import of such information.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE - ISSUER FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

On 12 February 2014, the Issuer's board of directors approved its financial statements for the financial year
ended 31 December 2013, which have been audited by Ernst & Young (the Issuer Financial Statements).
The Issuer Financial Statements were presented to the Issuer’s shareholders at the Issuer's shareholders'
meeting held on 14 March 2014. A copy of the Issuer Financial Statements has been filed with the Irish



Stock Exchange. By virtue of this Supplement, the information set out in the cross-reference table below,
which is contained in the Issuer Financial Statements, is incorporated in, and forms part of, the Base
Prospectus.

Any information contained in the Issuer Financial Statements but not included in the cross-reference table
below is not incorporated by reference in the Base Prospectus and should be read for information purposes
only. Any information contained in the Issuer Financial Statements which is not expressly incorporated by
reference in this Supplement does not form part of this Supplement and is either not relevant to investors or
is covered elsewhere in this Supplement or the Base Prospectus.

Documents Information incorporated Page
Reference
Financial statements of FGA Capital Statement of Comprehensive Income for Page 15
Ireland p.l.c. for the financial year ended the year ended 31 December 2013
31 December 2013
Statement of Financial Position as at 31 Page 16

December 2013

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year Page 17
ended 31 December 2013

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended  Page 18
31 December 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Pages 19 to 40
year ended 31 December 2013

Statement of Accounting Policies Pages 9 to 14
Independent Auditors' Report to the Pages 7to 8

Members of FGA Capital Ireland plc

Copies of all documents incorporated by reference in the Base Prospectus can be obtained from the
registered office of the Issuer and from the specified office of the Paying Agent for the time being in
London, as described on page 22 of the Base Prospectus. The Issuer Financial Statements can also be found
on the following website: http://www.ise.ie/debt_documents/FGA%20Capital%20Ireland%20plc%20%20-
%20Annual%202013%20Financial%20Statements(12227947 1) 21e087ce-87df-4fdb-9d9e-
31e977a22¢26.PDF.

GUARANTOR'S SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RESULTS
On 17 February 2014, the Guarantor's board of directors approved the Guarantor's consolidated financial
results for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 (the Guarantor Financial Results), which have been

audited by Reconta, Ernst & Young S.P.A. The Guarantor Financial Results were approved at the
Guarantor's shareholders' meeting held on 20 March 2014.

The Guarantor Financial Results are set out at pages F-1 to F-61 of this Supplement.
UPDATE TO THE SECTION DESCRIPTION OF THE GUARANTOR

Further to the execution of a co-operation agreement between Maserati S.p.A. and the Guarantor and the
extension of the term of the co-operation agreement entered into in July 2008 by the Guarantor, Jaguar and


http://www.ise.ie/debt_documents/FGA%20Capital%20Ireland%20plc%20%20-%20Annual%202013%20Financial%20Statements(12227947_1)_21e087ce-87df-4fdb-9d9e-31e977a22c26.PDF
http://www.ise.ie/debt_documents/FGA%20Capital%20Ireland%20plc%20%20-%20Annual%202013%20Financial%20Statements(12227947_1)_21e087ce-87df-4fdb-9d9e-31e977a22c26.PDF
http://www.ise.ie/debt_documents/FGA%20Capital%20Ireland%20plc%20%20-%20Annual%202013%20Financial%20Statements(12227947_1)_21e087ce-87df-4fdb-9d9e-31e977a22c26.PDF

Land Rover, the paragraph entitled "2. History and Development” on page 58 of the Base Prospectus in the
section "Description of the Guarantor" is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced as follows:

2. HISTORY AND DEVELOPMENT

The FGA Capital Group resulted from the de-merger and the subsequent sale of a 50 per cent. interest in the
European financial services division of Fiat Group Automobiles to Crédit Agricole Consumer Finance, as
further described below.

The FGA Capital Group comprises subsidiaries that have been operating in the financing business for a
number of years. Fiat Group Automobiles has extended credit to its customers directly since the early part of
the 1920s. Until the mid-1980s, the existing international retail and wholesale finance activities were carried
out by Fiat Credit International and its European subsidiaries. In Italy, the financial services activities were
carried out by various companies, headed by Fiat Sava S.p.A.

Prior to 1996, the activities now conducted by the FGA Capital Group were part of Fidis S.p.A., which was a
publicly-listed company. Fiat was its major shareholder with a 52 per cent. shareholding, while the
remaining 48 per cent. of the shares was held by the public. In February 1996, Fiat launched a public tender
offer for the publicly-held portion and subsequently de-listed Fidis S.p.A. In the same year, Fiat Group
reorganised and transferred control of Fidis S.p.A. to Fiat Auto S.p.A. (currently Fiat Group Automobiles),
its car division.

In May 2003, FRI, then a recently-incorporated corporation, was de-merged from Fiat Group Automobiles,
with a 51 per cent. stake transferred to Synesis Finanziaria S.p.A., a company owned by a pool of major
Italian banks. FRI managed, through its subsidiaries, the retail financing activities of Fiat Group
Automobiles in Europe.

A new partnership (the Joint Venture) between Fiat Group Automobiles and Crédit Agricole was
announced on 24 July 2006, signed on 14 October 2006 and approved by the European Antitrust
Commission on 5 December 2006. On 28 December 2006 the Joint Venture became effective, when on the
same date:

o FGA exercised a call option on the 51 per cent. stake of FRI formerly owned by Synesis Finanziaria
SpA;

e FRI's wholly-owned Italian subsidiary, Fiat SAVA S.p.A., was merged into FRI;

e FRI was included in the special register of financial intermediaries held by the Bank of Italy under
Article 107 of Italian Legislative Decree No. 385 of 1 September 1993, as amended (the Italian
Banking Law);

o all of FGA's equity interests in companies operating in the dealer network financing and fleet rental
sectors in Europe were brought together under FRI;

o FGA financed a share capital increase in order to provide the Joint Venture with financial resources
adequate for the increased portfolio and in line with the foreseen expansion of volumes; and

e FGA sold to Sofinco S.A. (now Crédit Agricole Consumer Finance) 50 per cent. of the share capital
of FRI.

The name of the Guarantor was then changed the day after to Fiat Auto Financial Services S.p.A and
subsequently to Fiat Group Automobiles Financial Services S.p.A., when Fiat Auto S.p.A changed its name
to Fiat Group Automobiles S.p.A.



On 1 January 2009, the Guarantor changed its name to FGA Capital S.p.A.
The Guarantor is both the holding company and the Italian operational arm of the FGAC Group.

In July 2008, the FGAC Group signed a co-operation agreement with Jaguar and Land Rover, on the basis of
which it has gradually been developing a comprehensive range of financial products (both retail financing
and dealer network financing) for Jaguar and Land Rover dealers and customers in certain European
countries, with a minimum term up to 31 January 2014 which has been extended up to 31 December 2017.
The FGA Capital Group provides financial services for Jaguar Land Rover in Austria, Belgium, France,
Germany, Italy, the Netherlands, Portugal and Spain.

Since October 2009 and in connection with the global alliance between Fiat and Chrysler LLC (Chrysler),
the FGAC Group has entered into an agreement to finance the Chrysler group retail financing and dealer
network financing business in Europe. On 21 January 2014, Fiat announced the acquisition of the remaining
equity interests in Chrysler Group LLC from VEBA Trust. Chrysler Group is now a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Fiat.

In December 2013, Maserati S.p.A. announced a co-operation agreement with FGAC in the field of car
financing concerning all of Maserati’s financing activities for its distribution network, end customers and
rental fleets, which will be effective in the countries in which the FGAC Group operates.”

SIGNIFICANT OR MATERIAL CHANGE

The paragraph "Significant or Material Change" on page 85 of the Base Prospectus shall be deemed deleted
and replaced with the following paragraph:

"There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Guarantor or the FGAC
Group since 31 December 2013 or in the financial or trading position of the Issuer since 31 December 2013,
and there has been no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the Issuer, the
Guarantor or the FGAC Group since 31 December 2013."

GENERAL

To the extent that there is any inconsistency between (a) any statement in this Supplement or any statement
incorporated by reference into the Base Prospectus by this Supplement and (b) any other statement in or
incorporated by reference in the Base Prospectus, the statements in (a) above will prevail.

Save as disclosed in this Supplement, there has been no other significant new factor, material mistake or
inaccuracy relating to information included in the Base Prospectus since the publication of the Base
Prospectus.



INDEX TO THE GUARANTOR’S FINANCIAL RESULTS

Page
Consolidated Statement of FINanCial POSITION...........oiiiiiiiiir et F-3
Consolidated INCOME STALEMENT ..........ccii e e e e te e s te e s te e sreesseesatesnbeesteesreesrensreens F-4
Consolidated Statement of Comprenensive INCOME..........ccci i F-4
Consolidated Statement 0f Changes iN EQUILY .......ecveiiieei et F-5
Consolidated Statement 0f Cash FIOWS.........ccooiiiiiiiiccc e et F-5
Notes to the Consolidated Financial STAtEMENTS ..........ccccveriiirie i F-6
Independent Auditors' Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements ..., F-60

F-1



F-2

CONSOLIDATED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF

FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS

cash and cash equivalents

48 63

(€ thousands)

3112/ 2013 31/12/2012 () 0002 ()
&0

20, Financial assets held for trading 36,823 58 690 15,357
40, Financial assets held for sale - - -
50. Financial assets held 1o maturity 55663 10 £37 10,937
0. Receiwables 14,372,526 13,441,237 14,792,365
70. Hedging derivatives 17,958 15,110 17,365
BO. ?%mléﬂwﬂ financial assets FIRTH 1nan o499
80, Investments 108 108 08
100. Froperty, plant and equipment 1,040,508 1,054,705 1,157,050
110, Intangible assets 215716 207,580 198,005
120. Tax assels 183,995 177,531 192,191

a}) cment 29,889 13,626 50,765

b} deterned 154,110 143,905 141,426

law 214/2011

140, Oiher assels 638,TBE &41,481 550,971
TOTAL ASSETS 16,562,780 15,741,893 17,002,888

() Fillowing application of the amendment to 1AS 19, igures 1ar prior periods have been restated. Compared 1o the Tigures
reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements ai 31 December 2012, equity was reduced by €2,92 million.
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LIABILITIES AND EQUATY

I

112/ 2013

{€/ thousands)

10,281,872

10. Fayables 7,483,711 8,270,706
0. Mates issued 5,366,608 4,871,420 4312418
30 Financil held for trading 18,643 59,865 15,938
50. Hedging derivatives 69,971 156,736 102,549
0. Tax liabilities B,605 81,584 99,439
a) current 41,139 38,504 59,026
1) deferred 45,466 42,990 40,413
90 other liabilities 535713 484,107 479,754
100. Paost-employment benefits 12,630 13,190 12,598
110, Frovisions for risks and charges 166,650 144,007 128,278
a) refirement and similar coligations 29,220 24929 19,059
) atner 137,430 119,078 109,219
TOTAL LIARILITIES 14,760,531 14,081,615 15,432,846
120. Share capital 700,000 700,000 700,000
150. Share premium resee 192,746 192,746 192,746
160. Reserves 719,745 583,467 510,825
170, resenve 5338 E14 3,255
180. Profit (loss) for the period 170,330 164,692 151,824
190. Mon-controlling interests 14,092 12,758 11,392
TOTAL EQUITY 1,802,249 1,660,278 1,570,042
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 16,562, T80 15,741,893 17,001, 888

(*) Foliowing Epplication of te amendment to 1AS 19, HOUIEs i0r priot Peniods Nave Deen restated, COmpared to the figures
TEpOrtEd N e Consoioated ANancial SISIEMENts 3t 31 DeCRmBer 2012, equity Was TEOUCE by €2,92 millon,



CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENT

(€ thousands)

10, Intesest and similar incoms 732179 BSBTET
0. Imesest and similar EXpenses (380.952) {a47.432)
MET INTEREST INCOME (EXPENSE) T8 411.335
30. Fee and o income 153.001 143 609
40. Fee and CoMMission expense (53.047) (53.938)
MET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME (EXPENSE) 98960 B0.6T3
60, ProAt {0ss) from Trading ackvities {1.407) {2.020)
F0. Gains {losses) o hedging ackvities - -
B0 GENS (losss) on sake o repuThase: - BED
2} Available-1or-sale assels - BED
BANKING INCOME 469.740 459.B48
100 of value ol {101.041) {110.301)
a) tinancial assets (101.041) {110.301)
110, Adminisiralive expenses (218.868) (228.448)
a) persoanel experses (136.304) (134788)
b} ather administrative expenses. (B2 564) (BS.G60)
120. Depreciation-Impa rment,/Reinstatement of value of PPEE (259.67E) (291.053)
130, Amarizalion-Impaimmen;/Renstatement of value (4855) (3878)
150 Provisions lor Beks and charges (17.065) (15.433)
160. Othes operaling income (Expenses) 79284 402353
OPERATING INCOME 247.517 156.228
EEBE.ET#IUE} BEFORE TAX FROM CONTIRUING 75T P
190. Income lae on ¢ operations (75.B48) (0167}
EORTINOIE DPERAIONS. 16 166061
PROFIT {LOES) FOR THE YEAR 171.669 166.061
210, Profit (j05s) atimbutable b non-conbioding interests 13319 1369
70 P“’“umém“"ﬂ%%ﬂgm [he Farent o3 164657

{*) Following application of the amendment 1o IAS 19, Tigures for year 2012 have been restated. The changes are s follows:
@ Teduction in profit of 783 thousand euro oonsisting of iNCTeEsE i Cos1s [0 pErsonnel & pEnses.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(€ thousands)

n

10. Profit (loss) for the year 171,660 166,061
Other items of com ve income after taxes that
will not be reclassified to profit or loss

40. Defined-benelit plans (2.436) (3.234)

Other items of comprehensive intome after taees that may
be reclassified to profit or ks

BO. Exchange rale diffesences (5,804} 11,086
90. Casn fow hedge 6961 (4,493}
130. Total other items of comprehensive income after tages 1,279) 3,359
140 Compreh income {loss) (items 10+130) 170,390 169,420
15p, otal comp income (loss) atl 1339 1369

b0 nan-conbiong intesests

160. Total comprehensive income (| attributable to
owners of the parent flos) 169,051 168,051

(*) Following application of the amendment to (AS 19, figures for 2012 have Deen restated.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY AS
OF 31/12/2012 AND 31/12,/2013

(€ thousands)

Cree—
st s .
5 o
(=]
700, 000

[ —
[l W sham |
R T Toam
e cantnl 70,000
Shae presium
e 192,746 1,1 192,745
e S G AT eEm (5 - - 21 - e
Zurilord el SBT3 14T 197 gASS) - - zia T
Hatne - . -
VasEon reserve B0F  (LIE  EEM (L) 5mE
el Byl ratruments . - .
Tieosary thare
oot o) o the
et IES4TS (B TB4E (64 S) e W TEE
ot izt
LEHAI U LEWSW - possy - - - - S ILMI MN0S) 17ER1SE
Horrconiiling
e 175 15759 2] 133 1w
AL
EQUITY LEGL10E (L9D9) 146008 - (30554)  (6) - - - - Lun_1man La0L248

(*) FOlloWINg Appiication of e amendment to IAS 19, TOUTes 10r 2012 Nave DEen restated,

(€ thousands)

Shave il 700,000
Shase premium

e 19246 190745 192746

Rene SI0562 (739  SIEM  1s8M (@918 - (49000 - SE3 457
sfecisied enmings 51156 (79} SIOEM IS1EM (W1E) - (40,000 SET 4T

I} ke - - -

ol Lo esenve 14m 1828 im 11 EEM

EQuIy Instiument . - .

Tremaury shaves

Pankt {loss) fox e

year 151,824 ISLEM (151324 R

Equily attriostable

DRI | oo 17 1SEsE - (35,183) - - - [egeon) - - 1SE051  LedISH -
Intesest 13 s @ 1388 1375
TOTAL

gy 156 LOW L5TRAH - (RN @) - L T - 169 420 168,173

() Following applicalion of the SMEnament 1o IAS 19, Hgures 1or 2012 NaVe Deen restated,
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(DIRECT METHOD)

(€ thousands)

1. BUSINESS OFERATIONS 345,715 538,780
- iMEdest Iniome 720,102 T68 985
- infesest expense (385, 146) {427 058}
- 12 and CoMmission income (Expense) 98,360 B3,673
- personnel expenses {126,015) {127,198}
- olher expenses (355,915) (421,607}
- olher revenues 684,750 733,041
- taes and levies {87,530) (87,556}
2. CASH FLOWS FROM INCREASE/ DECREASE OF FIMANCIAL ASSETS {BBE,184) 1,145,154
- tinandal assets hekd for tading 71,867 (43703
- iereivables - tug rom banks (223, 113) 181,770
- FRceivables - gug Iom lnancial insk tutions 5031 58977
- receivables - dug from ouslomers (7E2,171) 1,089,861
- olher assels 93,202 {142,161}
3. CASH FLOWS FROM INCREASE/ DECREASE OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 623,351 (1,395,885)
- payables - due to banks {71,418) (2,796,112}
- payables - oue to inandal 77 792516
- payables - due to customers (3,013) (5,750}
- notes issued 1,497,548 336,808
- tinancial Kabilikes held for rading {21,223) 43977
- oiher Bats ites {67,874) 32726
CASH FLOWS GENERATED BY, {USED FOR) DPERATING ACTIVITIES (A) 186,752 277,548
B. INVESTING ACTIVITIES
1. TASH FLOWS GEMERATED BY T2 300
- disposalsy repayments of financial assels held to matusity 172 500
2. CASH FLOWS USED FOR {257, 571) {202,7220)
- purchases of 1 and equpment (245, 450) {188,667}
- purchases ol intangibie assets {12,391) (13,553}
CASH GEMERATED BY,/{UISED FOR) INVESTING ACTIVITIES (E) {257,093) {201,720)
. FINANCING ACTTVITIES
- chwidend and oiher distriaitions {29,698) (75,825}
CASH GEMERATED BY, (USED FOR) FINANCING ACTIVITIES {C) {29,698) (75,525)
CASH GENERATED,/{USED) DURING THE YEAR (AsB<C) (13) 1
Cash and cash - Opening blance &3 [T
(Cash generated {used) dusing the year {15) 3
\Cash and cash eguivalents - ciosing balance 48 63

(") Follwing apghcation of e amenament to 1AS 15, fgures 10 2012 nave been restated,



NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

F-6



PART A - ACCOUNTING POLICIES
A.1 GENERAL INFORMATION

SECTION 1 - STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH IFRS

e comsolidated financial stalements 25 of and for the year enoed 315t December 2011 NaVe DEEn prepaned in accordance with
the accounting standards issued by the Intemnational Accounting Standards Boand (IASE) and the related official interpretations
by the Internzational Financizl Reporting Interpretations Commitiee {IFRIC), as endorsed by the EU Commission with Regulation
N0 1606 Of 12 th July, 2002.

The consolidzted financial statements were prepared by wsing LAS/IFRS a5 of 315t December 2013 {SIC and FRIC induded), a5
endorsed by the EL Commission.

SECTION 2 - BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated fingndal SIELements were prepared in compliance with Bank of aly Instructions dated 21 january 2014
(Instructions for the preparation of finandal statements of Finandal insfitutions entered in Bank of taly's “Special Register”).
The consolidated finandial stat@ments comprise the consolidated statement of finandial position, the consolidated income
statement, the consolidzted stalement of chandes in equity, the coreoldated statement of Gash fows and e notes to he
oonsolidated financial statements.

They are accompanied by the Direciors' Report an Operations with regard to the Group as a whole.

The consolidated financizl statements NEve Deen prepared on a Qoing-Concem basis and in ACcordance with the acorual basis
of accounting, and on 3 gaing-concem aocounting gaap.

The consolidated financial statements hawe been prepared in thousands of Euros.
The consolidated financial stalements are audited by Reconta Bmst & Young S.pA..

SECTION 3 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

AS 10 STAR, 0N 15 January 2014 all IN@ Parties involed in this Securitzation Hansacion Signed a “Deed of relgase and
terminztion” which provides for the termination of the securilization transaction on the last Payment Date, the repurchase of
the portfoiio by FEA Wholesale and the comespanding repayment of principal to the bondholders by Ihe STAR vehicle.

SECTION 4 - OTHER INFORMATION
There was no furfer information to be reported at year-end.

SECTION 5 - SCOPE AND METHODS OF CONSOLIDATION

Scope of consolidation

The consolidzied finandal stEtements include the fnancal statements of FaA Capital 5.pA., e parent compary, and those of
its Italian and foreign subsidiaries. As defined in A5 27 - Consolidated and Separate Finandal Statements, control exisis when
the Group has the power, diredlly of indirectty, 10 govern the finandal nd operating policies of an enterprise 5o as to obtain
Denefits rom its activities.

F-7

Similarty, The Group consolidales the accounts of spedal pose entities (SPE) established Lo camy out securitization ransactions,
in e presence of effective control, regardiess of any investment in them.
The foliowing table ksts the companies induded the scope of consolidation. It Sows COMpany name, regislered office, type of

relationship, percentage of ownership and, if different, percentage of voles exercisable at general meetings:

TYPE OF
REGISTERED DFFICE RELATIDNSHIP

FGA Capital 5.pA. Turin - lkaty

Leasys SpA. Turin - Ikaty 1 100,00
FC France 3 4. Trappes - France 1 50,08
FAL Fleet Services SA S Trappes - France 1 100,00
FGA Eank Germany GmbH Hesdlonn - GErmamy 1 10000
FGA Capital UK Lid Slowgh - LK 1 100,00
FGA Wholesale UK Lid, Slowgh - UK 1 100.00
FGA Contracls UK Lid. Slowgh - LK 1 10000
FGA Capital 5paim EFC S5A Alrala de Henares - Spain 1 100,00
FGA Capital Services Spaim SA Alcala de Henares - Spain 1 100.00
FGA Captal IFIC 54 Lisbon - Porugal 1 100,00
FGA Diste buxina Postugal 5A. Lishon - Portugal 1 100,00
Filis Finance 5.4, SchBesen - Switzediand 1 100,00
FGA Leasing Polska 5p. foua Warsaw - Poland 1 100,00
Fal Bank Polska 5A. Warsaw - Poland 1 100,00
FGA Capital ay. Ligngen - The 1 100,00
FGA Capital Danmark A5 Glostrup - Denmark 1 10000
FGA Capital Belgium SA A - Beigum 1 100.00
FGA Eank GmbH VIETNG - AUStria 2 3000
FGA Leasing GMEH Vienna - Austria 1 10000
FGA Capital Hellas 5A Alhens - Gregce: 1 Ga.0g
FGA Inswance Hellas 4 Alnens - Greere 1 55,90
FGA Capital Ireland Plc Dubkn - Ireland 1 55,00
FGA Capital Re Lid Dublin - Ireland 1 10000

Type of relationship:

1= Majority Of Wodng rigiis at oranary meetings
2 = QOGN iNMLENCE at cinary Mmeetings

The scope of consolidation mdudes 508 held FGA Bank GMoH (Austia) because FGA Capilal 5.p.A Nas a dominant infuence
on e company.

Attentian is called 1o the Winding up Uncer way of FL Location sne, an FC France subsidiary, 3 process that snould be completed
oy 2014,



Below, details are provided of the vehicles indluded in the scope of consofidation:

A-Best Four 5.1l caneghane (V) - Haty
A-Best Five 54, Laeemiourg
A-Besl Sewen Sl Millan - Haky
A-Best Bght Pic London - UK
Erasmils Rnance Limited Dubdn - Wetand
FCT Fast 2 Coubevsie - Fance
Mizes Three Pic Dubdn - ketand
MNixEs Four SrL Millan - Haly
Nixes Fee Lid Iskand of jersey
Mizes 3x Plo London - UK
STAR London - UK

The STAR securilization wansaction was complelad in january 20714, For more details, relenence is made to part A - Secion
3 - on subsequent events.

Consolidation methods

In prepaning the consoldated financizl statements, the financial statements of the paent company and its subsitianies (approved
[y each Board and prepared sooarding 10 IAS/1FRS) are consolidated on a ine-Dy-ine basis by aodng iogetner like items of
assels, liabilities, equity, income and expenses.

The book value of the parent's Mvesiment in eadh subsidary company and (e COMEsponding portion of e equity of ezt
subsifiary of the parent company aie eliminzted.

ATy difefences arsing Irom the consoiation process ane staled - amer allocaling amaunts to ihe assets and labiites of the
consolidated subsidiary, where possible - as goodwill 2t the date of the first ime consofidation and, subsequently, as other
TBSEIVES,

Non-controdling interests in 1he net prodit of consolidated subsidianes fo the reporting period are identified and adjusted against
the profit of the Parent Company's shareholders so as 1o amive at the net prafit atributable to the sharehokiers of the parent
COMpEny.

NoT-Controling interests in the net assets of consoidated subsidianies are identified and presented in the consolidated balance
sheet separatefy from fizbilities 2nd equity attibutatie to the parent company sharenokiers.

IntErcompany balances and transacions and related iealized profits are eliminated in full.

The financial statements of the parent comgany and of other comparnies used to prepare the consolidated finandal stalements
are prepared as at e same feporting oate.

When the finandal statements of 1one g COmpanies are Prepared in 3 cUmency oiner than the Eurg, assets and liabiities ae
fransiated at ihe spot rate a1 the reporiing date wiile income and expense ilems are Tanslated & e average exchange rae
for the period.

IN UANEIALing the financial SLEtements of a IreEgn subsidiary, iNCOME aNd EXPEnse iems &8 Tansialed al e Merage excnange
rates while &55ets and liabilities are fransiated 2t the spot eXchange rate prevaiing on and the reporting date spat.

Al resLIing exchange differences are recorded under equity until the dispasal of the net imestment,

The exchange rates used for the consolidated finandial statements are set out in a Section 7 - Addilional information of these
notes.
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A.2 MAIN ITEMS IN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING

Recognition method

Financial assets and liabiities are initially recognired on the settlement date.

Financial assets and liabilities held for trading are initially recognized at their fan value, without considering fransaction costs
of income directly attritutabie to the instrument.

(Classification critefia
This item only includes the positive and negative value of derivative financial instruments hekd for trading, induding those
refating 10 Securitizalion ransactions.

Valuation method

Anter initial recognition, financal assels and liabilities held tor trading are measured at their fzir value.

The fair value of the derivative contracts is determined wsing valuation models that take account of risks relating to the
instruments and that are based on infomMation Svailatie on the market such as interest rate.

Derecognition criteria
Financial assets and liabilities held Tor rading are derecognized when the contrachual rignts 1o the czsh llows desiving therefrom
expire of wnen Ine finandal asset or Bability is spid, subsiantially transferring all related fsks nd rewards.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AVAILABLE FOR SALE

Recognition method

Financial assets hald for sale are recognized on the date of settlement.

They are initially recorded at fair value, inclusive of directly stiributabie Costs OF FeVEnUes. INstruments reclassiied out of
Financial assets held to maturity are measwed at their fair value at the time they are transfemed.

Classification criteria

This item includes debt secunties 1Nat are not classiied & "Fnancial assets Meld for Tadng”, “Fnancial assets Neid 1o maturiy”
oF 35 "Receivables”. In adgition 1o bands not held for trading, bonds Not AcCounted for as *Financial ssets Neld 1o marwrty” o
a5 "Receivables”, s item indudes shares that are not held for trading or that might nat be qualitied as controliing interests
of inVestments in associates of jaint ventures.

Valuation method Recognition of gains and losses

Alter the initizl recognition, Avalable-for-sale financial sssels are measured at fair value, with the comesponding amortized cost
Teported in the iNCoMme statement and gains and losses resuiting 1rom changes in iz value recognized in Other comprenensive
iNCOMmE, until the &sset is @INer dispased of of impaired. When the asset & sold of impaired, the Ielevant cumulative gain of
loss is reversed 1o profit of 10s5. Fair value is measuned on the basis of the criteria already ilustrated for Anancial assets neld
Tor trading.

The existence of objeciive evidence of impainment is checked at fiscal year-end or at half-year end. In the presence of any such
evidence, the amount of the Ioss is measured as the diflerence belween the asset’s camying amount and the present vaiue of
estimated future cash Nows discounted using the asser's oniginal efective interest rate.

Reversals of impanment are recognized in profit of 10ss, in case of debtinstruments, and in equity, in case of shares. Reversals
@annod result in @ a@rrying amount that exceeds whiat the amoriized cost would have been had no impainment been recognized.



FINAMCIAL ASSETS HELD TO MATURITY

Recognition method
Financial assets neld to maturity ane recognized on the date of settiement.
They are inifially recorded at fair value, indusive of directly atiibutable costs or revenues.

dlassification criteria
This item inciuces debt securities with fixed or determinable payments and & fixed maturity date that he entity has the
intention and ability to nold until maturity.

Vvaluation method

After initial recognition, financial assets held to maturity are stated at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method.
Gains or Inses relating to finandial assets hefd to maturity are recorded in the income statements when the assets are
derecognized oF impaired and through the amortization of he ditlerence between Dook value and the amount repayable 2
mahurity.

S part of year-end and interim oosing [Foceowes, 3 1est is perlarmed 10 detenTing whether there is objective evidence of
possibie impaiment.

It such evidence exists, the loss is measwed as the difierence between the book value of the asset and the present value of
estimated futwre cash flow, 3s discounted at the ariginal efrective rate of interest. Any sUCh 10sses e Iecordedin the income
statement.

It the reasons 1ar IMpAirment Cease 1o exist because of events taking place arter impairment 1055835 Were recorded, the vale
of the asset may be restored throwgh profit and loss.

Derecognition oriteria
Financial a3sets held to maturity are derecognided when the contractual fghts o cash oW from the assels exping ar wihen the
financial asset & sokl, subsantislly ransterring all related reks and rewards,

RECEIVABLES

Recognition method

Initil FECognition of & receivable occurs at dishursement date. They are initialy recorded 2t 1 value, that is normally
equivalent o the amount disbursed, inclusive of Costs/Tevenues drectly srbutable to the single receivable and wiith can be
detemmined right from the start of the transaction, even if they are iquidsted at 4 |ster date.

Classification criteria

Receivables inchude financial instruments with foed and determinable payments that are not listed on an active market and
are not classified & "Finandal assets held for rading”, "Finandial assets held for sale” and “Financial assets held to maturity”.
“DLE oM customers” includes receivables arising irom retail inance and finance lease transacions and Ioans assigned on a
recourse basis. RECEVabies assigned on A non-Tecourse basis are Teported after it is determined that there are no contrachual
alses preciuding their recognition.

Lease contracts are classified 2 fnance leases when e erms of ihe contract ranster substantially &1 ihe risks and benefits
of CWnETship 10 e lessee. All DINeT Eases 2@ considered operaling Jeases.

AMOUNES due Fom essess under finance Iease contracts are repognized as recsivables for the amount of ITEGI'CI.IFI"S imvestment
in e leased assets.
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Valuation method

Alter inilial recognition, receivables are measured &t amorized cost, egual to the inilial value pius /minus principal repayments,
Write-downs,/wiite-Dacks of value and amortization - calculated using e effective interest rate method - of the dference
between the emount disbursed and the amount to be réimbursed at maturity, considering gko the costs/revenues directly
related to eac loan.

The effective rate of interest is oetermined as the rate that equals the present value of futune cash fiow from the receivable -
for prncipal and interest - as applied 10 the amount disbursed net of Costs,/TEVENUES atiributable to the oan.

By foousing on the cash mavements, this accounting method allows the effect of the costs/Tevenwes to be spread over the
axpecied residual lile of the loan.

The amortired cost meihod is not used for shoft-1erm koans, given that the effect of applying e discounting method to em
& negligiie. Su [0ans are stated at histon Gl cost.

Receivabiles are regularly tested for impaimnent to check whether their estimated realizable value has deceased. This &
pertormed by applying a statistical method to mezsure collectively, in homogeneous categones, groups of loans Ihat are not
meaningiul individually. The esimated @sh 1ws Tom the a55els are reduced by expecied Iosses a5 determinged based on
mistorical data, taking account of Corrective mMeasures derved iom e quaktative analysis of the loans.

Significant individual receivables are tested separatety.

The impaiment adjusiment is determined as the difference between the bookvalue and the amount expecied to be coliected.
Collective adjustments are recorded in the income statement.

FiNaNCial iNCOME i FE00gnized in Me Varous periogs 50 & 10 SMODIN oul e retum.

Derecognition criteria
LoaNS A7e OEfRCOQNZEd in Part of in Tull WNEen Mey &e no INger Considered recoverabie. TE JsSes are recorded in e income
STFMEMEnt Net of WIite-00wWns/ OVISions previously mage.

AMOUNLS FECOVEred on ICANs previously Wither dOwn are Fecorded against the item “net AgjUsIMEnts 10 non-pEnonTing loans”.
Loans sold are derecognized if the transaction involves ihe substaniial transter of all risks and benefits relzting to the loans.
However, il INe risks and DENENLS Melaling to e Ians sold remaEn with INE Group, Me Kans coniinue 1o be repored, even
NoUgN HlE [0 tem Nas aciuay DEen ransiemed.

Irit is nat possibbe to determine whether of not all risks and Denefils have been substantially ranstemed, the loans are
derecogrized il no fomm of control has been maintsined over ihem. Meanwhile, it some fom of control has been maintzined,
the Joans confinue to be repored in proporion o the remaining control, as measured based on the Group's exposure to
CNANgEs in (e Value of Ne 10ans 50id and 10 CANGES in Cash oS TI0M e 10ans. Finally, e Wans sold are derecognized it
1NE Coniraciuzl fghts 10 feceve TElZed cash Nows NEve DEen refained WHile 3 Commitment Nas DEen Mage 1o pay said cash,
and only it, 1 oner tird parties.

other information - Securitized portfolio

Certain companies of FEA Cpital Group take part in securitizaion rOJRAMIMEs a5 BSUETs of and VesLors in sequrities fom
SUCN transactions. Qe companies take part in third party Securitization ransactions Solely 35 iMVESLOrs in he securities Bsued.
SECUNLZELON rAnsactons involve the 5aie of a portalo of receivatiles, on a Nan-Tecourse basis, 10 @ specil purpose entity that
finances the puninase of Ihe receivabies by issuing Asset Backed SEuilies ie. serunlies whose repayment and interest fiow
depend an the cash fiow generated by the porttolio of receivabies.

Assel-backed securities are divided into ditterent classes depending on their semiority and rating: the Senior ones are issued
on the market and subscribed by investors; the junior ones, which are redeemed after the senior ABS, are subscribed by FGA
(Capital Group companies.

Pursuant o SIC 12 - Consolidation - Spedal Purpose Entities (SPE), SPES are inchuded in the scope of consoidation as imesiment
in junior asset-backed SECUMTES and the INVOIVEMENt of the ofginator COmEany in drafing the Contracts imply substantial
control over the SPE



HEDGING TRANSACTION

Types of hedges

Heoging transactions are intended 1o neutralize potential I055es on & SPeClic i18m o group of items, attritutabie 10 @ speahic
fisk, trough the gains generated on another instrument or group of instruments in the event that the specilic risk in question
matesializes.

FGA, C2pital Group applies, Wilh tNe Sim of COVENng its EXPOSUNE 10 CNANGES i IULWE Cas NoWS, With Felerence 1o retail financing
portfolio. the Fair Value Hedge method. Starting in 2011, this methadology is appied to derivative finandial instruments with
NE pUrpose of Neaging the interest rate risk assodated with Donds ssued.

This approach is not applied 1o dervative finandial insuments with Me purpose of Nedging the interest rate risk associated
with the funding refated 1o lang term rental activity, on which itis applied the Cash Flow Hedge methodology.

Only those entenad into with a counterparty not belonging to the Group may be treated as hedging instruments.

valuation method

Heoging dervatives ane stated at 1air value and chandges in ther fair vaue are allocated, 1or e emective porkion ol the hedge,
10 3 Spediic equity reserve in the case of Cash Fiow Hetge, While in e case of Fair Value Hedge they are recogrized through
profit and loss.

Fair value is calculated on the basis of interest rates and exdiange rates quated on the market and represents the discounted
cash Nows on single contracts.

A derivaive instrument is oesignated to be a Nedoe it the rEalonsnip DEIWEEN e Neoged item and the heaging nstrument
i dDoumented and if itis effective nom the time the hedge starts and throughout the entire period of the hedge.

In the case of Cash Flow Hedge, the eflectiveness of the hedge depends on the extent to which variations in the 13T value of the
Nedged item of rel3ted expected Casn Nows are offsel By those of e NEdging instrument. Therelore, eNleciveness is pprased
by COMparing the alorementioned vanations, Considering e intent of the entity 2t the GMe it entered into the hedging
rarsaction. A Nedge is eMactive (in a range between $0% ard 1250) when e chandges in the FEr value (or cash rows) of
Ne Pedging finandial instrument aimost entifely oiset the Changes in NEcged ilem Wilh regard 1o e risk being nedged.

In the case of Fair Value Hedge, FaA Capital Group appies the so-Called Mamoheoge 1 ROMOogeneous rk groups. The risk
Bposure is determined by comparing the nominal amouwnt of underlying receivable partfolio with the notional amount of
hedging derivatives until the next re-pricing dzle {matwrity date for ixed-rate positions). The eliectiveness of the hedge is
Daser 0N 3 COMEanson DEtWeen e emaining notional amount of the hedging derivatives and the remaining nominal amount
of the hieaged porttolio.

N DOAN C35ES, if ese 1Bsts 60 Not conlimm e eNectiveness of the Nedge, Neoge FCCounting is discontinued and the Nedging
derivative is reclassilied to instrurments held tor rading.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS

This iterm incluges interests held in:

- ass0ciated COMpAnies - fecorded Lsing the equity method;

- JEAN VENLIEES, WICh e Group opted 0 ACCount for with the equity methid;

- certan equity investments that, due 1o their being immaterial, are recognized &t cost.

If there & any evidence that the value of an invesiment has been impai‘eﬂ, the recoverable value of the investment is
estimaleg, taking account of e futwre cash Niows That it will generate, induding its disposal value.

It the recovery value i lower than boak value, e diflerence is recarded in the inoome statement.

In I3ter Periogs, it e TEASOns 107 INE IMP&irmEnt Cease 1o exist, e onginal value may be restored tvough he inceme
stalement.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Recognition method

Froperty, plant &nd equipment are recognized at Cost. TR incudes the purnase price paid and all incidental charges directly
attributable to the purchase znd o make the asset fully operational. Property, plant and equipment are not revalued. Cosls
iNCUITEY afler pUrchase are only capitalized if ey Iead 1) an iNCrease in e fuMe eConomic DENETits Ceqving Irom e asset
10 WNiCh ey relzle. All GiNer Costs are Fecorded in e NCME SIZEMment as incumed.

classification witeria

Tanginie assets inCUde 3nd, Duldings, Tumiture, Tings, plants, oiner Machinery and equipment.

These are tangible assets Meld for USe in the production o supply of goods and Senvices, for rental to third parties or for
administrative purposes &nd which are expected 1o be used during more than one accounting period.

Leased asseds include venides given to clients under operating leases by the Group’s I8asing companies. Trade receivabies
UNGET Operating IEase agIEEments Nat are DEng ollECied of are SUDECt [ TECOVEry MOCEOUIES 3E C1ass Ted under ~Oimer
A5SELs”. Operating Iease AQreEments with Duyback clauses are also cassfied under “0ther ssets’.

Valuation method

Depreiation is calculated on a strzight line basis considering the remaining usetul fite and value of the assel.

Al Bvery Teporting date, if there is any evioence that an asset might be impaired, 1he book value of the asset is compared
withits realizabie value - equal to the Nigher of fair value, net of any seling costs, and the value in use of the asset, defined
45 thie et present value of future cash fows generated by the asset. Amy impairment 105385 and adjustments ane recarded in
the income statement.

Operating Iease income is recorded in equal insLZments over e period of e CoNMrack. INilial Girect costs indirred whnen
negotiating and agreeing on the operating lease e aoted 10 the value of the lezsed assets in equal iNSEIMEnts dver the
duration of the contract.

Tne Costs Telzting 10 operaling 1ease agreements are recorded on a siraight ine Dasis in INE iNCoMme SIALeMENt ver e period
of the Dperating lease contract.

Derecognition criteria
Froperty, plant and equipment aré derecognized when ey are disposed of or when they are permanently withdriawn rom
UsE and no fulUre economic benedits are expected from their disposal.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Recognition method

Intangibie assets are recognized wiven it is kel that their use will generate future economic benefits and the cost of the asset
an be relizbly measured.

An intangible asset may be recorded as goodwill When the positive difference between and the acquisition cost of the
Vestment (including incidental carges) and the 13 value of the Net sset value of the DUSINess acquired is Iepresentative
of the future profitability of the investment {goodwill). I the goodwill is not justified by the fuiure profitability of the company
of investment acquired, the difierence is charged diredlly (o the income statement.



Classification criteria

The item manly comprise Goodwill, “inellectual property rights” and software zppications for long term use.

GODAWill represents the positive diffierence between the cost and the fair value of the assets and liabilities of the business
acquired.

valuation method

Inangitle &5ets are valued at purchase of production cost and amaortized except 1or goodwill on a straight line Dasis over their
estimated useful Fves.

Al every reporiing date, where there is evidence of impzirment losses, the recovery value of the intangible asset is estimated.
The impairment Inss, recorded in the inome stalement, is equal o me diiference DEween he Dok value of Ihe assets and
its TECOVETY Value.

GODAWIll & SUbjecied to an impairment test every year (or winenever hefe & evidence that its value has been impaired).
The cash generating unit to which o allocate e goodwill is identified for this pupose. The amount of any impainment is
detemined based on the book value of the goodwill and its recovery value. The recovery value is equal fo the greater of the
fair value of the cash generating unit, Net of any seling costs, and e relzled value in use. Resuiting impainment Iosses are
recoroed in the income statement and reversal are pronibited.

Derecognition criteria
Intangibile assets are derecognized upon disposal of it no fulure economic benefits are expected.

PAYABLES, SECURITIES ISSUED AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Recognition method
Initizl recognition & based on the fair value of the Babiities. This normally equals the amount collected or the issue price,
oonsidering any ransaction costs and income that may be directly aliocated to the instument.

Classification critefia
BOMOWINGS 110 banks and othes IBnders and SeCurities issued mainky include the various Mams of funding wsed by the Group.
In particular, securities issued comprise bands issued by Special Purpase Entities in relation to secwrilization fransactions.

Valuation method
After inilial recognition, finandal lisbilities are measured & amortized cost & calculated with the eflective interest method. On
the other hand, shart term lizbilities where the time factor has 2 negiigible effect are recorded at amount collected.

Defecognition criteria

Financizl iabilities 2re derecognized when Ihey @i of 4re exinguished. DEIecogrition also 1akes place ugon e repurchase
of seaurities previously issued. The difference between the book value of e Bability and the amount paid to repurchase it is
recorded in the income statement.

POST-EMPLOYMENT AND OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension Plans

FGA Capital Group employees take part in several ditferent defined benedit and defined contribution pension plans in aocordznce
Wilh 103l CONGitions and practice in e Countries in Wiich INe Group operates. DEfned Denelit pension pians are based on
e employees years of SEenice and e remunerstion eamed by INE eMpIoyee during a pre-gelenmined perod ol Senvice.
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The obiigation to fund defined benedit pension plans and the annual cost recorded in e income statement are determined by
independent actuaries using 1Ne projecied unit aedit metnod.

The post-employment benedit obligation reconded in the stalement of fingndal position the present value of defined benelit
obiigations as adjusted for UNMEcognized Actuarial gains and |0Sses and cosls related 10 past SeTVice Not previously recognized,
reduced by the fair value of plan assets.

ANy NEE 355ELS arising Tom this calculation are recognized at the KWET of NEr amount and the total of any umuiative
unrecogrized net actuarial losses and past senvice cost and the present value of any economic benedits available in the fom
of refunds from the plan and reductions in future coniributions to the plan. Payments relzting to defined conribution plans ae
TeCoraed in the inCome siatement as inourmed.

Post-emiployment plans other than pensions

The FGA Capital Group provides cerizin defined benefit post-employment schemes, manly heglthcare plans. The appiicable
accounting method and the frequency of their calculzlion are similar to those used for defined-benefit pension plans.

Tne employes Severance inoemnity (TFR) reserve for 1tlian Companies is considered a defined Denetit pian and is aocounted
for accondingly.

Retirement funds and similar obligations

Internal refirement funds zre set up in accondance with company spedific agreements and dassified as defined benefit plans.
Under (Nese plans, BMpIoYEes IBEVing e Company with e Mirimum penod of senvice delined Meren are entited 1o a oyalty
BanLs equal to 3 nUmber af months’ salary.

liabilities under these funds and the related employment cost are determined based on actuarial assumptions.

PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AMD CHARGES

Provisions for risks and U'IIQES are intended to oover costs and Enarges of a determinzte nature and which are cefain or
probabie but wnose amaunt and due dste Were uncertain at the reporting date. Provisions for rsks and changes are only
(Teghed When:

) there is  current obligation (Jegal or Constructed) 2s & result of @ past event;

D) il is likely that rumiment of the obiigation will iNvOve a cost;

) the amount of the obligation can be refiably esimated.

WHEre Lime Valle is Sigrificant, the provision is StEted at e present value of the cost expected 10 DE e to s e
cbiigation.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenues ale recognized when they are collected or, in any case, when it is probable that future benefits will be received
and they can be reiably quantified. In partioular, interest income on receivables and COmMESions irom oustomers and intenest
MOME 0N feceEivables Irom banks are Classified under “Imerast and Similar inCoMe” and recorded on & amortized cost hasis.
‘Commission and interest received or paid in relation to finandial instruments ae aocounted for on an acouals bass.

Income Irom senvices & recorded when the senvices are rendered.

Dividends payabie are shiwn &5 MOVEMENTS in equity in the year they are approved by the Shareholders in the General
MEESN],



COST RECOGNITION

Cosls afe fecognized when ey are incurred. In particular, interest expenses on financial Isiuments accounted at amortized
oSt and detenTinabie from the star, regarndiess of when they are paid, 3e recognized trough profit and 1oss.

WIIE-00WNS &€ [ECOQNIZEd in Ie Year Mey are ied.

INSURANCE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

IFES 4 desoribes & insurance conbract as a contract under which one party (the issuer) accepts significant insurance risk from
anolner party (e policy Nolder) by Zgreeing 1o compensale the policynolder il a specified UNCerzin IUITE BVent adversely
atterts the policynoloer.

The GIOUR's insUrance &Cvity is related 1o the reinsUrance of life &nd non-ife policies sold 10 retE] cusIDmers in order to protect
the repayment af their deot.

The finandial and operating efects of e renswance Cconirads issued and Neld Were accounted, a5 required by Faragraph 2
of IFRS 4, in tNe items described below.

Other assets - Item 140 in Assets
This item inCIues Iensurance 3ssels under contracts entered into by Group companies.

Other liabilities - Item 90 in Liabilities
This item includes reinsurance fiabilities under contracts entered into by Group companies.

Fees and commissions income - Item 30 in Income Statement

This item includes:

- premiums received during the periodin relation to insurance contracts, net of cancellations;
- COMIMiBSionN income and other revenues received in connection with re-insurance activities.

Fees and commissions expenses - Item 40 in Income Statements

This item includes:

- costs related to premiums ceded fo reinsurers;

- COMMiESIONS expenses and oters expenses related to he nsurance activity.

TAXATION

Conporate income b2 is caltulated in accondance with curment 1 1aw.

The b charge (income) for the period represents the Sum of bath current and deferred ta charges incuded in detenTining
he result tor the year.

Current taxation represents the corporate inoome tax due (recoverzble) on ihe taxable income {fax loss) for the year.
Defered tax Babiliies represent CONporzle income 12%es due in future t2 periods on taxabie Uming differences. Deterred %
255Els Megard COMOate iNcome tax that may e Tecoverad in futune tax periods and relate to:

) aeductible mng ditterences;

b unused tax losses carried forward;

€} unused tax credits cammied forward.

TimiNg dMerences refate to diferences between the book value of an asset of 3 iability and the comesponding 12 base. They

may relate to:

d) [axable Hming dilerences i . timing ditlerences at, in detenmining 1axabie inCome (Lax 10ss) in IUILre years, will give rise
I taxalie 2Mounts When the Bodk Value of the ssets o labiities & realied or exinguished;

I} deductible Hming Herences ie. Tming dilferences Inat, in detentining taxable income (1) 1055} in Tuture years, will give
ise 1o deductiie amaunts when ine ook value of the assets or iabiities is realized or extinguished.
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The fax base of an asset or iabiify is the value attributed o the asset or liabilty under applicable ta law. Delerred tax lizbiities
are reorded in respect of all taxabie Hming ditlerences in aoordance with 1AS 12. Defermed tax assets are recogrized fod all
deductiole tming diterences under A5 12 only if it & probable that there will be taxable income against which 1o utilize the
deductinie ming difference.

Tax assels and liabilities for defemed [ assets and Fabiities are calculated wsing mwe tax @te in [oroe in the pefiods inwhid
thie asset will be realized or e lability extinguished.

Curent and defermend taxes ane reconded in e income statement except for that relating to gains or KSses on availabie-for-
sale financial assets and fo changes in the fair value of dervative hedging instruments (cash flow hedges), which they are
recognized, net of taxation, directly in equity.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The consolidated financial stalements are prepared in 3000rdance With IFRS which Tequire the use of estimates, judgements and
assumptions that afect the carrying amount of assets end lisbiities, the disckasures relating to contingent assets and lisbilities
and the amounts of income and expense reparted for the period.

The estimates and assodiated assumptions are based on elements that e known when the inancial statements are prepared,
on historical experience and on any other facors Ihat are considered 1o be relevant.

In this respect, the situation caused by the continuing difficulties of the economic and inandal environment, in partioularin the
EUrOZOne, ed 10 the need 10 malke assumplions reganding future performance which are charzdeised oy sknificant uncertzinty;
35 @ consequence, therefore, it cannot be excluded that results may adse in the future which differ from estimates, and which
therefore might require adjustments, even significant, to be made to the camying amount of the items in guestion, which 2t
1he present Moment can dearly neither be estimated nor prediced. The main items amected oy these Siuztons of uncertainty
are non- clment assets (tanginle and intzngible assets), detemed tax assels, prOvision for employee benefits, and allowances
for contingendes lizmilities.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed periodically and continuously by the Group. I the items considened
in s process perfonm diflerently, en he actual resulls could differ om the estimates, which would accoedingly require
adjusiment. The effects of any CIangesin estimale are Fecogrised in Hrofit or 10ss in e Penod in which e agjusiment i mace
it it oy attects that period, of in e Penitd of the AgjLSIMENt and future pefiods it it ANeds both current and futlre pedods.
The foliowing 2re the Crilical Measwement [IOCEsses and key AssUMpLions Used by the Group in 2ppiing IFRSS whih may
have significant effects on the amounts recogrised in the consolidsted financizl sistements or Tor which there is a risk that a
significant difference may arise in respect 1o the camying amounts of 55615 and hailites in the future.

Recoverability of non-current assets

Mod-current assels include property, plant and equipment, goodwill, ofher intangitle assels, equity investments and other
financial assets. The Group periodically Teviews the Camying amount of non-current assets neld and used and that of assels
il oF Sale WhEn events and CircumsEances warrant such 3 review. For goodwill Such analysis is carmied out at least annualy
and When events and GrilMmetances wamant such a review. The analysis of the recoverable amaount of non-Cument 55ets is
usually perfommed wsing estimates of future expected cash flows from the use of dispasal of the asset and 4 suitable discount
fatein order to calculate present value.

The estimales and assumplions used as part of that analysis reflect the cument siate of the Group's availabie knowledge as 1o
he expected future development of the Dusiness of the Varkaus Secion and are based on a realistic assessment of the future
develpment

0 the markets and the ar industry, which rémain subject 1o a high degree of unceériainty due to the continuation of the eonomic
and financizl crisis and its efects on hat ingustry. Although ourent Group estimates do not indicate any other situztions
CONCeming possible iMpairment 05525 0N NON-CUent Zssels, any &Herent developments in the economic emvironment of
GIOUR PEFIOTMANCE could result in amounts that diMer rom the onginal esimates, needing the camying amaount of cenain
non-current assets being adjusted.



Recoverability of defemred tax assets

Al 31 December 2013, the Fat Group had defemed tax assets on oeductible \emporary d@ierences and theoetical [3x benefits
arising oM 12y loss camy forwards. The Group has recorded these valuation because it believes it is probabike will be recovered.
In the definition of this amount, management has taken into consideration figures from budgets and forecasts consistent with
thase used for impairment testing and discussed in the preceding paragrapn relating 1o ihe recoverzble amount of non-cument
A55E1S. MOTEOVES, N AOjUSIMENts hat NEVE DEEn IeCcognised are Considered 1o be suMcent to protect against the risk of a
Turther deterioration of the

assumplions in ihese forecasts, takng account of the fact that e net defermed assets accordingly recognised relate b temporary
differences znd tax losses which, to a significant extent, may be recovered over a vedy long pediod, and are therefore consistent
Wilh a situation in WHich the Gme needed 1o exit ITom the Crisis and fof an eonomic Feovery o ooour extends beyond the
term impldt in the above-mentioned estimates.

Pension plans and other post-retirement benefits

Empioyee benelit Babiliies with the related assets, oosts and net interest expense are measured on an actuarial basis which
requires the use of estimates and assumptions to determine the net fizbility or net asset. The actuarial methad takes into
consideration parameters of & financial NaiUre such as the discount rate and the expected kng tenm rate of retum on pian
A5HElS, the growth rate of szlaries and the growtn rates of nealth care costs &nd the likeinood of potential future events by
USing demaograpnic ssumplions such as mortality rates, dismissal or retirement rates. In parlioular, the discount rates selected
are based on yiekls curves of high quality corparate bands in the relevant market. The expecied refums on plan assets are
dRIENTINE CONSICeRing various inputs Mom & range of sivisies COnCerning long-tenm cafilal market refums, inflation, cument
band yields and ather vaniables, adjusted for any sperfic apects of e asset inVestmEnt sirateqy. Salary qrowtn rates retiea
the Group’'s leng-term actual expectation in the reference market and inflafion frends. Trends in health care costs are developed
on the Dasis of historncal eXperience, the near-ierm outiook for costs and fkely long-tem wends. Changes in amy of these
asSUMpLions may have &n eMect on future contrbutions o e plans.

Contingent liabilities

e Group Makes 3 provision For Pendng Gispules and legal proceedngs When il is consigered probabie Iat there will be &n
OUENOW OF TUNds and When e amount of e 105565 aNising oM U Can be reasonably eSUMEIed. I an outliow of unds
Decomes possible but the amount @nnot be estimated, the matter & disciosed in the notes. The Group is the subject of legal
and fax proceedings covering & range of matiers which are pending in various jurisdicions. Due to the uncertainty inherent in
such matters, itis d@ificult to predict the outhiow of funds which will result from such dsputes with any certainty. Moreover, the
CA5ES AN CIFIMS 2gainst NE GIoup oMEn GErve DM complex and dCwl legal issues wiidh are sUbject [o & GiNerent deges
Of UNCETLINTY, iNCuding INE [3C1s and GICUMSIANces of €aCh Parlicular (aSe, e jUrisaicion and e aIerent 1aws imoned. In
N Nommal course of BUsiness the Group Monitors e stage of pending legal procedures and consults with Iegal counsel and
experts on legal and tax matiers. It & therefore possible that the provisions for the Group's legal proceedings and §igation may
vary as he result of fulure developments of he proceedings in progress.

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND AMENDMENTS APPLIED SINCE JANUARY THE FIRST 2013

0N 16 June 2011, the IASE is5UBd a0 amendment 1o S 19 - Employee Benefits applicable relrospectively Tor (e year

peginning 1 January 2013. The amendment modifies the requirements 1of FeCognizing defined Denefit plans and termination

penefits. The Main ChEnges conceming defined benefit plans reqard the recogrition of e entire plan defict of Surpls in
the balance shegt, the introduction of net interest expense and the classification of net interest expense arising from defined
penefit plans. in detailk:

-+ Recognition of the plan deficit or surplus: The amendment removes Ihe Previous option of being atle 1o gefer aciuarial gains.
a0 105525 Under the off Dalance sNeet *Coemdor Metnod”, requining these 1o be recognized drectly in Oher comprenensive
iNCome. In ddition, the amendment requires the immediale recognition of past Service Costs in profit or kss.

- Net inferest expense: The CONCEPLs of interest expense and expected retuIn on plan assels are replaced by the concept of
MEL iNterest expense on the net plan defiat of SUplus, WHch consists of:

- the interest expense calculzted on the present value of the izbility for defined benefit plans,
- the inierest income arising from e valuation of the plan assels, and
- the iNierest expense of iNCOMmeE ising Tom any limits to the recogniion of the plan surps.

Met interest expense & caloulated 1or all ADOVE COMPONEnts by Liing Me discount rate applied 1o valuing the

obiigation for defined bEnefit plans at e DEgNTing of e period.

In gccordance with the transitionzl rules included in paragraph 173 of S 19, the Group applied this amendment o WS 19

refrospectivety from 1 January 2013, adjusting the opening balance sheet at 1 January 2012 and 31 December 2017 as well &

e income statement for 20102 as if the amendment nad ahways been applied.

In more detail, e Group as calculated the following retrospective efacts fesulting om the adoption of the amendment 1o

1A5 19:

31120012
Al

[ s 35
restated

120, Tax amels 177,084 a7 177,531
) aurEnt 33,626 33,626
) deremed 143,458 a7 143,905
Liability and Equity
70, Tax labskty 1,945 792 (1,153) B384
) aurent 35,554 35,504
) deremed 43351 797 (1153) 42,550
100 Fost-emplayment benefis 13,336 (367 0 13,190
110 Prows on 1o wsiks and changes 140,133 (1522) 5,356 144,007
) TEqEment g simiar 71,085 {1,522) 5396 24678
1) otfer ngors 118,078
160, ReErves 558,20 (735) 583,468
170 Valuation esene 5012 1836 3234 5614

180, Frait (Juss) for e pericd 165,475 (783) 164,652




Effects on Statement of Half ayear 2012 Amounts IAS 19 revised Half ayear 2012 ameounts
comprehensive income a5 prey jously reporied adoption effect s restated

110 Administaive experses (273, 645) (783 (224,448)
) persannel expEnsEs (134,005) {7a3) (134,785 )
b)) ofner Eminisraive expenses (8% 660) (8%, 660)
Profit {loss) before tax from 157,011 (783) 156,278

190, Income tax on conknuing cpesabans (50,167) (90,167)
Met Prolit (joss) after tax from 166,544 (783) 166,061
prokit (loss) for the year 166,844 (783) 166,061

Taking into account the limited impact on the regorted amounts, here was no need 1o add 2 column ko the financial statements
10 ShoW INE Changes Mace in Ihe Comparative dala wiich, as a Fesul, are SHWN With e aDove CNEnges aiNeady incorporated.

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND AMENDMENTS APPLIED BY THE GROUP SINCE JANUARY THE
FIRST 2013

IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement, CIarilying e determination of the fzir value 1or Ihe purpose of the inanciz statements
and appiying o all IFRSS permitting of requining a fair value measurement of the presentalion of discloswes based on fEir
value. Moreover, IFRS 13 includes extensive disclosure requirements on the fair value measwremens. In acoordance with
Ne Wansitional provision nCuded in ApPendix C of IFRS 13, e Group adopted e NEW 131 ValUe MEASUTEMEn! guidance
prospectively Since 1 January 2013 applying INe HEw GiSCIOsUre TEqUIrements in the standand for comparative infarmation
reported in s Annual report. The standardis effective prospectively Irom 1 January 2013 and its a00ption had required new
disclosures and limited elect on the measwement of the derivatives included in this Annual Report.

Amendments to IFRS 7 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures. The amendments require information about the eflect or
potential eect of netting amangements or financal assets and abilities on an entity’s financal position. ENtities are required
10 2pply TNEe amendments 1oF annual Feparting Periods Deginring on or aner 1 January 2013, and intefim periods within those
annual pedods. The required disclosures should be provided retraspeciively. The adoplion of the amendments had no impacls
on he disclosure in this Annual repart.

Amendments to 45 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements

The amendments clnfies e way in Which comparative infonmation should De presented when an entity changes accounting
policies or retrospectively resiates o reclassifies items in its finandal statements and when an enfity provides comparative
infonmation in addition to e Mnimum comparative inandal statements. The amendment was applied for e restatement of
the balance sheet igures as a result of Zpplying the amendment i 1S 19; the eflects of s 2 shownin he above tables,

F-14

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET APPLICABLE AND
MNOT EARLY ADOPTED BY THE GROUP ARE:

In May 2071, & package Ihiee standands: IFES 10 - Consolidated Finandial Statements, IFRS 11- Jaint Arrangements, and IFRS
12 - Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities. IAS 27 - Consolidated and Separate Finandal Statements (which has been
renamed 1AS 27 - Separate Financial Statements) Znd 1AS 25 - Invesiments in Associates (Winich has Deen renamed [AS 23
- Investments in Assadiates and Joint Ventures) were consequently revised. SUbsequently, Gher amendments Were issued
1 claty transitional quidanoe on the frst-time adoption of the standands. The new standards are effective far annual penods
beginning on o atter 1 January 2013, and must be zpplied refrospeciively. The European Union endorsed these standards by
POSIEONing IEir enective date 1o 1 january 2014, allowing arly adaplion 0m 1 January 2013 The GIoup will apply e new
standards from 1 January 2004, In partiowlar:

IFRS 10 - ( d Financial Sta: replacing SIC-12 - Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities and parts of
145 27 - Consolidated and Separate Finandial Statements (subsequently reissued as IAS 27 - Separate Finandal Statements
WRCh 20dresses the accounting reatment of investments in separzte tinancial statements). The new standard introduces
ontrol model applicable bo all the units, incuded spedal purpose entities. The standard provides additional guidance to assist
in the determination of conirol where this is dificult to assess. The standard is efiective retrospectively from 1 Januzry 2014
Ut penmitting early applicalion Irom 1 January 2013, AL the gate of his ANNUa 1Epart No eNects would @ 6e Tom the adaplion
of this new stanmdard 25 no changes will be made to the control conciusions reachied betare and afer the zdoption of the new
standard.

IFES 11 - Joint Amangements superseding 1AS 31 - Interests in Joint Ventures and SIC-13 - Jointly-controlled Entities -
Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers. The adoption of Ihis new standard for the Group will require ihe reclassification of
inVestments classified as jointly controlled entities under 1AS 31 between Joint VEntures (it the Group has rights to Ihe assets,
and abligations for the Rabilities, relating to an amangement) and Jant operations (it the Graup Nas right only 10 e net assels
of an arrangement). The classificztion will focus on the rights and obiigations of the arangements, rather than their legal form

IFRS 12 - Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, 2 new and comprenensive siandard on disclosure reguirements for all
10MMS of interests in other entities, including subsidiafies, jaint arangements, associates, specizl purpose venicles and other
UNCONSORCatEd VEricles. The standard is eecive or annua PEods Degieing arer 1 January 2013.1he effects of appling
he new standard are Emited to the disclosures for investments in olher companies 10 be provided in the Motes to year end
‘Consoiidated finandal stalements.

Amendments to LAS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation 1o clasity the applicalion of certain ofseting critesia for financizl
assets and finandial liabiilies in A5 32. The amendments are eflective lor annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014
and are required to be appiied relrspectvey.



The European Union had not yet compieted its endorsement process 10f these standards and amendments at the date of this
Quarterly report:

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments issued by IAS8 in 2009 subsequently amended. The standard adaresses the classification,
measurement and recognition of financial assets and financial liadilities and the hedge accounting. It replaces the relevant
parts of IAS 39 - Financial Instruments: recognition and measurement. As part of the November 2013 amendments, among
other, the IASE removed the standard’s mandatory effective date, previously set on 1 january 2015. This date will be acded
10 the standard ail phases of the IFRS 9 praject will be compieted and a final complete version of the standard will be issued.

1AS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Meas! entitled of and Continuation
of Hedge Accounting”. The amendments will allow hedge accounting to continue in 3 situation where a defivative, which
has been designated as a hedging instrument, & novated to effect clearing with a central counterparty as a resuit of 1aws of
reguiation, it Specific conditions are met. Similar refiet will be incuded in IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments. The amendments
are effective retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 january 2014.
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A.3 DISCLOSURE ON FAIR VALUE
A.3.1 PORTFOLIO TRANSFERS

DURNQ 1Y€ YERI N DOIDND IANSIErs oCCuTed,
A.4.5 HIERARCHY OF FAIR VALUE

A.4.5.1. Assets and liabilities held at fair value: breakdown by level of fair value

e Lot mm
53

1. Rnandal assets held for tading 4873
2. Anancal asets al @i vaue
3. Avasable-or-sale Bnancal asers
4. Hergng dervatves 17,958 17,958
5. Properly, piant and
6. INiangible assers
TOmAL - 54,781 - 54,781
1. Anancel kbl es fesd for iradng Erree 38683
2. Rnancel kabilibes hesd at far value
3. Hedging dervatves 9,971 49,971
TOTAL - 108,614 - 108,614

A.4.5.4 Assets and liabilies non held at fair value: breakdown by level of fair value

31/12/2013 31122012
TN T AT NN ST ST NI BTN
Financial assets.
L peid ety %665 9713 0 437 10,376
1. Recewables 14372 526 - 18,410,667 - 13,441,737 - 13,572,079
1. Investments 108 108 8 108
4 Fied assets heid
© Iorimesiment
Non-curent
3. assEls held for
=)
TOTAL 14,382,299 9,213 14,419,775 - 13,451,782 10,376 13,572,187 -
1. Fayables 7,483,711 - 7,625,574 - 5 270,706 - 5 400,304
2. Nokes tsued GIGGE08  DESSENT 3745370 - 4ET1420 158710 EWE1S
Hoa-ourment
1. Rabillties held
for sale
TOTAL 13,850,319 3655827 11,370,944 - 13,142,126 1,986,710  11,228123 -
CA = Camymg Amount
L1 = Lewel 1
L2 = Lewal 2
13 - level 3



Acconding to IFRS 13, far value is the price thal would be received to sell an asset or paid 1o ransher a Gability in an orderly

{ransaction between market participants at the measurement date {exit price). IFRS 7 introduoes instead the definition of *Tair

value hierarchy”. This siandard calls for fair value to be determined in aocordance with 2 three-level nierardhy based on the

significance of the inputs used in such mezsurement. The objective is to set the price at which he asset @n be soid.

The thiee levels are as 1o/iows:

d) Lewel 1 (L1): quoted prices (without adjustments) in an acive market - & defined by 1AS 39 - for the assels and iamilities
1o be measured;

) Level 2 (LZ): inputs other than quoted market prices induded within Level 1 that are observable either diredlly (prices) o
indirecily {desived from prices) in the market;

€} Lewel 3 (L3} inputs that are not based on observable market data.

BEKIW, 1@ MEN0ds aoopied by the COmpany o detenmine 13 value areilusrated:
Financial instruments classified as (L1), whose fair value is their market price (securities iraded in an aclive market), refer to:

- AUSIiEN goVernment bonds purchased by the AUsTian subsidiary, quoted in requiated markets (Caption: assets held 1o
MmiEturity};

- Bonds issued Dy the subsidiary FGAC IE under the Euro Medium Temm Motes programme and fisted in reguizted markets
(Caplion: ponds outstanding)y;

- BONds sUEd in CONNBCon With Securi iZation transactions, placed with the pubic of with private imvestors, Dy different Group
entities (Caption: onds outstanding).

For listed bonds issued in connecion with securitization ransactions, IEIEMEnce o paces quated by Bioombeng.

Financial assets and liabiities dassified as (L2), WNOse 131 value is OE1armined Dy Lsing inputs oher than quated market proes

that are observable either directly (prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) in the market, refer to:

- OTC trading defivatives 1o hedge securitization tansaclions,

- OTC derivalives entered into to Nedge Group companies’ receivabies,

- trade recevable porttolio (Caption: Receivalies),

~ DOmowings,

+ Donds issuedin conneciion with securitizafion transactions, placed with the public of with private investars, by difierent Group
entities.

Dervatves are measured by discounting their casn Nows at the rates plotted on the yield cuves provided by BloomBerg.
Receivables and payables ae measured in the same way.

Eonds outstanding reflect the prices pubished by Bloomberg. For unlisted bonds reference is made to quoted prices for
comparabie ransactions.

Far liSted Dands iSsUed in CONNECKON With private SECun lZation Wansaction, IEMErence is provided Dy PrME banks BCIVE in the
Market faking a5 reference equivalent transactions, of Made to INe nominal value of e bonds of e Tair value sibuted by
the baniking counterparty that subscrived 1o them.

The Group uses measwement methods (mark to moded) in line with those generally accepted and used by the market.
Valuation models are based on the discount of future cash fows and the estimation of volatility; they are reviewed both when
they are developed and irom Hme o me, i enswe thal mey are fully oonsistent with the ofjeciives ol the valuation.
These Metnads Use NpULs Dased on [Iices Prevailing in recent Mansackions on e insUMEnt BEng measured and,/or phoes,/
QuUDEAtions of NSITUMENTs With Similar CRaracterstics in Werms of risk profile.
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PART B - NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS

SECTION 1 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - ITEM 10

This item inchudes cheques, cash and cash equivalent items,

SECTION 2 - FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING - ITEM 20

2.1 Financial assets held for trading: Breakdown by type

{€/thousands)

TOWL31,/12/2N2

T e T S T

DESCRIPTION/ AMOUNT

A, Cash insiruments

1. Debd serusties

- Sinucluned senssties.

- oiher debl secunbes

Equily and LTS shares/units
3. loams

TOTAL A - - - - -
Derivatives - 36,823 - - 58,690
. Rnanpal dervatives 36821 SB,630
redit cemvatives

TOTAL B - 36,873 - - 58 690
TOTAL A+B - 36,813 - - 58, 690

N

o

This ibem includes the positive valuation of financial derivalive insiruments refated to the sequntization ransacions, which were
entered into with the banks invaived in such ansactions.



2.2 Derivative instruments

INTEREST
TYPE/ UMDERLYINGS RATES 13

1. Over the ounter
Rnandal derialves
- Fairvaie 36,823 36,823 58,690
- Nabional ameount 3,058,490 3,058,490 2,714,388
(el desvatives
- Fair valye
- Nabional ameount
TOTAL 36,823 - - - 36,823 58,600
7. Other
Rnandal deriakves
- Fair valye
(el desvatives
- Fairvalue
TOTAL -
TOTAL 36,823 - - - 36,823 58,690

2.3 Financial assets held for trading: breakdown by debtor/issuer

DESCRIPTION, AMDUNTS TOTALE 31,12/ 2013 TOTALE 31712/ 2002

Cash instruments

. GOWEIMIMENs and central banks

Diher public Entites

. Rnanoal enbies

a
b
€. Banks
a
[

. DIher issuers

16,823 58,690

Hanks 36,523 58,650

=

Other

TOTAL 36,823 58,590

The derivate instruments wene entered into with primary banks and concemed over-the-counter Interest Rate Swaps.
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2.4 Financial assets held for trading: changes for the year

BN 0 O | Equily | minaments
CHANGES,/ TYPE [ e [l yre——, TOTAL
- - 58,600 58,690

A. Dpening balance -

1. Increases - - - 3,468 3466
B.1 Purchases 3,466 3,466
B2 Prsitive changesin fai e -
B3 O changes -

[. Dersases - - - {25,331) (25,333)
C.15aks
.2 Repayments ) @)
£.3 Nexative changesin i value (25, 106) (25,106)
C.4 Translers o cther portiolos
L5 Other changes

0. Closing balance - - - 35,873 16,571

SECTION 4 - FINAMCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR SALE - ITEM 40

This item reflects the net smaunt of equity MSITLmEnts undenwritten in 2009 by FGA Capitl 5.0.A, 10r 3 total of €639 thousand,
in CONNBCHoN Wilh e restructuring of & dealer's payables. This smaunt was Written ot in 2009



SECTION 5 - FINAMNCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR MATURITY - ITEM 50

5.1 Financial assets held to maturity : breakdown by debtor/ issuer

DESCRIFTION AMOUNT m
31 1] mj -“-

. BoneE and oler detrl securities 9,665 9213
1.1 Shoctured securibies 0 645 e313

3) Conemments and 5665 5213
) Other public entites
o) Banks
q
&) Dher issuers
12 Other sarures
3] Gavemments
i ks
o) Oifier public enties
) Banks
dh
) Diner issuers
2. wans - - - E - - - -
) Banks

o)

) DIher (snmers.

TOTAL 9,665 9,113 . - 10,437 10,376 . -

L1 = Lewel 1
12 = Lewel 2
13 = level 3

This item includes in essence listed bond issued by e austrian govemiment and held by FGA Bank GMbH (austria); ese are
deposits requined by the local Central Bank.
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5.2 Financial assets held to maturity: changes for the year

A Dpem'lg balance
8. Incieases 38 - ]!
B.1 Purchases
B2 Wallebacks.
B3 Tramslers from other portiolios
B.4 Ofher changes 38 33
[Derreases (810} - (810}
[ C15aks (810} {E10)
L2 ReEpayments
C.3 Willedow ns
C.4 Transters 1o cther partiolics
L5 Othe changes
0. Closing balance 9,665 - 9,665

The demeases mainky concem the Polish subsidiary, Which reduced its exposure 1o fnancial assets o matoh the deciine of the
assoriated financizl Rabilities.

SECTION 6 - RECEIVABLES - ITEM 60

Due rom barnis 77 004 513,891
[ oM AnEnal instimens 1E711 w7
Oue ifom austomers 13,616,811 13,506,634
Total receivables 14,372,526 13,441,237




6.1 Due from banks

31/12/2013 31122012
o [ e [ e |
CARRTING CARRYING
I I I I

1. Deposits and curent accounts 737,004 737,004 513,801 513,891
2. Loans
2.1 Purchizse and resake

H

2.2 FAinance leases
23 Fartoang
- with recourse

- withou! recowse
2.4 Diher loans
3. Debt sErusbes

- Shnuchune;
- oiher debt secunties

4. Dther asels
TOTAL 737,004 737,004 513,801 513,891

L1 = L 1
12 = Ll 2
13 = level 3

Compared 1o 31 December 2012, “Due rom banks” is inTeased 1or €223.1 million.
Bank depaosits and current aocounts include funds available on current accounts of deposited Dy SPES totaliing €362 million

(Eurn 3017 million & December 31 2012). Liquidity is Tesifcted as per each relevant securitizatlion contrack A Dreakoown by
SPE s provided below:

TOWAL 311212

A-Best Four Sil 66,471 66,471 114575
A-Best Fve SA 5,600 5,600 13,310
A-Biest 5w Fic - - 17,326
A-Blest Seven Sl 39,418 39418 19327
A-lest Bight Pic 15,548 15,548 -
ixes Thiee Pic 7,486 77,486 24,119
NixES FOuI il 17,805 17,805 19577
ixes Fwe Pic 24,147 24,147 15,604
Wixes 58 Pl 60,374 60,374 -
Erasmus Fnance Lid 58,920 58,920 57,95
Star 53,192 3,192 -
TOTALE 368,970 368,970 301,688

The liquidity reserve is designed to meet any cash shortfalls tor the pgyment of intérest on senior securities and certain specific
EX[ENSES,
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The funds held in curment accounts o as bank deposits are intended for:
2. ACQUISILION O NEW POrTTolio of receivanies,/Inans;

b. repayment of notes;
C. payment of interest on *senior” notes;
0. SPE Operating costs.

Bank deposits and current accounts 50 inchude short Werm deposits Neld Wemporanily With DEnks and year-end curment
coount balances resuiting from ondinary operating activities.

6.2 Due from financial institutions

31/12/2013 12/
CARRYING AMDUNT YING AMOUNT
M_mm N:-N-P:nmm ING
[ ==E [ =

1. Loans 1871 -

1.1 Purchese and resaie

1.2 Fnance leases 145 1z
1.3 Fadkoang 3,461 -
- wilh recourse
- wilhau! recourse 3,463
1.4 Other lnans 15,103 12,358
2. Debt secunities - - - - - -
- siructured secusbies.
- alher debt secuntes
3. Dther assets - 8252 8152
TOTAL CARRYING AMOUNT 18,711 . - 18,711 20,722 - - 20,722
11 = Level 1
12 = Level 2
13 - Level 3

*Due fram Financial INSTtutons™ 1ell Oy €2 million compared to 31 December 2012.

*Loans” includes receivables refated (o the Italian subsidiary Leasys SpA. for an amount of €15.1 milion.



6.3 Due from customers

/3 Maon

CARRYING AMOUNT CARRYING AMDUNT

HON-PERFORM

[ —
P =E

1. Loans 13,397,066 219,745 13,663,952 12,645,441 261,183 13,037,456

1.1 Financ leases 1,736,647 19,570 1,722,137 18,617
of Wich - wiliout
aptian

12 Factoring 3,323,345 161,020 3,112,493 184,483
- With Fecourse 78,456 E 58,436 E
-without recourse 3,244,889 161,020 3054,057 184,483

13 Consumer credit 6,684,501 16750 6,532,122 28,388

1.6 Gther loans 1,652,574 22,305 1,178,689 29,695

TOTAL 13,397, 066 - 219,745 - 13,663,952 - 12645441 - 261,183 - 13037466 -

L1 = Level 1
12 = Lewel 2
13 = Lewel 3

Finance leases
Finance Iease activities are mainly camied out by a FGA Capital S.pA. and by subsidiaries in Germany and Switzeriand.

Factoring

This item indudes:

&) receivables arising from sales 10 the dealer network for €784 million factored on 3 Nof-Tecourse basis by he FGA Group;
NOWevEr, Since 1§S amount Was in excess of the ines of redit available, the assodated risk was not ranstermed o the
factars;

b) receivables arising fmom szles to the dealer network for €3,404.7 million, faciored on a recourse basis to the commercizl
partners of the dealer inancing companies of Group FGA CAPITAL; of which, assets of SPE Star for €446 million and Erasmus
for €311 milion, consolidated in acoordance with SIC 12; FGA Bank Germany GmDH (Germzny), FC France SA. (France) and
FGA Capital Services Spain S.A. (Spain) are the ofgnators of Erasmus Securitization ransacion, FGA Wholesale Uk is the
ofigingtar of Star.
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Retail financing

Retail financng mainly concems Tixed instaiment car kans and personal loans.

The receivables comprise the amount of transaction costs,/fees calculated in relation to the individual loans by incuding the
Tollowing:

grants received in refation to promational campaigns;

tees received ITom aistomers;

incentives and Donuses paid t the dezler network;

COMMissions on the sale of ancillany products.

Receivabies include €3, 986 million relzling to 5PES for the secuntization of receivables, as reporied in a0oordance with 5 27,
SIC12

Other loans
This item includes loans granted o the FGA Group dealer network to fund network development, commesdial requirements in
nanding Lsed venicles and to meet SPeific short/ medium Term borowing reguirements.

Non-performing assets
This item includes doubtiul, substandard, restructured and overdue loans according to Bank of 1taly instructions for non-banking
finzncial enfities as at 15 December 2009 and subsequent updates.

Loan and receivable impairment
This item reflects the imparment of loans and receivables. The following table shows dianges during the year for each business

line:
a4125 66,985

Risk Fund Provision 31/12/2012 133,189 62,731 307,130

12268 17378 52779 26,596 120,522
Wiitabacks {18,715) {,832) 7.07) (7,89) (36359
Utization (18,20) 2,508) (55,251 (23043 (93,208)
[her Cnanges 1470 (13z) 901 (4.689) {1,360
Risk Fund Provision 31,/12/2013 974 71,791 123,791 55700 291,025

For further infomation plezse refer [ “&.1 IMpainment sses and recoveries”.



SECTION 7 - HEDGING DERIVATIVES - ITEM 70

7.1 Breakdown of item 70 “Hedging derivatives”

31/12/2013

S R ST
LIVELLI Dil BAR VALLE
A. Financial - 17,958 - 4,570,734 - 18,119 - 1,667 821
1. Far vaue 7,371 4,746,736 15,074 1,642 871
2. Cash Tows 187 274,008 45 25,000
3.
TOTAL & - 17,958 - 4,520,234 - 19,119 - 1667821
B. edi dervalives - - - - - - - -
1. Far vaue
2. Cash fows
TOmMLE - - - - - - - -
TOTAL (A+B) - 17,958 - 4,520,234 - 19,119 - 1,667,821
L1 = Lewel 1
L2 = Lewel 2
13 = lewel 3

NV = Nolional Value

This item reflects the fair value of the derivative confrads entered indo 10 hedge interest rate and exchange rate risks. The
amaunts include any interest acomed at year-end.

7.2 “Derivati di copertura®: portafogli coperti e tipologia di copertura

FRair ¥alve

TRAMSA TN TYPE OF HEDGE Specific

Intepest

Horallabie-for-5ae of irandal sel

loens

Fnanaal I miaturity

Portiolo 7850

SISl L

Diher Iransackons

TOTAL ASSETS

1. Frnangal lakies. 2921

2. Portiolo

TOTAL LA BILITY 9,921 - - - - - - -

1. Experter] mamactons

2. Fnandal el and kabily portiolio 187

The generic column shaows the amount of derivalive instruments used 1o hedge the retail receivable portiolio. Such instruments
have been accounted for as fair value hedges (macronedge).

The cash fow hedges refer to desivative instruments Nedging interest rate risk. SUC nstruments, which are used tor long-term
rental actvities, are accounted o as cash fow hedges.

F-21

SECTION 8- CHANGES IN VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS UNDERLYING A GENERIC HEDGE - ITEM 70

8.1 Details of itemn &0 “Changes in value of the financial assets underlying a generic hedge”

CHAMGES IN VALUE OF HEDGED ITEM 31/12/2013 Sz mn

1. Posifive change 47,141 130842
1.1 0f speibc portfoios
1) reEvables
by vz labie-foe-sale Sanncal 5ets
1.3 mwesall 47,141 130,842
7. Negative change
2.1 af spenic poriiolios
1) reEvables
by g labie-foe-sale Sanncal 58t
22 meesall
TOTAL 47,141 130,841

This item includes the changes in value af the receivables underlying the hedging instruments accounted for as 1ai value
nedges (macrohedge).

SECTION 2 — INVESTMENTS - ITEM 90

9.1 Investments: Details of equity investments

R e Consolidated
carrying amount Headquarters
Lo subject to dominant influsnce
1. CODERS S0P 36 FiaA Capdtal 0% Turin, Haty
2. SRNQ - SIOUREIZA INDUSTRIALE 0326 FGA Capatal 0.21% Turin, Haky
3. DEDNE 0325 FA Capatal 0.17% Turin, Hary
4. CAROTY OUE 33 Leasys 3% Turin, Haty
5. SIRM] - SIOUREIZA INDUSTRIALE o5 Leasys. 0.13% Turin, Haky
f. LIQUIDITATS- UND KOMSORTHA LRANK GMBEH 9 FGA Bank D.02% Frankhurt 3msan, Gemarmy
7. (GED 7 FL France 0,003 % Faris, France
TOTAL 108




9.2 Changes in investments for the year

A. Opening balance 108
B. Inmeases
8.1 Purchases. -
8.2 Wrilebacks
B3
.4 DIher thanges
€. Dedreases
1 DiEpesas -
L2 Wiitebacks
L3 Oither changes
D. tesing hatance 108

SECTION 10 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - ITEM 100

ASSELS 107 USE i prouucton 7,005 5824
ASSEES IEfEnng i AAne Jease oo Eacts and spe

J'BE'E’I:I:I'I\'EE&FI e w “46\58 wﬁ
Assels provided nder opemring Ieses 1,002,825 1,041,875
TOTAL 1,040, 508 1,054,705

10.1 Property held for use in the production or supply of goods and services : compaosition of assets recognized at cost

1. Assets for wse in production 6,449
a) land . -
b) buildings - -
) fumitwe 4547 7,160
d) elecimnic equipment 815 735
€) cther TE7 o3

2. Assets held under finance lease 576 626
a) land - -
b) buildings - -
) i busg - -
) ElEimnic equpment - -
&) other 576 626

TOTAL 7,025 8824

10.2 Properiy held for investment: composition of assets recogniz ed at cost

The GIoup does not nold property of assets UNger fiNznce 1ases for iMVEsIMEent pUIpases. HOWEVEr, it does Nold assets under
Finance Leases and assest provided under operating lease amangements, whose details are as follow:

DESCRIPTION, AMOUNT

CAREYNG AMOUNT
31/12/2013 3112/ 2012

2.1 Unopled assets 598 BE1
2.2 Assel retumed amer tenmnaon 4523 1,920
2.3 Other assets 5,437 1,655
TOTAL: ASSETS RELATED TO FINANCE LEASES 10,658 4,456
Assets prvided Under operating bases 1,022,825 1,041,425
TOTAL: GOODS FROVIDED UNDER OPERATING LEASES 1,012,825 1,041,425
TOTAL (1:2) 1,033, 483 1,045,881

The item *Assets refated to finance leases” reflecls vehicles in the company's possession as & result of:

- UNOpLEd 2SSE1S: UNEXECiSEd 0pions 10 purchase oy

CUSIOMETS of contacts ierminated oher than mutual agreement;

- assels returned atter termination: contract termination due to customer defaull;

- oiher assels: related (o the vehicles amount waiting

for the leasing contract enhancement.

Operating leases fell by €18,6 million compared to the previous year. This was due mainly to I0Wer business volumes by the

Iizlian subsidiary, Leasys.



10.5 Properiy held for use in the preduction or supply of goods and services: annual changes

ELECTROMIC
FURMITURE |  EQUIPMENT OTHER TOTAL
1367

A. Gmss opening balance 54121 1310 56798
A1 Nat reduron of Inkal vae {45,561) 1632) ) (47,974)
A2 Met openig batance 7,160 735 929 5524

0. Ineases T 464 684 1111 4760
B.1 Purchases 2854 (=) &09 3758
B2 Experses for capitalred impemvements - -
B3 Wiitebarks
1.4 Prsitve thanges in [ar value theough:

a) equity

) prafit and o
BS Positve exchange rabe tifEsenies 302 502
B.6 Transters. fnom i miestment peoperty
B7 Diher changes - -

C. Degreases (4,202) (604) {1,253} (£,059)
C.1 Dispasaks (1266) (775) (2,045
2 {1128) {221) (325) (1,674)
€3 Impairment thaugh:

a) equiy

) protit and kes
L4 Nagative thanges in fa value thiough.

a) equiy

) protit and kes -
L5 Negatwe exchange rte o Herences {1,667 1z (1,679
C.6 Transters o: -

a) investment property

1) 2ssets el Tor sale and dsconknueng

operatons
C.7 Dihes thanges {141) [EERV] (145} (E6T)

0. Ending imventaries, net 5,412 B15 T8 7025
D1 Kt reduction of okl value (39,655) {EST) (378) {40,890)
D.3 Gross ending invenlories 45,078 1672 1,165 7,815

E. Recognition at mst 5,472 B15 TET 7,025
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10.6 Investment property: annual changes

A. Dpening balance

ASSETS

ASSETS REFFERING TO

REFFERING 0 OPERATING
FINANCE LEASE 5

LEASE
(ONTRALTS CONTRACTS TOTAL

B.1 Furchases

182 Bepenses for capilali edimprnvements

B.3 Pusitrve vanatons of [0 valug

B.AWHlEharks

1.5 PoSiNE ExChange e ofieEnces

a7d (3L

.6 Trarster of real estate tunchionally
ukkzed

B7 Other thanges

[. Demeases

(183) (618,467) (618 650)

L1 Dispusal

(183) (360 263) (360,646)

.2 Depredation

.3 Negative varabons of far value

(258004) (258004

C.4 mpasmet

.5 Negalive exthange rale diferences

C.6 Different portiolio iransfers:

fekd for he
T LT
SEn0es

Emmmmmmrusalem
SCOMNUING Dperaions

L7 Other changes

0. Ending imventaries

10,458 1,012,826 1,033,484

E. Fair Value measurement

X X X




SECTION 17 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS - ITEM 110

11.1 Breakdown of item 110 “Intangible assets”

31/12/2013 31/12/2012

1. Good TOTAL 1 180,339 180,339
2. Other assels
2.1 mwn 1 ETT 77,341
- generated intemaly 2,358 1475
- other 32,519 75,916
27 amquired under Bnance lese . -
TOTAL 2 34,77 7,340
3. Assets under finance leases
3.1 unpoted asets
3.2 assets withcrawm Iollraing tesm nation
3.3 olhes asmets
TOTAL 3 - -
4. Assets under operating leases -
TOTAL (1+2+3+4) 25,216 207,680
TOmL 215,216 207,680

Thee item “Goodwill™ includes €7 8.5 million relating to e 1zlizn subsidiary Leasys S.p.A. and €101.9 million arsing on the

reqiganization of the FGA CAPITAL Group ooourred in 2006 and 2007. In parficula:

- €50.1 million refate to the recognition - by the subsidiary Fidis Senvidi Fnanzian SpA., Wik mergedinto the Holding FGA
Cagital on March 1st, 2003 - of goodwill arising on the iransier of the “Network finance znd other Ginandng” Dusiness and
the acquisition of the *Hokling Division™ rom Fidis S.pA.

- 36,8 million relate o the firsi-ime onsoiidation of cerain EUropean companies engaged in dealer inancing;

- €15 milion relate to the first-ime consolidation of the Fdis Servizi Anandan Sp.A. Group, which was eventually merged
into the parent comparny;

0N INE reporting date, gooadwill was 1ested for impainment.

The IMPairment 1est entailed a review of the indiviiual cash qenerating units (CGU) With the *Free cash Iow 1o equity” method,

that is Iy discounting to present value the net operaling cash inflows available to the shareholders and the terminal value of

each such CGU with the method used o determine the present value of a perpetuity.

The assumptions adopted to calculate the recoverable value of the CGUS reflect past experience and are consistent with the

EXtETNal SOUrCes of intormation. Specifically:

- Net operating cash inflows ane calculated over 3 S-year horzan;

- The disoount rate af 11.9% reflects the cost of capital, considering a fsk-Inee rate of 1.81%, @ premium for company fisk of
T16% and a beta of 1.41;

- The growin rate is estimated at 1.9%, in ine with a five-year inflation forecast;

- The cash Hiows igke into consideration the capital adequacy level tor esch CGL, in line with the conditions of the market in
wiich the company operaies.
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The item “Other intangible assets” mainly refers to:

- HCENCEs and solware of INE subsidiary Leasys S.pA. [or €16.5 million and of e parent company, FGA Cagital, for €15.4
million;

- Toyallies from the subsidiary FGA Bank Germamy GmoH for £1.3 million.

11.2 Intangible assets: changes for the year

A. Opening balance 07 550
E. Increases 12,585
.1 Purchises 11,545
8.2 wWsteharks
83 Posibwe chamges in fair value Bwoughe
- equily
- |profil and loss
1.4 Othes changes 1,040
. Decreases (5,043)
1 Dispasals (194)
€7 Amortzakon (4,855)
3 Impairment through.
- equily
- |profit and loss
.4 Negabve CHandges in fr value Benugh:
- equity
- |profit and loss
5 Dither changes
0. Final batance 52116

SECTION 12 - TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

12.1 Breakdown of item 120 “Tax assets: current and deferred”

) current 19,889 33,626
b) deferred 154,110 143,505
- twnugh peokt and loss 150,853 137,240
- tnUgh exquity 329 6,665
TOTAL 183,999 177,531

(*} Following appiicztion of the amendment 1o 145 19

Current fax assets include direct and indired 2 credits, mainly referring to the Parent Company for €148,



12.2 Breakdown of item 70 “Tax liabilities: current and deferred”

a) cument 41139
b} defemed A5 dGE

- Ewnugh peokt and koss 45 458

- Ewnugh equity - -
TOTAL B&.605 B1.584

(*) Following applicztion of the amendment io 145 19

Current taxes include direct andindirect taxes payable by, mainly, FoA Bank GErmany GmDH for £9.5 million, FeA Gapilal 5. pA.
Ior €8.7 milion, FGA Capital UK for €6.5 million, Fdis Fnance 5S4 for €4.5 million and FCFrance SA far €37 million.

12.3 Changes in deferred tax assets (through profit and loss)

1. Dpening balance 137,240 137,437
2. Inoeases 15,690 21,153
2.1 Delemed L2 assels recognized during the year 36,600 70,798
) i reiation o pEVious Anandal yeas L 7
) Gue T CRAnges in apoun g stangards
£) willeBagks
o) other 35,878 0024
27 New [2mBs o inmeases of 12 [mles
23 Dher inreases 835
3. Decreases (23,077} (21,340)
3.1 Delemed t2 assels derecognized curng the year (20,210} {17,109)
) reversals {20,210} {17,109)
) WIINER Off 35 50 IORGEr [ECOErane
£) duE i changes i aTounfing sfangards
o) other
37 Reductson of tax rales
33 Other decreases {2,867} (4.231)
3) change fo fax oeaits unger [aw ne. 71,2001
) ofner {2,867 (4,231)
4. Final batance 150,853 137,240

Line itern 3.3 *other decreases”, includes the exchange rate differences arising from the translation of curent tax zssels
denominated in 1Oreign cumendes.
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The amount &t 31 December 2013 mainly includes deferred tax &ssels odginated from the iming differences between the
book Dase and e & base ok

- {a loss camylorwards (€28.5 million);

- oiher fisks and charges;

- dliowance for bad debts;

- OEpreciation of 10ng-1erm rental venices.

12.4 changes in defermed tax liabilities (through profit and loss)

1. Dpening balanca 42,900 40,413
2. Inmeases 10,412 EET1
2.1 Detemed b3 assels recognized durng the year 10,412 BET1
a) redfed fo previous fnandal yeas
1) e o Changes in ACoLming standands
t) omer 10,412 B,686
27 New tmes orincesses of 13 [les
2.3 Other increases 186
3. Decreases {7,936) {6,294)
31 Detemed ta Eabillies deremmgnized duing the yaar {5,614) (2,586
) reversals {5.614) (2,886)
1) e I3 CRanges it ACoLming standants
£) omer
37 Reduchon of tax mles
33 Dther dereases {2.323) (3,408)
4. Final balance 45,466 42,990

() Following application of the amendment 1o 1AS 19

Line iterm 3.3 *0ther decreases” includes the exchange rate differences arising from the franslafion of deferred tax asseis
denominated in 107eign CUMmendes.

The amount at 31 December 2013 Mainly inCludes defermed LaNes onginatad ITom e HMing Giferences between he ook
base and the tax base of:

- prepaid incentives 1o dealer Network;

- peprecialion refzled 10 finance leases relaled 1o Cerlain foreign subsidanes.



12.5 Changes in deferred tax assets (through equity)

1. Opening balance 6,665

2. Inmeases 474

2.1 Defemed t2e assets recognized during fhe year

) I TERION 7 MEVIOUS Ananoal years

) e fo changes in accoun fing standands

©) aifier 1,666

2.7 New [2Ees orinmeases of 12 [les

23 DIher nreases T4

3. Dedreases (3,883)

3.1 Defemed [ assels derecgnized dunng Ihe year (3,882)

) reversals

) WIINER Off 35 00 IORGEr [ECOErane

¢) due fp changes in acouniing standans

) other (3,883}

37 Reduction af tax m@ies

33 Diher decrsases

& Final balanee 3,25 6665

(*) Following applicztion of the amendment fo 1AS 19.

This item inchudes defemed ta assets recognized through equity as calculated on the cash Now hedge reserve relating to the
future cash flows of hedging dervatives and the fiscal effect on the AQC reserve.

SECTION 14 — OTHER ASSETS - ITEM 140

In addition to brand grants &nd services, starting in 2012 “keceivables adsing from sales and services” include & total of €104.5
miillion due 1o FGA by LEasys 5.p.A. il CONNECION With Venickes Lsed in DuyBacks alrezdy invoiced.

The item “Recsvabies ansing from insurance senvices” relates manly to the Farent Curnpamf and includies sums due from
insurance currpanies for the pasrmenl o DOIMIMissions.

The item “Receivables in e process of collecion” refers o pending collection items, relaling mainly 10 Me Parent Company
and the Ialian subsidiary Leasys 5.pA..

*Reinsurance aciivities” relate fo the Irish subsidiary. Compared with 2012, receivables rose mainty due to sudh aclivities.

Operating lease receivables reflect mainky payments already billed, but not yet collected 1rom customers, Tor a tofal of £159.3
million and related o operating lease buybacks 1or £78.3 million.

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
SECTION 1- PAYABLES - ITEM 10

1.1 Payables
(Amoants in thousands of euras)

31/12/2013 31/12/2012
e FINANCIAL FINANI
INSTITUTIONS | CUSTOMERS INSTITUTIONS. | (CUSTOMERS

1.1 Sale and repurthase
APEETENS

1.2 Other bommwings 7,356,314 43,467 7,425,878 793,842

»..

. Dther payabies 3,930 50,086

TOTAL 7,356,314 43, 467 83,930 7,425,878 793,842 50,986

Far Value - Ivedlin 1

Fai Value - Ivellio 2 7,496,614 24,734 3,964 7,541,720 807 598 50,986

Fain Value - Inellion 3

TOTAL FAIR VALUE 7,496,614 44,994 E3,966 7,541,720 E07, 598 50, 986

14.1 Breakdown of “Other assets”
1. Due from employees 13258 &3
2. Recenvables ansing ITom saies and serdes 240,825 202,636
3. Sundry rerENaks 115,99 145,897
FECEivEES arising from SURAE SEvices 49523 3,114
FECEIVEES I e process of i hon 1592 26,261
seamty depasits 1,827 2,152
IRNSURGE AES 57,221 54,812
oifier 5,833 26,558
4. Dpemtng lease recevables 278,705 292,175

TOTAL 638,788 641,481

This item includes mainly bomawings irom banks, of which £4,054.7 million from the Crédit Aghoole Group at arm's lengtn.
In addition, this item includes interest accrued for €26 milion.

Otfer payables indude:
- seurily deposits by dealers for £3008 million with the Parent Company and €4.8 milion with the Poish subsidiary;
- REtdil iahilities and seourity deposits privately issuedin relation 1o e easing.



SECTION 2 - NOTES ISSUED - ITEM 20

2.1 Breakdown of item 20 “Notes issued”

31,/12/2013 31122012
. O
T e
AMDUNT AMOUNT

1. Secuilies

- bonds 6165583 265581 378445 - 4ET03N 1 9BSTI0 T 826,790
structured
- aihier 6165583 655077 378445 4E70301 1986710 1,836,790
- olher secuibes 1,05 - 1,005 - 1,029 - 1,029
structured
- aifier 1,025 1,005 1,020 1,020
TOTAL 6366608 2655827 3745370 - AEL4N0 1986710 LEITEW

“0iher securities” refer 1o bonds issued by the SPES in CONMECon With securitizalion ransactions and to bonds issued by the
Irish subskdiary for €2, 250 million of nominal amount.

This iterm includes also iMerest accrued & at year-end Oy the SPES for €1.8 million (€1.3 milion at 31 December 2012) and
on the bond for €37.2 millian,

Foliowing in details the nominal value of Donds issued in the securitization operations:

A-Best Four Sil 950,718 1,372,000
AcBest Five 54 6,005 108,717
A-Best S PiC - 78433
A-Best Seven Sl 168,200 185,000
A-flest Bight Pic 148,845 -
Nizes Thiee Pk 40,970 401,136
NExES FOUI Ml a7,150 319,360
NixES Fwe P 285,574 129,242
Nixes 5 PiC 1,079,525 -
FCT Fast 369,988 183,678
Erasmus Fnance Lid 291,969 185,439
SR 319,458 .

TOTAL NOTES 4,069,406 3,313,005

SECTION 3 - FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING - ITEM 30

3.1 Breakdown of item 30 “Finandial liabilities held for trading”

31;12;11113 w 1272012
A. Cash instruments

1. Debt

2. Debt secusties - - - E - - - -
- Bonds - - - - - - - -
- stuctured
- DAY bonds
- piher securibes - - - - - - - -
- sinuctured
- piner serurbes
. De - g4 - 35643 LOSEASD - SO.865 - SO845 71436
1. Financial 3,643 ILEE 30SE400 50,865 SO865 1714338
2. Credlt demvatves
TomL - 3RE&3 - 3G643 J,058490 - S9865 - 59,865 1,714388

L1= Level 1

L2= Level 2

L3= Level 3

WV= NominalTnotonal value

FV*= Fair value calculated excuding cnanges in the issuer's oredit rating snce ssue date

Thiis item reflects me negative iange in the defivative finandal insuments nedging the securitization Fansacions, entered
into With the same Danks as those invoved in such transactions.



3.3 “Financial hiabilities held for trading”: derivative financial instruments

INTEREST By
TYPES,/ UMDERLYINGS. RATES INSTRUMENTS 31013

1. Over the counter

Rnancial derakves

- Far vae 38,643 38,643 59,865

- Kobanal amount 3,058,490 I,058490 2714388

(el desvatives . . . . . .

- Fair vale - -

TOTAL & 38,643 - - - 38,643 59,865

2. Dther - - - - - -

Fnandal dervalves - - - - - -

- Far vale - -

Credi] desvalives - - - - - -

- Far vaue - -

TOTAL B - - - - - -

TOTAL (A+B) 38,643 - - - 38,643 59,865

SECTION 5 - HEDGING DERIVATIVES - ITEM 50

5.1 Breakdown of item 50: Hedging derivatives

31/12/2013
B n AR vuus
N s ENEN
A, Financial denvatives 6,971 5598108 - 156,735 - 7 916,988
- Fair vate o500 4557, 136,461 5994857
- Cash flows 5462 £41,055 17 22,331
 FOlEgN IvESImEnts
TOTALA - 9,971 - sseE198 - 156,736 - 191698
B. Dedi dervatives - - - - - - - -
- Farvae
- Casn tiows
TOALE - - - - - - - -
TOTAL (A+B) - 69,971 - sses19E - 156,736 - 191698
1= Level 1
12- Level 2
L= Level 3

W= Notional value

This item reflects the fair value of the derivative coniracts entered into 1o hedge interest rate risks and indudes intérest acoued
& at year-end.

manges invaluein these contracts, according to the fair value method, are reported through profit and loss, in item 70 “Gains
(losses) on hedging activities” of the income statement.

5.2 Breakdown of item 50 “Hedging derivatives”: portfolios hedged and type of hedge

— - m
TRAMSACTION,/ TYPE OF HEDGE — -
RATE RATE (REDNT ( PRKE
RESK K

Auwalable-lor-sake Enancal assets
Receivables
. Rnangal assels held omatrity
Portiolio
. Diher ransackons
TOTAL ASSETS - - - - - - - - -
. Rnangal kabdibies
2. Portiolo -
TOTAL LIABILITIES - - - - - - - - -
1. Brperted IRnsackans
. Financal asset and kzbily porticio 0,509 5,462

o || e | =

u

The Qenefic ColUMmn Shows the amount of dervative contracts hedging the retal receivable portinlio. S coniracts Nave been
aCoounted for wilh e T3 value nedge (macronedge).

The cash fiow nedges refer o derivative contracts heddging interest rate fisk. Such condracts, which ane used tor long-tenmm rental
BCUVities, are PeCOQNIZE in ACCORGANCE With the cash Now hedge method.

SECTION 7 - TAX LIABIALITIES - ITEM 70
A Dreakdown of this item & provided in Secion 12 on the asset Side - Tax assets and labilities.

SECTION 9 - OTHER LIABILITIES - ITEM 90

9.1 Breakdown of “0ther liabilities”

1. Due in employees 3,558 4332
2. Opesating lease payanies 214,594 110,357
3. et vs kbt di previdenza 10,646 0,942
4. sungry payabies 306,915 159,476
Pavabies for goods and SETWEES 219,509 170378
e I INSLTANGE COMpAniEs 77,526 5577
e I5 CUSTOmEr 6,871 17558

e artviies 53,008 45623

TOTAL 535,713 284,107




The item “Operating lease payables” mainly includes payables for the purchase of cars and for services rendered to the Group's
long-term-rental comparnies.

Line itern *Payabies for goods and services” indudes:

- the provision of administrative, [ and payment services 2 armT's lengtn by companies of the FGA Group;

- incentives payabie to e FGA Group's dealer new ork;

- Charges payabie o dealers and banks, manty in Connection Wwith the Parent Company's OPerations.

The item *Due toinsurance companies” mainly relztes to sums due by the parent company and the subsidiary Leasys.

SECTION 10 - POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - ITEM 100
10.1 “Post-employment benefits”: yearly changes

A. Dpening balance 13,190 12,599
B. Increases 953 1,613
£ 1 Provisions for e year 366 75
B2 OMer Ingexes B 1,238
C. Decreases 1,513} (1,022)
L1 Pagments mage (877) (942)
.2 Oer deremes (636) ()
D. tleosing balance 12,630 13,150

(*) Following appliczion of the amendment 1o 1AS 19

This item reflects the residuzl obigation for severance indemnities which was required until 31 December 2006 under Ialian
legisiation 1o be paid 1o employees of Itakan companies with more than 50 employees upon termination of employment. This
SEVEFANCE Can e [aid in part 10 employees during NEr working Fves, if Cerain condiions are met.

POs1-BMEIOYMENE DENELS, & MBPONEd in e SLALEMENL of iNNCial POsIton, Epresent INE DESEnt Valug of s deringd Denest
obligation, s adjusted for actuarial gains and I0sses and 1o Costs relaling Lo aDour Senvices not previously recorded. Provisions
for defined benefit |I|'I.‘d(l'| pl.ans and the annual cost recorded in the income statement are determined by iI'IEE]IﬂUEﬂ[
aClUIaNES LSING e pojeced umit oedt method.

Post-employment benefits and ofher long-1erm emplayes Denefits are calculated on the basis of e following actuarial
ESSUMEAONS:

Discount rate 2.53%

Future salary inorease 2350

Inflztion rate 2.00%

EXpeCted TEHement age in keeping with e Iatest law provisions

Maortality table: 5102 {modified on the bass of nistorical datz)

TWMCVES average rates: 10.01%
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SECTION 17 - PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES - ITEM 110

11.1 Breakdown of item 110 “Provisions for risks and charges

1. Poonisions for retsement benebits and smilar chligatons 29,710 74,570
2. DANBI PRSI IoF EMpAOYEE 14743 9,537
3. PRIV o7 13K Tisks 10,353 10,266
A, Prvisons fof legal risks 3,083 3452
5. Prwisions for risks and charges relaled b0 operating beases 31,919 30,156
. PRONISIONS foF SUncry fsks 77,292 5,647

TOTAL 166,650 144,007

(*} Following application of the amendment io 145 19

Provisions for retirement benefits and similar obligations

This it8m iNCIUOEs prOVISions 107 PENsion plans set up by fofeion subsidiares for €23.2 million (Mainly FGA Bank Germary
GITIDH for €179 Milion), OINEr Provisions For 10ng-1emm employee Denefits for €5.9 milon. Dher provisions refect empiyes
bonuses for €12.8 million.

Provisions for risks and charges related to operating leases
This Provision MEinty consists of provisions: for IUILNe MEntenance and iNsWance costs 1of cars provided under operating lease
Conracts.

Provisions for tax disputes
This {12 FEIers 10 ProvEions in connecion with 1 figation and related chages.

Provisions for sundry risks

These prowisions include €39 milion related 1o risks associated, in the UK market, with the residual valee of vehidles financed
through FCPs (Personal Cantract PUFChase) @nd e CLstamer's voluntary 1efmination oplion, & permitted by locl legisiation.
The Temaining provisions are atrioutable in the various markets 1o risks related to he residuzl value of vehicles and, mare
generally, to commercizl risks.



11.2 Change during the year in item 110 “Provisions for risks and charges”

A. Dpening balance: 144,007 128,278

B. Increases a3,437 47,358
1.1 Provisians for the year 26475 27,934
B2 Olher increases 16,962 14,464

C. Decreases (20,793) (26,569)
1 User (20,793) (26,669)
€2 Dther decreases

D. Final batance: 166,651 144,007

{*) Following applicztion of the amendment 1o 145 19
Theitem “Other increases” reflects mainly exchange rate diierenes.
SECTION 12 - EQUITY - ITEMS 120 - 130 - 140 - 150 - 160 AND 170

12.1 Breakdown of item “share capital®

1. Share capital
1.1 Drinay shares 700,000
1.2 Oiher share
TOTAL 700,000

Share capital & ully pad in. It consists of 700,000,000 shares with & nominal value of €1 each and, al year-end 2013, was
unchanged Irom e previous year.

12.4 Breakdown and change in item 150 “Share premium resenve®
This it@m, amounting to €192, 746 000, did not CRange 1rom e previous yes.
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12.5 Other information

12.5.1 Breakdown and change in item 150 “Reserves”

RETAIMED
EARMINGS TOHL

A. Dpening belance 1,366 562,101 583,467
0. Incieases 1,608 165,225 166,833
E.1 Allocatan of proft 1,608 163,084 164,692
B2 Other thanges 2,141 2141
L. Deceases (30,554) (30,554)
L1 Uses (30,554) (30,554)
-I035 CovERgE
- dEtnbution (30,554) (30,554)
-raptaizaon
.2 Other changes
0. Fnal balance 72,974 696,771 719,746

12.5.2 Breakdown and changes in item 170 “Valuation reserve”

MALABLEFOR- | PROPERTY, SPECIAL SPECAL
SALEAMANDIAL | PLANT AND | INTAMGIBLE | CASH FLOW | peveitiamied| eewummon | TRanstamon
HUFMENT|  ASSETS|  HEDGES LAWS LAWSI RESERVE|  TOTAL
456 (1,398)

4. Dpening balane (12,586) MUz G614

1. Increases 6961 1349 8310
BRI Pastve dianges in 6,961 1,349 5310
1.2 Otes changes

[ Demeases (3.783) (5804)  (9,589)
€1 egatue changes (3785) (B4 (9589
C.2 Oter changes

1. Final balance (5,635) 56 (3,814) 14338 5335

The cash fow hedge reserve reflects the cumulztive changes in fzir value of the dervatives designaled as @sh fiow hedges.

The transiation reserve nefers 1o exchange rate differences ansing om he ransiaton of he fnandal sEaements of 1oreign
suDsidiaries with a reparting currency other han the euro.



SECTION 13 - NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS- ITEM 190

13.1 Breakdown of item 190 “Non-centrolling interests”

PART C - NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME
STATEMENTS

SECTION 1 - INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME - ITEMS 10 AND 20

1.1 Breakdown of item 10 “Interest and similar income®

DEAT
DESTRIPTION /INSTRUMENTS SECURITIES m OTHER [  31/12/2013

1. Share capital

1. ThedEUly Shares

3. Equily

4. Share prEMRIM Fesarne

5. Resenves 12,745 1,350

&. Valuakon reserve 4

7. Prolit {ioss) tor the yaar 1339 1,369
TOTAL 14,092 12,759

Mon-controling interests mainly consisted of the 50% interest held by thind parties in FGA Bank GmbH _ The remainder consists
of small non-controlling iMerests, mainky in FC France SA., FGA Capilal Hellas 5.4, FGA WNsurance Hellas (Greece) and Fad
Capital Irefand Pic (Irelznd).

RECONCILIATION OF CONSOLIDATED EQUITY WITH FGA CAPITAL S.P.AS

The: 12Dl below reconciles FGA Capital 5.p.A°s equity With ihe consolidated equity.

EQUITY OF WHICH PROFITFOR THE YEAR

1. Financial assets heid for iadng

2. Finandial #sets at firvale

3. Availaie-for-53e MNanGal E5T

&, Finandal F5es heq i manrty 145 145 07

5. Recevables 750,387 1,647 752,004 838,360
5.1 DuE fiom banks 1,647 1,647 3,805
5.7 Due from fnancal insttubans 136 135 135
5.3 DU tiom osiomen 750,151 750,251 B54,410

& Otner asets

7. Hedging cemvatves
TOTAL 145 750,387 1,647 752,179 58, 767

The amownt due Im DEnks under “0her” reters mainty 10 imMerest acorued in the CUIrent aCcounts of the SPEes.

1.3 Ereakdown of item 20 “Interest and similar expense”

DESTRIPTION /INSTRUMENTS DERT SECURITIES LOANS DTHER

. Due bo banks (192,753) (192,753) (258, 145)

. Dug b

. Due o customers (30) (498) (548) (218)

. Nales ised (110,034 (110,034 (102,292)

FGA Capital SpA - Separate financial statements 1,079,550 30,051
;n;nngmn E’m;‘&mm %mmmm 172888 18,776
Comsaldaton adusiments - -
Ebmination of swestments reporbed in FGA Capital 3.pA s
finzncial stalements = " A (1033051} -
EHTnaton of interomany dividends - (10000
Other porsalidation adpstments 12314 3063
G owners' equity and profit 1,788,157 170,330
Nan-conksaling inlerests 14,052 133
‘Total as per consolidated financial statements 1,802,249 171,668

. Finandal labilfies af far vaue

1
1z
3,
4
5. Fananckal | abiitees held for ieading
[
7
8

. e liabil es
. Hedging demvatves (77,657) {77,657) {84,577)
TOTAL (192,803)  (110,034)  (78,155) (380,992) (447,432)

Interest i0 Customers fefers io nterest acoued on ne sequnty deposits posted oy dealers with the Parent Company.



SECTION 2 - FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSE - ITEMS 30 AND 40

2.1 Breakdown of item 30 “Fee and commission income”

1. Finance bease ramactons 8387 TE1E
2. Factodng Hansackons 16,839 16,048
3. Befmil fnance iramackons =6, 982 75756
4, Merchan bani ng ackvites
5
&

prowided

. Senvices:

- tund ‘on befait of third partes g

- cumeniy trading

- product dista bution

- olhes

7. Payment and il EClon Senvices

&. Fenvidng of secumiization ransadions

9. DIEr MM Ssions 35, 783 43,387
TOTAL 153,001 143,609

Commissions on retzil financing fransactions reflect mainky-

- 61.7 million on insurance products not attributable to a sngle loan contract;

- 23.3 million in recoveries of collection charges from customers;

- 2.6 million in commissions for early repay ments.

The item Other commissions refers to the Irish subsidiary for revenues received in connection with re-insurance activities.

2.2 Breakdown of item 40 “Fee and commission expense”

1. Guaraniees rewived (13) (33)
2. Senvices received Irom third parties {16,571) (14,432)
3. Payment and mileckon senvices (3,417) (6,226)
4. Dther lees and mmmissions {33,040) {33,245)

TOTAL (53,041) (53,936)

The item *Services received from third parties” mainly represents costs for services supplied to ustomers in the insurance and
finance lease businesses.

The item *Payment znd collection services” mainly represents cost for the collection of finance lease payments and retail lan
installments.

The item *0ther fees and commissions” represenis commission expenses and other expenses related to the insurance activity.
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SECTION 4 - PROFIT (LOSS) FROM TRADING ACTIVITIES - ITEM 60
4.1 Breakdown of item &0 “Profit {loss) from trading activities”
e
DESCRIFTION, RESULT INCOME LGS L1055 (LOSS)
1. Financial asssts

1.1 Debl sequnbies
1.2 EJuity instruments and UCITS shares)/
s

1.3 Loans
1.4 Other assets
2. Anancial lizbilities
2.1 Diebls securites
2.2 Fayailes
2.3 Other kil tes
3. Ainancial assets and kabiliies: exchange mie

4. Financial 21,375 (22,782) {1,407}
5. Credil dervatives
TOTAL 1,375 (11,783} (1,407}

The items reflects changes in the f&r value of assets and liabilites held for trading.
SECTION 5 - GAINS (LOSSES) OM HEDGING ACTIVITIES - ITEM 70

5.1 Breakdown of item 70 “Gains (losses) on hedging activities”

1. Income: from:
1.1 Hedging ilems at i vae 4,706
1.3 Hedged 2asats {fr value hedge) 45,465
1.3 Hedged Labilies (2 vale hedge) 9,971 7,262
1.4 Cash Fiow hedges
1.5 Other

TOTAL INCOME FROM HEDGING ACTIVITIES (A)
ACTIVITIES () T4,627 5,717

1. Expenses related fo:
2.1 Hedging ilems at i vane {52727)
2.3 Hedged assets {fir value hedge) (74,617) -
2.3 Hedged kabilies (i vale hedge) {10}
2.4 Cash Fiow hedges
2.5 Other
TOTAL LOSES FROM HEDGING ACTIVITIES (E) (T4627) (52,727)
GAINS (LOSSES) DM HEDGING ACTIVITES {A-B) - -

This item neflects the changes in far value of dervalive contracts recogrized as finandial assets and liabilities neld for trading.



SECTION 7 - GAIN (LO55) ON SALE OR REPURCHASE - ITEM 90

7.1 Breakdown of item 90 “Gain (loss) on sale or repurchase”
T
DESCRIPTHIN
[ [ oo | an | ox o

1. Fnancial Assels

1.1 Ferenabkes

1.2 Avvlilable Jor sale assels - - BED 240

1.3 Hekd o maturty assets

TOTAL (1) - - - 860 - 860

2. Fnancial liabilities

2.1 Baiowings

2.2 Bonls

TOTAL (2) R R

TOTAL (1)+(2) B - - 260 B 860

Theitem 2012 reflected & gain on dispasal in connection with A-Best Seven securiization orginated by Hokding FGA Capital.

SECTION 8 - IMPAIRMENT,/REINSTATEMENT OF VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS - ITEM 100

8.1 “Net provision for risk of non performing provision®”

B T PEMENTS SPECIFIC PORTFOLID
3112/ 2013

1. Duwe ioam banks
- lEasing
- facioring
- oiher recavabies
5. Due from financial
- islihubions
Han-perirming kans purchased
- leasing

- facioring
- phher recavabies
Other Recervabies
- lEasing
- facioring
- oEher recEvalies -
3. Due fiam osiomes (109,068) (28,337} 21,989 13,370 (101,041} (110,301)
Nan-perionming oans purchased
- leasing

- refal Enandng
- oler fecEvaies

Diher Rerevabies
- lesing (17,861} (4,408) 5,720 4,986 {11,554 {10,696)
- taciuring {7,256} (10,022} B, 540 1,292 {7,445) (7,318)
- relail inanang (58,024) (11,233} 3,626 4291 {61,340) (75,522)
- DiNer fecEvabies (25,027) (2,669) 5,094 1,801 (20,701} (16,765)
TOTALE {(109,068) (28,332) 22,989 13,370 (101,041) __ (110,301)

Compared with the previous year, Ine cost of risk was better an in e previous year.
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SECTION 9 - ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES - ITEM 110

9.1 Breakdown of item 110.a “ Personnel expenses”

VOCl/SETTOR! 31/12/2013 m

1. © {130,862) (130,769)
) wages and saanes {87,911) {B8,357)
b} insurance and social contributions (22,643) {Z2,070)
) post-empliyment benemts {2,253 (2.415)
) sooal secunly ooninbulons - -
&) oS 0S 107 pst-employment benetits (388) (219
1) pevision for retirement benefits and samilr {1,647) (2.602)

- defined {150) (174
- detined benetits {1,497) (2,428)
1) payments o exemal supplementary pension funds: {2,068) (3.621)
- detned {2,065) (3.621)
- detined benetits
h) oiher expenses {13,963) {11,385)

2. Other employees in service (5141) (3,833)

3. Directors and stabsiory audiors {30y (188)

d. Retired employees

5. oweries for employees seoonded 1o other

[ for employees seconded to other
TOTAL (136,304) (134, 788)

(*} Following application of the amendment io 145 19

9.2 spedfic and average headcount by category

_ AVERAGE 2013 31z 3 MVERAGE 2012 3112/2012
13 7a 6E

Managers &7
Derks 1,858 1,869 1,877 1,861
TOTAL 1,925 1,935 1,947 1,929




9.3 Breakdown of item 110.b “Other administrative expenses”

DESCRIPTION, AREAS 31/12/2013

. Cosultng and prless onal sEnvices (25,191) {26,388)

1
2. 0P msts (27,377} (24,577
3. Fents and ublites m,n {11,327
4. IECt and cEer (aEes (10,134) {10700
5. Adverlising and promotion expenses {4, B0E) (6,818)
6. Diher expermes (3,937 {9,350)

TOTAL (82,564) {89, 660)

SECTION 10 - AMORTIZATION -IMPAIRMENT,/REINSTATEMENT OF VALUE OF TANGIBLE ASSETS ITEM 120

10.1 Amortization-lmp / of value of ible assets
o
DESCRIPTION DEPRECIATION IMPR IRMENT VALUE
1. Assets usad in production (1,674) (1,64)
1.1 mwn
a) land
b) builings
c) fumi e (524) (524)
) (221 (721}
€) other (325) (323)
1.2 under finance lease
a) land
1) buskdings
©) tumitue
) equipment
€) other (203) (203)
2. Assets held for invesiment puipases (258,004) (258,004)
of WITECIT povided Wnde  Gperaiing I35e mnlmis (258,004) (258,004)
TaTAL (25%,678) (259,678)

This item reflect mainly changesin value of assels under operaling lease contract.

SECTION 11 - AMORTIZATION - IMPAIRMENT/REINSTATEMENT OF VALUE OF INTANGIBLE
ASSETS ITEM 130

11.1 Amartiz ation-Impairment,/Reinstatement of value of intangible assets

REINSTATEMENT OF
CESCRIPTION AMORTIZATION VALUE HET RESULT

1. Goodwil
2. Other assets (4,855) (4.855)
21 own {4,855) {4,855)

2.2 under Enande ease contracls
3. Assets inder finance lease
4. Assets provided under operating bease conbacts
TOTAL {4,855) {4,855)

Reserves to provisions for risks and charges related fo leasing include the reserves (negative value) and profits {positive value)
in connEections with IIwe Mantenzance and insurance provisions.

SECTION 13 - PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES - ITEM 150

13.1 Breakdown of item 150 “Provisions for risks and charges”

REINSTATEMENT OF REMSTATEMENT OF

1. mwm‘“m ElalEd o (13,503) 2,051 (12,823) 12,405
11 AINWE Maifenance proveion (12,597) 1590 (16,795 .87
1.7 SEll-INSURANCE pIovE Ons (506, 460 (zezn 2569

2. PIOMESONS 10 giher 15k and chaiges (5,501) 506 (15,073) 3,330

3. Terhnical insurance resenve (5,26€) 2,650 7719 240
ToOTAL (28,771) 7,206 (33,615) 18,183
NET AMOUNT (17,065) (15,433)

SECTION 14 - OTHER OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES - ITEM 160

1. (Diher operaing ncome 695,374

2. Diher aperating expenses (316,090) (328,574)
TOTAL 379,284 402,393




14.1 Breakdown of item 160 “0Other operating income”

1. BEpEnsE mvenes 11,771 33,360
2. income from opessting leases 656,515 85, B33
3. Income Iron Bnance kease 3752 3643
A, Suny Income 3,335 7,531

TOTAL 695,374 730,967

Expense recovenies reflect mainty the chargeback to customers by the Parent Company for legal and tax costs, aedit collection
costs and operzting costs inourred on their benall.

INCOIME MO Operating leases refers mainty to:

- €366.9 million in 1ees irom Gr leases;

- €182.9 million in fees from services related to car rentals;

- €685 million expenses recovered oM CUSIDMENs on car rentals;

+ €108 million for subsides and discounts receved Oy e FaA Group and dealers;
- €269 million in gains an disposals of rental cars.

14.2 Breakdown of item 160 "0Other operating expenses”

2

1. Credil GOBECHON Expenses (16,561) (210,609)
2. Inlormakan dhages {1,750) (4,716)
3. Diher expemes: (257,739) (303,248)
3.1 france Jexe Cages (283,058) (291510)
3.2 gperating lease diages #3337 (3345)
3.3 monfmd expenses (6,674) (6,047)
3.4 undry darges (4670) (2343)
TOTAL (316,020) (328,574)

The item *Other charges - Long 1em rental charges” mainly inCILdes costs reflated 10 rental customer assistance (€132.5
million], iNSWance casts (€54.9 million) and Isses Irom the sake of cars (e34 million).
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SECTION 17 - TAX ON INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS - ITEM 190

17.1 Breakdown of item 190 “Income tax on continwing operations”

1. Cument aes {86, 340)
2. CHangesin LS of pesius years (1,216)
3. Decrease in current taees far the year

s, Recurton of cUMent Tes or the pesod oUE 10 3 et under Law 214/7011
4. Change in defened lax assels 16,481 3,188
5. Change in detered fax kabiibes {4,799 (5,799)

TAX ON INCOME FROM CONTINUING DPERATIONS (75,848) {90, 167)

This item reflects taxes for the year and the change in defemed fax assets and liabilites poourred during the sale period.

The consolidated 18y rate rose rom 35.1% in 2012 b0 30.6% in 2013, due in essence to he inoreased defemed taxes relaied
to the Fequiation change, depreciztion nd oredit 10sses.



SECTION 19 - INCOME STATEMENT: ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

19.1 - Breakdown of interest and commission income

FIMANOAL
=
TOKE | CUSIOMERS

(COM MISSION INCOME

DESCRIPTION, SOURCE OF INCOME
@ e | Nz
1. Fnane keases 115,711 - - B3I97 124708 137470
- real estate
- mionvalila property 1571 RIS 148 117470
- equipment
- intangle st
2. Facioring 143,077 16,539 158,916  I0Z808
- cument recelables
- hebure receivables
- pUIChased o non-feurse bass BS,622 16839 102461 139526
- recenwabies purchased below e par value
- lher recevables 57,455 STA55  €3,272
3. Retail financing 491,452 - - BE9EI  SEOA4  G14FTT
- persanal kars
- special pupose |oans 491,462 EE9E?  SEQ444 614773
- wage nans
4. G and commitments -
- of a commercial natwe
- of 2 Enangal nature
TOTAL 750,250 - - 114,218 BE4,468 954641

PART D - OTHER INFORMATION
SECTION 1- DESCRIPTION OF THE GROUP'S MAIN BUSINESS ACTIVITIES
A. FINANCE LEASES

The tollowing table contains & breakdown of recevabies ansing Irom finance ese conracls by due date.

ts and gross imv by maturity range

A2, - Distribution of non-performing assets, minimum pay

- on demand 236

“upmImonins | 4647 158301 2583 162,948 2724 184181 EMI 46905
-between Imonths 6511 471811 64312 47TE3N2 UR0E 383487 56713 393,295
and 1year

“betwesn1and5 7,860 080,053 BI,113 10EEEIS 5821 1,185,800 101525 1,191,621
years

~over 5 years A6 13613 2274 2409 B 3126 ]

- Unepented manrty

TOTAL 19,670 1,736,646 17418 1,756,316 18,617 172,137 184767 1,780,754

A3, - Distribution of lease finance contracts by qualty and type of asset leased

OF WHICH OF WHICH
DOUBTAUL DOUBTFUL

31/12/2013

31/12/2012

A, Redl estale
- [and
- Buildings 21046 5,910
8. Equipment
L. Movabie praperty:
- Mofor vefides
- Airgaft and roling 5 fodk
- Dmer
D D Infangibie assets
- Tademarks
- Soffware
- Dmer
TOTAL 1,736, 647

1,734,540 1,715,227 19670 7369 18,607 gl

1,722,137 19,670 7,369 18,617 10,121
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Finance leases reter mainly o financng provioed for motor vehicles of the FGA Group's brands.

Non-performing receivables are considered uncollectibie, i Whole of in part, on the basis of objective evisence and, as sth,
have been written down.

Bad loans refer to recénvables that, based on objeciive evidence, are considered uncollectinie.

Ad. - Classification of assets covered by finance lease contracts

UNDPTED ASSETS B OTHER ASSETS
TERMINATION
31/12/2003 | 31732/202 | 3179272013 | 31/12/2012 | 31127201 | 31/12/2012

A Real eslate
- Land

- Rullings

]
€ Mavabile property. 698 281 4513 1,920 5437 1,655
- Mofor vemdes 698 881 4523 1,920 5437 1,655
- Aatand miing stock
- Omer
0 assets
- Imgemars
- Software
~Omer
TOTAL 698 881 4,523 1,920 5437 1,655

AS. - Details of value adjustments

HI REASES DECREASES

Tim FROM TFMI‘EI
HEER SRS E.'SH

- Delnguent

~ Overdue .
Mvatie prperty 375 IWE - 3827 0 (5729) @0 (15827)  (743) 24854
- Delnguent WHE 11395 1727 0 (1934) (L417)  (13,346) - 14399

9606 3607 102 - ey (4410)  (1589)  (386)  Aeds

- Dverdue 4B9 2,053 1,998 {71 {1,198) (892) (156)  5E0
Intangble assets - - .
- Dedinguent

TOTAL 31,795 1861 - 3,827 701 (5729 - (L030) (15827) (742) 24,856

Portiolio on
other asets

- Real estale 3 . - 981 [3) . - w91

- MOVabiE prperty 12314 4408 3,372 1530 (4,980) (165)  (2,579) 13,896
- Infangible asets - .

TOTAL 12,330 4408 - 3 2,511 (4988) - (169)  (2579) - 1438
TOTAL 4115 12369 - 7,199 3,22 (0TIS) - (T,199) (15406) (742) 39743
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B. FACTORING AND SALE OF RECEIVABLES

B.1 - Gross and carmying amount

B.1.1 - Factoring transactions

DESCRIFTION JAMOUNT IJ.HI'I'ING (.ﬂ IH\'
MOUNT

1. Performing reewables 1371898 (49,551 3.3:3,34.5 307,647 (35154) 3,111,193
- Exposine iowand assqnors (wilh recourse) TEASE - TEA56 5§ 436 - 58,436
- Sales of Ut rersvabies
~omer 78456 78,456 53436 55,436
- Exposute Iwird 265 gned detiors 3794447 (49553) L2488 3083211 (35,154) 3054057
2. Mon-performing 183358 (22,038) 16,000 16314 (ILE1) 184483
2.1 Doubtiul foans s3I0 (13554) 3466 /578 (106l 17,568
- EEPUSUNE IW I SsSAQnOrs {with recmarse) - - - - -
- sales of w2
- Otmer
E';,Pg“m“ ““ge}m*“ 52420 (13954 35466 1578 (10610) 1,568
-~ Puichases al less than nominal value
- Otmer 52420 (13054) 38466 757 (10610) 17,558
11 93,145 (6596) 85,530 137,578 (14681) 123,294
- Exposure Ioward assignors {with remurse) - - - -
- Sales of lufwe
-~ omer
. ;P;:f[m’ge}m*m 93,146 16,556) 86,550 137575 (14688) 123,294
- Puithases al less than nomnal value
- Otmer 7,146 (65%6)  B6550 137578 (4gRY) 123,204
2.1 Restructured 305 (203) 1,843 35,237 (634) 3453
- EAPASUNE Iwar Sssanors fwith recourse) - - -
- Sales of w2
- Other
- g‘";g‘frm’ge}mﬂm 37046 (2m) 1,80 /1T (684} 53
- Puichases al less than nominal value
-~ other 33,046 (203) 1840 5,727 (634) 3453
2.4 Overdee 5,646 (1,455 1,161 14531 5843)  geas
- EPOSUNE Iw I SsSAQnOTs (Wit IEcourse) - . -
- sales of futwe
- Other
- ;ﬁ:&ﬂ;ﬁmuu 5646 [1,485) 2,161 14531 (5843} 8688
- Pwrhases al less than nommal value
- Other 5646 11,485) 2,160 14531 (5845) g6
TamL 3556156 (71,791) 3,484,365 3,363,961 (66,985 3,296,976

MNON-peEmorming oans, verdue receivabies excepied, are based on the entire position of Countemparties wilh overdue amounts.
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B.2 - Maturity ranges

B.2.1 - Factoring transactions with recourse: advances and receivables

- m
MATURITY RANGES
317122013 1z 3112/ 2013 2
- Om demand

1,652
- Up i 3 months 50,303 [ErEn 50,393 43,832
- Between 3 and & months 10,770 5717 10770 5717
- Ficam 6 MOnths bo 1 year 17,793 7,235 17,293 705
- Over 1 year - -
- Unsgeaed matuty
TOTAL TR 456 58,436 T, 456 58,436

B.2.2 - Factoring transactions non recourse: exposures

EXPOSURES
MATURITY RANGE
- On demand 3,733 31,438
- Up o 3 montns 1,685,704 1,700,767
- Between 3 and & manths 669,788 581,087
- Fiom & months bo 1 year 1,014,386 25,074
- Over 1year 198 174
- Unsgeabed matury
TOTAL 3,405,509 3,238,540




8.3 - Adjustments

B.3.1 Factoring transactions

DESCRIPTION
= [ [ s - [
AMOUNT Wi OTEER SRNS HANGES OTHER SIATIS | WORITE-0

mbg IE 7,256 4TI - (B,540) (3879 (2841)  (BTIN) ILI3E
Eeposure towand
NS

- Coutitd

- Substandard

- Restruciurer!

- Dverdue
g‘g‘;“g% nE 7,556 6748 - (8540 (4875 (2441) (873 22,238
- ot mem 573 6748 (3,093) (538)  (2435)  (3068) 13,958
- Substanderd MEM 15M (5395) (2B36) - (1311 6396
- Restnciured 54 - - - () - {57)  m
- Dvere 543 7 (52) (az1) B (o 1485
ool s ESE L M mae (L) aus @ @ e
- Expazure loward

FTNONS

mm EERCT Tl 146 BEA  (1297) (30s) (67) {z41)  4m553
TomaL 66,585 17,178 4B R8s (3E1) 6894 (3508 (5978 71,791

C. RETAIL FINANCING

The tabike DElow Contzins & DIeakamwn of recevables ssng ITom retail inancng. For each category, it shows he alkwance
Mae A0ZNS! e 03NS [B0EVADE.

*Gross value” & the sum of all future repayments, incuding principal and interest, minus frznsaction cosls and TEVENUES, in
BCCOFOENCE WiLh (e amortized cost metnod.

C.1 Breakdown by type
_
Ny —
AMOUNT AMOUNT
1 Performing receivables &7TITTI (4T270)  &6B4S00  GSTEEBED  (AETED) 6,532,122
- personal foans 2435565 (231156) 2415413 1585209 (15977) 15969797
- spedal- puIpase loans 4293300 (4104) 4260088 459373 (307EE) 4 56LEES
- Wage-assqnment ioans - -
2. Non-parforming 93,771 (76,521) 16,750 114817 (84479) 25188
Personal loans 18,850 (15074) 3776 14,488 19,289 519
- dougtiul 5294 (7,462) B32 5163 (7416} 747
- sustandard 5,982 (4,590) 1,392 10,600 {7,992) 1,608
- restructued 1,836 (1,355) 281 937 (786) 151
- overdue 1738 (1,667) 1071 4788 3095) 1,693
- pIpse AT 74421 (61,447) 12,974 90329 (67,140} 73189
- doubing A6 445 (42,243) 420 63,975 {51,453} 12522
- substandan 107312 (8,057) 1,675 9917 (6975} 1,542
- Estuchured 334 13 21 84 {158) 526
- IvEsLe 16,910 (10,134) 6776 15753 {B554) 7,199
Wiage-assgnment loans - . - - -
- doubind
- restruchured
- owendue - -
TOTAL 6,825,042 (123,791) 6701251 6,693,699 (133,189) 6,560,510

Special-pUpPose I0ans iMVoVe 3 CI0SE CONMECTIon With e purchase of goods. THe GIoup COMpanies pay the amount financed
directy to the dealer that provioes the product or SENCE to the customer.

Personal 10ans incluge all Calegodes of general inans. In INese cases, e receivables arse Mo a direct relationship Detween
the Group subsidiary and INe CUSLOMEr in relation 1o such QUStomer's general SPending needs.



C.2 Classification by maturity and quality

MATURITY RANGE
31/12/2011 31/12/’20!3 31/12/20‘1

- up 1o 3 months 764313 161 3729

- between 3 months and 1 year |,n7,s|s 1833143 1982 12,702

- between 1and s years 4,128,286 3824175 8966 11,687

- ove 5 years 158,051 110,486 191 270

- unspeciies matusty

ToTAL 6,684,501 6532122 16,750 28,388

Non-pertorming receivables are consilered uncollectible, in Whole o in part, on the basis of objective evidence and, as such, have
been written down.

Badl ¥oans refer 10 recévables that, based on objective evioence, are consicered uncollectidie.
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€3 Adjustments

VARLATIONI IN DIMINUZIONE

mmm H--mﬁm
NEER SRS OTHER STANE

Spedlicly onnon- gy g2 el - (38 #9666 78521
Personal bans I 79T - 2417 noonn - - (12,397) (45} 15074
- Doubifg TAIE 1578 580 2 E . EFaMz (21 7A@
LD s 5 (224) - 4419 (23 4500
TEG w09 - 1 - - (341} - 135
- Overdue 107 1381 1359 1 [ - {4,195) - 1667
pedabpuposelEns 5208 13567 - 1,338 i asm - (1385)  (F269)  (S00) 61447
- Do 5453 25409 W {2,163) 791 (36717)  (s0m)  A224
W5 1300 368 3 (352) (875 (362) - q0s7
. 158 - - - (143) - - 13
- Dverdue 9612 1,858 - - (1,158} {190) - 10,134
Wage-assinment IEns - R
- Doupms
- Dverdue
x“‘&"" other a&TE0 1IEm - 1,108 471 (@) - (3475)  (5585)  (2650) 47270
- 5% E1% 4w (m) (857} (4,137) 13,15
- wm WTEE 2,807 1,105 {3,960 (R618)  (1,848)  (3,650) 24114
TOTAL 133,189 52779 - 4,860 418 (79T - (4860) (55251) (3196) 13IM




L. OTHER ASSETS

L.1 - Other Loans: @ross amount and carmying amount

31/12/2013
m

CARRYING
LIJT AMOUNT

spedifically on non- (43,952) 22,305 To264  (49,569)
- Doubthul _u,mu 128,296) 404 31,955 (23,922) sm:a

. 9,721 (5,620) 4101 14,136 (0,388) 4748

- ReEstactueed 17,146 {7.853) 5,293 15516 (7,718 7,798

- verdue 4690 (2,183) 1,507 17,657 (B,541) 9116

Portialio on other activilies 1664322 (11748) 1,651,574 1,291,851 (13,62)  1,27R659
TOTAL 1730579 (S5704) 1674879 1371115 (6L731) 1,308,384

L.2 - OTHER LOANS: Classification by maturity and quality

OTHER LOANS -PERFORM ING

OTHER LOANS- NON PERFORMING

31/12/2013 31712/ 2012 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

OF WHICH OF WHICH
:DUBTFUL DOUETFUL

- on gemand 176.751 1.484

- up o 3 manths 372.869 275.415 EA20 2147 11.752 1308

- BEwEeEn 3 and & montns BT7.152 77656 1.638 1599 1174 526

- between & maonths and 1 year 180432 131.573 5.1%6 1633 4567 kL)

- wes 1 year T85.330 792201 7.051 1025 12162 5.15%

- unspecified matusty

TOTAL 1.652.574 1.278.689 22305 6.404 19.695 B.032

L.3 - Other loans: adjustaments

OTHER LOANS - MON PERFORM ING

OTHEI! LOANS IN BONIS
E-EE%

5"""“”"' oanon 49560 118 (5094) (4033) @355 @) 43952
. numm neE 448 6071 B5 (4408 (600} (22,000} 8,29

9 71 - 650) @745 @4 @) e
e 1718 5w 38 (685} 5) 7,853
- verdue 851 27 m - @) (gem) 218
Podiclo cother 340 ge0 210 1385 (zao) (4245)  (438) 11748
TomL 62731 28,596 - 8282 1,508 (1,895) -  (282) (23,043) (7,217) 55700
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SECTION 2 — SECURITIZATION TRAMSACTIONS AND SALES ON RECEIVABLES
C.1 - Securitization transactions and sales of receivables

QUALITATIVE INFORMATION

Strategy and processes underpinning receivables securitization transactions

The Group companies enter into securifization transacions and sales of receivables with 2 view o achieving thee objeciives:

1) diversification of funding sources: SeCurtizafion is an important spurce of Tunding for e Group, as an altemative 1o traditional
bank financing;

Z) ennancement of the quidity position: the GIoup's ability 10 SECUNte recEvalies Fepresents an iMpIEnt suppart 1 the
Group's liquidity position. The excellent performance of the secud lization ransactions entered into to date, cupled with the
sound reputation of the Group companies operating as “servicers”, allows acoess to this financial instrument, even in case
of uncertainty in the financial markets;

3) optimization of cost of funding: e SIUChIGng of Secun iZation ransactions and e quality of the receivable parttoio sold
make it possible - hanks 250 1o INe Mignest rating 1o the partiaio - 1o ACCess mnding at a very atractive cost.

Types of securitization transaction

There are essentizlly thiee ditferent fypes of sewurilization tansactions:
&) "Warenouse + ABS Tevoling of amoriang” transactions

D) "ABS revDlVing of amizing” ransackions

€) “Conduit” transactions.

SECUntizaton WANEACtons Under &) above Mvone two Gstinct phases:

Warehousing phase

During s phase, e securitized portiolo is oradually buill- up 1o the pre-established amount - INFowgN e Special PLpose
Venick: (SPV) making a number of SUCCessive pUrdiases of recevanles over @ predelermingd time frame.

The 5PV finances the purchase of these receivables by issuing seres of assel-backed securities in two different classes: the
Senior Motes, subscribed in full by banks or Conduit entities which finance the purchase of such Noles by issuing commercizl
paper, and the Junior Notes, which are subscribed in full by the Orginator companTy o by another compary of the Group.

ABS phase (optional)

If this course of action is taken, the ABS phase commences - when the securilized portfolio reaches a level considered
appropriate and market conditions are considered favourable - with the issuance and placement of different classes Asset
Barked Secunties (ABS SECUNLEs) wilh ELNopean prolessional investors. ABSS PI2ced in the Manke! can De issued siner by he
SETIE SAV USEd OUring the Warehousing phase of the PIogramme of by 3 new SPV, in s case aNer e ranster of the partioiio
LpON TEpAyMEnt of Me Notes issued during the Warehousing phase.

ABS Notes issued during the ABS phase are assigned 4 pubdc rating by at least one Rating Agency and are normally fisted on
& reguiated stock exchange.



The ABS Phase can be either “revolving” - where the Originator can assign, from Gme to §me, new receivables in accordance
Willh the restrictions set out by e SECUritization ConMract, 101 @ [e-5et pefiod of GME, 50 a5 10 Maintain e exsing porfolio
equal to that at the Gme of ssue - of “amonizing”, wilh e portiolio decining in size, singe the Originalor cannal assign
additional receivables.

AL Ihe &nd Of the revoning Pefod, of SinCe e iSSuance of he ABSS - in Case e ABS PIase is amorizing - e amoitization
of the portialio will detenmine the repayment of e issued secunlies according o the priority of payments contraciually
detemmined.

This type of siructure was zdopted for MIXES THREE and NIXES FOUR (ihese are cumendly in the amortizing phase, given that ihe
warehousing phase, which ended in December 2011, was not foliowed By an ABS phase) and NIKES FIVE.

*ABS revoiving or amortizing” ransactions under bj above e structured in sUch @ Way as to periorm a single sale of
recenvanles only by e Ongingtor COmpany 1o the Special PUrpose Venioe (SPY) oeated 1or the Irarsaction. The SV then
isUes several classes of Asset Backed Secwilies, placing them with European protessional imvestors, and uses the proceeds
o purchase e portiolio.

AlSDin his case, e ABS phase may De either “revaling” of "amaorizing”, with efecls on the repayment of the ARSs ssued
as described under a) above.

This structure has been adopted ako for the ioliowing fransactions:
A-BEST FOUR, A-BEST FIVE, A-BEST SEVEN and A-BEST HGHT.

These Iransactions afe structured 10 Allow 1or the sale of recevables - up 1 the MaXimum Bmit of 2 programme - to an SPV
purchasing the receivables over a pre-detenmined period of time.

The purchase of these partfolios of receivables is inanced by the procesds of the issue of two different Casses of securities:
SEniCT SeOUties subscribed by banks and Conduwit entities which, in turm, inance he purchase throwgn the issue of shor
term securities such as commercial papers, typically with the nelp of the amanger banks; Senior securities subsaibed by the
Criginator Compary of by anainer company so as (0 make up the difference between the recsvaiies sold and the maximum
amount subscribed by Conduits oF Danks; 2nd JUNior SEOTES SUDsCRbed by the Orginator Company or by another Group
COMmpary.

The Originm may, fram Gme o [il'nE, sell new receivables that fulfil the terms of the securitization transaclion contract for up
103 pre-detenTined aMoUnt, over a period thatis ypically knger tNan thiee years. UNike e ransactions described unoer &)
and b above, at the end of the [evoNing period the securities are not paced with investors, s Ne portiolio starts amortizing
and repayment of INe Securities issued DEGIN, CCording to the prority Set by contract,

The ERASMUS, FCT FAST 2 2nd STAR securitizztions reflect that structure,
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Revolving structure

TNE FEVaNING Ensactions described abive Can k0 Prvioe, 1o @ BMiled period of GMe, 107 e SPY 10 PUICTESE A0mNonal poriios
COntning recevabies of the same iegal fype and bUsiNess ofigin and Similar risk profile, NN SUCh pUAChases solely with the
coliection of the receivables neld in the portholio exiting at the time the ABSs wene issued and which had been previously assigned
Iy e Qriginatr.

THE IevaNing Srucine makes it pessbie 1o cover the fied costs of the ransachion oves & KNGer pesiod, thus opSmiEng te cost of
1he transaction. At the end of e revoning phase, the ABSS BSUed e Pepdid BCConding 10 1he repayment profile of the underying
repeivabies.

Liquidity management (liquidity line)

The Originator may be requested in @very transacion, and in manners that can be formally different rom one anothes, to allocete &
IUIELY @ OF & CA5N QEposit 10 SLppan the SPV.

The amount of the ine of liquidity is contraciually determined (fypically as 2 percentage of the receivable portiolic) and is intended to
ensure that the SPV can meet temporany cash shortialls (ypically, at payment dates) that might arise under the payment “waterfall”
descrined DEaw.

“Waterfall” structure
The *walerlall" sinucture identifies the priorifies for the allocation of the cash availabie within the SPV. Typically, secuilization
transaclions adopt smilarwaterall struciures, providing for a pre-defined order of payments on each payment date.

In case of SeCTEalons orginaea o retail iNandng Fecevaies, & dsinction is generally Made ety 2en the “INCome” (equivalent
10 the discount rale caiculation applied to the sale ol e receivables) and *Prindpal® companents of the funds received by the SPY,
ROVIENG, i BSSENCE, 10 INE ICWing CAlEQONEs of paymment:

INCOME

(&) 5PV expenses (mainly costs refating to Service Froviders of e transaction)
() Swaps (coniracts agreed 1o hedge e SPV's interest rate risk)

(C) Paymenis 1o 1he Servicer

{d) Interest on securties

(€) Reinstatement fremuneration of Liquidity fine

() Frovision for overdue receivabies

(g} Dther payments

PRINCIPAL

(&) Coverage of any payments required but not made under INCOME waterfall 2 above
(b) Furchase of repeivables (duding revolving period)

{C) Repayment of secwrities issued (21 end of any revaiving pesiod)

(d) Other payments



In the case of securitirations originated from dealer financing receivables, due o the different features of the portiolio, the 5PV
usually Manages the [olowing infiows:

(&) Cument account balances

() Pefease of funds rom the Cash Reserve siruchre
(£) Collection of receivables

() Issuanoe of New Senior Notes

(&) Issuanoe of new Junior Notes

10 Make e Tollowing payments:

(&) SPV expenses

(b} Interests on the Senior Notes

(c) Frovision to Cash Reserve

(d) Purchase of receivables (dusing revohving period)
() Pepayment of Senior Notes (if amy)

(I} Interests on junior Notes

(g) Repayment af Jurior Notes (it any)

Servicing activity
Wilhin e FGA Capital Group, e Onginalor 3005 aways as e SENVCer in SEitizalion Fansackions. In aodiion, FGA Capital
acts & COOMGNEMr in the ERASMUS Iransaction and & Performance GUSrantor in the ERASMUS, NIKES FIVE, NIXES SIX and
A-BEST EIGHT transactions.

The role of Servicer Tequines compiance with @ Senes of gualitsive SLaN0ands reganding Proper Management of e &sets
Daking he SeCUrities issued by e SPY, and 2n appropriate organizational SEUCIUNe in terms of operations and skills.

The Senvicer's operational respons iiities include:

4) handling contracts in accordance with its Credit and Collection Polcies and applicable laws and regulations, in agreement
Wil e SPY @ with the Trustee ;/ REpresentative of Notenalders of INe TEansactions. THe SErVCer is alsa Tequired 1o inform
N RALNG AQENGES O 3 TEIEVENT EVENL;

b recording collections of instaiments and recoveries, Wansteming the amounis to the SPY. The coliecled amounts ae
fransterred by the Servicer of each fransaction to the SPY with the frequency applicable under each iransadiion (normally daily)
and the amounts collecied are held in interest beaing cument acoounts uniil the first available payment date, when they are
USEQ 10 Make pEyMEnts in BCCOrgance with e waleral, of AEmatvely, in (e of Tansackions in e Warenousing of ABS
REVDIVING PIAses, until ey are used 10 PUICNase J00ional regey ables;

) monitoring, reporting and contral of the transacion (ihe Paying Agent/Calkulation Agent/Agent Bank acivities are assigned
to 2N incependent bank).

Tne raling agendies’ sessment of e SErViCer's 2CVIties CONMUTES 10 e raling of e Securities ssued on e market.
The SPV usually pays & Senicing 1ee 1o the SenVicer, at arm's lengin.
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Rating Agencies
The securitization Fansactions Nave been stiructured in sudh a way as 1o obtain, in case of pubic placements, the fighest rating
for the senion bonds issued by the SBV. The Group has obtained a rating rom 2t keast two of the three Major rating agendes
(Standard&oors, Moody's and Fitch) far all of its fransactions (AESs).

In private placements, instead, senion Donds May of May not Nave a rating (it they do, the rztng is private), depending on the
lender's requirements.

Jurior SECUriies Rave no rting.

Performance of securitization transactions

The securilived portiolios Nave perionmed exremely well s sNown by INe [epors producea Dy the Servicer and in the quarterly
Teparts prepared by the Cash Manager/Agent Bank for the Investors (in the case of pubic operations).

This is dl50 Mighighted in SHMe Cases by the positve review (Upgrace) of the rating assigned by the Rating Agendies 1o the
SEQUrities.

Foliowing the downgrading of the sovereign rating assigned by the agendies to the bonds issued by the Repubic of Italy, end a5 a
result of the application of intemal methooologies at the raling 2gencies, recently the rating of senior bonds issued by the Group
in transactions backed by reCevablie origingted in Italy Were revised negatively by sDme agendes.

All the Group's securitized receivabies portioios have performed well within the parameters lad down for each transacion. The
portiolio has never faled Lo respect e *irigger events” used 1o monitor them.

*Trigger events” related to the portiolo are Monitored, in the retail Tnancng transactions, 3 each new recevabies sale date
duing the Warehousing and Revolving phases. Monitoring does not ke place in the event of “amortizing” ransactions as, given
its “SIELC" NAME, e pOrioio is Nol SUBECE 10 CNanges dUE 10 revoWing Sales but only 1o INE inilial B5SEssMEent by the Rating
Afencies. TNErelore, PErarmance MEasurement is fof alormistion pUrposes anly.

The portiolia PEMONMANCE i Moni lred on 3 quarterty basis.

SiMmilarly, the Irggers and e portiolio perfonmance in ransactions onginated by dealer TNancing Iecevalies are moritoned on a
montnly basis. The receivanles sold sNOw a Teguiar PEronmance.



QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION

The tables attached herewith contain summary infonmation relating to e man securitization transactions ofiginated by the
FGA CaDital GROUp 2N in PI3CE 3t 31 DECEmbEr 2013,

The following transactions, onginzted by GIoup Companies, Nave Deen [Efminated ouring this or the previous Tnandial years,
Irougn the Originator's etertse of Me dean-up oplion 3 e end of amorization phase. The ciean-up option is cntraciualy
QEfined in the ansacion docLments in order 1o allow e DRgNAto 1o decioe WNEtNEr of not 10 TepUrthase the residual
pOrtiolio, Wien such portioio falls 1o & minimum pre-defined level,

_ S IR

FIRST TALAN AUTD TRANSACTION 5.PA, 18/07/2004
SECOND ITALIAN ALITD TRANSACTION 5.FA. 29,09/ 2004
ABSOLUTE FUNDING S.RL. 3,/02/2008
FOC ST 77/11/2008
A-BEST THREE PLT 10,07,/ 2009
IES /A BEST 71/04/2011
QUASAR 13/05/2011
MIES, TWO,/ABEST TWOD o1/10/201
A-BEST SIX 15/07,/2013

Terms and conditions of the securitization transactions and sales of receivables

Warehoung st date Y (1Y

W arehousing pesd {monthe) Ny HA

AES Notes isue dae: 13 Jn12

Tiznzackon type Pubilc Public

Criginatn FA CAPITAL UK Li, FiA CAPTIAL SR,

Servicer FEA CAPITAL UK Li, FGA CAPTIAL A,
Armarger Unicresit,/ BAL ' Coéde A grccie - 02 it S, ot Agecrie 00
Undeslyng amets UK utnioens hakan Aunoloan

ey {0V} o R

Tanser of colecinee (equeny) by daly
Poogrammie & ot [Y,/000 A NA

Hutes pststandng Amoust LY ouponfye) feromt » coupon fbyps)
Clms & {Serior) 2270 50.5% W LT 128700 T M E+330
Cimse B (Wermrine) 41300 5% W LTS 500 155% Ny
s ¢ Meexzanine) - 0% N - 0 Ny
Juwice Tranche (Subordnated) ELR ) 247% Wi 25100 13,8% L]
AES Tranches al lse Amout » WAL faz) semount L WAL (a3}
Claes A {Serinr) 218,800 T10% L] 3440 ES 0% HA
Cirse B (Mermrine) 41300 13,8% N 23500 E0% Ny
Cimze € Mexzaning) - L L) - oow Ny
Jurict Tranche {Subordnated) 100 132% Wi 26100 1% L
Corent mting SEF DERS SEP

s A {Serion) e BAR I AL

Cimze B (Mermrine) A A+ At A

s € Miexzaning) Ny NA

Jerice Teznche {Subordnated) Unraed Unnzted

Aoty detalls

M. Used Cars Ny N

M Cporte Cusiomers Ny HA

MBS Bewching pesod (monte) Ny HA

INOTE

T PIOgrATIME Imi

MA = Mot appicable

WAL (3] - Wesgted Awesage e (years)

1M E = Eusbor 1 month

1M L = Lk 1 meamth
‘Coupen {bps) - base @2 + mangn
V& = Vanable Refum



‘Waehousng stat daie Jan-05 LY

'Warehmusing pescd (months] ™ M

ARS Motes iz dae =] Dec-09

Tansacton ype Publc Fublc

Criginztor FGA B4 NE GERMANY Gmibél FGA TAPTIAL SRA,

Senier FGA B NE GERMANY Gmibél FGA DAPIAL S RA,

Arranger inlmationpenio | Décht Agecoke - 08 [T T —)

Undeshing asmets Gemman Autcloars Ralion Autoloans

Cusrency {I0F) ELR EUR

Teansler of collecsars (Fequency) iy daly

Programme Amount CT/000 HA HA

Notes outstanding Amount - Coupon by Senount LY oepon {bps)
Clarss & {Senior} 0% W S0 954717 BT M E+dD
Corsse B (Mermnine) 5004 0% W E2m - 1Y -
Clamse C Mexzanine) 0,0% - qow -
Junicr Trznche {Subordnated) 44000 ZE0% W 233,000 15,3% L]
AES Tranches at lssse Amount L) WAL fry) Amont L) WAL )
Cloes & {Senioi) £27,000 W 124 1,322,000 B, 1% 454
Climze B (Mermanine} 28000 40% im - 0% -
Claeze C Merzanng] 0 - 0 -
Juricr Tanche {Subordinated) 44000 6% [ 223,000 W A
Coment raling Ftch 58P SHP ouEs

Clares & (et} Lxr) ann - A

Cese B (Mexmnine) L At HA

[ — WA

Junict Tznche united Unsated

Amets detals.

M Used Cars HA 0

M Comporne Cusiomers [ 5

ARS Rewching peded (montis) [ 42 months Snce fhe ABS Holes lmue Dale
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Terms and conditions of the securitization transactions and sales of receivables

Warehoung st deie Deri2 -T2

Wanhnung pescd (menthe) - HA

Tansackon type Prale Privare

Criginator FGA CAPFTAL UC Lig] PR BANE GERMANY GmbE
Senioe FGA CAPTIAL UK Lid A BAME GERMANY Gmbe
Amanger Cekerik,/ B/ JPtdorgen/ drtdlt g 0B ek, BAML

Uniertying assels UE Auoloars Geman Autoloans

Cunency {07 P R

Tanser of ez egueny) dak sy

Pragszmme Amount [0Y,000 200,004,000 1) 350,000,005 (1)

Naies outstanding Aemonunit % Coupon fape) Amourt - Coupon fhes)
Clzess & (seniar) 900,000 65, 7% L TEE5TY ™I% L]
Carsse B (Mermine) " o A A 0% [
Carse ¢ (Mexranine) ) o A A 0,0% [
Jurict Tznche (subcrdnated) 468,514 143% L] 24007 Wi we
Cament. rating (priate) £

Cars & {Sersar) UNERTED [

Cimse B (Mermrine) W [

Carse © (Mezraning) e HA

Jurict Teanche {Sudordnated) urraied Unined

Azt detals

M. Used Lars 50% 00%

M Coporte Cusiomers L) A

% Frogramme kimit
A = Not appiicati

E
WAL (33 = Wesghled Average Life (years)
manih

1M E = Eusibar 1
1M L = libor 1 manth

{bps) = base @i + magn

{Coupen
V& - Vanable Retum



‘Waehousng stat daie ukoe My

'Warehmusing pescd (months] L M

Tansacton ype Prale Privaie

Criginain: Fak CAPTIML SpA, FGA BANE GERMA MY GmbH
Semicer PGk CAPTIAL SpA, FGA BANE GERMA NY GmbH
Aranger HE S Otdtagole-(E /158N
Underheing assets Hakan Autcican German Aulsloars

Cunency {ITY) R R

Teansler of collecsars (fequency) dal daly

Frogramme Amuount 00 /000 500,000,000 (1) 020,000 (1)

Hotes outstanding Serarit L] congpon fops) Amount L Coupon s}
Clorss & {Semior} 7150 "% ) 0,970 LAY N
Clomse B (MErmnine) e 1Y A A 0,0% "3
iz © Merzaning) L 0% Ny ) 0.0% N
Jurier Tsznche {Subordnated) 3,000 677% W 43,550 m5% VR
Coment.ratig (powate) Rih Maodys

Camz A [Senion L Az Urzted

s B (Mermnine} L) L) HA HA L)
Crse € Merraning) N W HA A N
Juriar Tianche {subordnated) Urrated wnrmed

Amet detals.

W Used Cars 2% A

M Comporte Cusiomers 25
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O T R
un-06 Feb-13

Warehousng stat date 08
‘W archmueng pescd {monthe) L) L) W
Transacken type Pavaiz Frie Prvatn
FGR BANK GERMANT GbH
Crignains Fal CAPTIAL SpA, FLFRANCE 5A, FGA CAPTIAL UIE Lid]

Servicer FGA CAPTIAL SpA, FLFRANCE 54, FGA CAPTIAL UE Lid,
FA CARITAL SERIN E°C 5.,
Aranges it Agricoie- OB Ot tagitole-T8 et Supe
Undehgng assets e eplics e P s papeics
ey (T0T) 1] EUR =]
Tiznsier of coiecsions (frequency ) daly daily daly
Progiamime Amount (0Y,/000 20,000,000 (1) 241,000,000 {1) 300,005,000 (1)
Huites nubsizndng Armeart % Cowpon fbps) Aot L Gowponihesh  Ammontae [ Toupon bgs)
s A {Serion) 355,963 5% N 191,968 T A 866,312 54,1% A
Camse B (Mermrine LTy 1Y "3 A 1Y e A e e
iz € Mezzaning) HA 0% N ) 0% . ) 0 A
Jurice Trznche: {Subordnated) 154506 95% e 23263 2% W 145,09 5% Wi
Carent. miing (privaie)
Ciarn A (Serir) Ureaied ureaied Urraied
Camse 8 (Mermrine) > [ L
s ¢ Meexzanine) o W W
Jericr Teznche {Subordinated) Ursaled Urraled Urraled
Asmets detalls
M. Uzed Cars ) W W
M. oo Cusmers: ) W W
INOTE
T Programme lmit
WA - Naot acpicable
WAL (a) = Weighled Avesage Life (years)
1M E = Eumbar 1



FIHANOAL ASSETS

HELD FOR TRADING HELD FOR SULE HELD T MATURSTY
L LT LT L T
Adsets
1. Detd seautes
2 Equiy
3.ucrs
4.1 5,147,146 5,147,146 3,808,058
B. Dervates
TOTAL 2013 - - - - - - - - - - - - swas - - s,
oW non
! 15,546 15,586
ToIAL 2012 - - e e e e . 38R0 - - 3,808,054
o o 39,918 19

A- Financizl assets sold mot fully derecognised (Dalance sheet value)
B~ ANancial assets sold not partiaity derecognised (balance sheet value)
C= Financial 5813 s0ld not parially derscognised (il value)

2.2 Finanial liabilities referred to financial activities sold not derecognised: balance sheet value

LIABILITIES ASEERS HELD FOR AsATI | assEr WELD FOE
B = N
1. Payables

2. loward assets nuly
TecognizRd

FINARIL ASSETS EECENABLES L

HELD T0 MATURITY

b fweard assets.
partally recoqnized

2. Notes issued

2. howard assets fully
TEmgnged

{4 065, 406) (4,069, 406}

. oward assets
partally recgrized

TOTAL 2013 - - - -
TOTAL 2012

(4,069, 4046)
(3,313,005)

(4,065, 406)
(3,313,005)
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C.2.3 5ale transactions with liabilities with recourse only to the assets sold: fair value

A Amets - - 5,147,146 5,147,146 3,508,054
1. Debi seomities

2. Equily insbruments

3. UaTs

4. Loas 5,147,145 5,047,146 3,BDE,054
E. Derivates - - - - - - - - - -
TOTAL ASSETS - - - - - - - - 5,147,146 - 5,147,146 3,808,054
A Associated pavables

1. Payabies

2. Motes issued {4,068, 041} (£,058,041) (3,208 104)
TOTAL LIABILITIE - - - - - - - - (4068041) - (406E041) (3,296104)
TOTAL 1,079,104 1,079,104 509,950

A= Financial assets sold not fully derecognised
B=- Anancial assets sold not partially derecognised

The value of the receivables shown in the table & refered to the accounting amount Becawse it has not been possible o
Estimate the 1air value.



SECTION 3 - INFORMATION ON RISKS AND RELATED RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES
3.1 CREDIT RISK

QUALITATIVE INFORMATATION

1 General information

The Group's commerdial activities untold along the following activities:

- Faclofing and ANancing activities with the FGA Group and JLR dealer networks;

Loans 1o finance the purchase of automabiles and commerdal venicles - retail car 10zns repayable in fxed instaiments or
Persanal Comract Purchase (POF) [oans repayabie with 3 bullet payment;

Finance |ease transactions to finanoe purchases of automodiles and commencial vehicles;

- Oiher torms of finance, including personal loans for a spedfic purpose o ohenwise;

- Long term rental actvities with professionats and businesses.

The main oredit risk 13Ctors are as tollows:

- Cusiomer selection and approval;
Crediit collection adivities;

- MOTIONNG of eXposUre.

Customer selection and approval

In e dealer financing seclor, every year, every FGA and [aguar Land Fover dealer is given a personalized credit imit (plafond)
10 Tinance inventonies of new and used venicles.

The extent of the potential risk & determined at the approval Stage & the difference DEtween Me amaunt of the §ne of oredit
granted znd the bank and insurance guarantees provided (increasing based on scoring classes A-B-C-0).

The credit quality is measured using a scoring model thal classifies the dealer's financial strength nd financial and performance
ratios tken from audited financal stalements and the actions of the dealer (payment punctuality, stock Budits, Teports 1o the
central credit register); each dealer is gIVEN @ SCore based on this process.

Finally, the concentration of risk on the various business Groups is measured.

In the retail financing sector, koan appiications Widergo 2n advanced assessment process at uses *Credit Scofng systems” for
around 90% of applications. The systems vary for e2ch market and for each product and guarantee a high level of automztion
and an objective approach to the entire appioval process.

The approval process also inCludes rukes approved Dy the Board of Directors and monitored by the (redit Policy Department
taking account of enquisies made of various datzbases and the results obdained from zpplication of the relevant score cards.
A totzl of 34 score cards are CLETENT in use in 12 markets. They are corstantly monitored o check eir effectiveness in
wEntifying possible bad payers. The score Cards tend to be renewed every 2,/Iyears on average, based on the resuits of the
MaNitoring process.

In the Long Term Renial sector, during the approval process, the dlient's ability 1o pay is assessed the basis of infommation
obtained from the Risk Centre and from intemal and external databases and on Spediic AsSEssments in the case of companies
of Qroups. In some cases, appraval of the oustomer may be subject to the issue of various fypes of spedific guaraniees.
Repayments made by cusiomers are momitored constantly and, in the event of defaull, the Credit Recovery Deparment is
immediately imvohved.
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credit collection activities

N INE dealer HNENCE DUSINEss, e Credil colECHoN PIOCEOUNeS are essentially acvated INougn Tenmenation of e dealersiip
agreement and Notcation of the &nd of Ihe relzE onship With iMpIEmEentation of resenes of TIE and sUBSEQUENT repossession
of the vehicles.

The iNGiCalors Used 1o MEzsure oedil fisk EXPISUE are Dedil BME (EVerage Credil perod), ageing of Veroue Dalances,
Concentration of fisk by DUsIness group, Uik Zation of Fnen of credit and defaulted automated payments (RID).

In the retail finance sector, the Group companies perform credit collection activities through & process organized into three
broad areas of collection.

The first area imvolves making phone calls 1o establish an iniial coniract with the customer to Zscertain the reasons Tor non-
payment and ask 1or payment of the debt. The action resuiting from the telephong colleclion process depends on the nature
and amgunt of the default.

The second area - in turn divided into several phases of collection based on the age of the overdue receivables - involves
e irajudicial collection activities, essentialty using extemal oedit collection companies, as coondinated by Group personnel.
The hird area is represented by legal acion. The Grioup Ccompanies follow different credit collection srategies and a dfferent
mi of credit collection methods depending on the situation they operate in.

The process to make colleclion Measures mare effective and more efficient & a constant one, perfonmed by the Group
omparies and ooordinated and dinected by the parent company.

Monitoring of risk

All the GRoup COMparies Manitor Ieir expasure 10 fisk felating 1o Tnancing granted by MEeasuning overdue balances by group
of past Que I0ans. TNe EXposUre is MOonitored by determining MOVEMEnts on 03NS by group of past due 103ns DERWEEN W
EIerent gates.

2 Credit risk policies management
2.1 organizational structure and management, measuring and monitoring systems

Credit risk management is arganized on e Dasis of 3 CHmman mooel for the ree ines of business. Fos Capital S.pA.s Boar
of Directors has approved its modus operand for both Headquarterss and the Markets.

The modus operandi approved by FGA Cagital S.p.A's Board of Difectors has Deen anopied by Neatgquarters and e indivioual
markets.

A edilt COMImittee will DE SEL Up in Every operaling Company for the thiee §nes of business (Dealer Financing, Retal and
Rental) made up as follows:

Credit department for the business line;

Sales department;

Administration, Finance and Control department;

Market manages.

The local Credit Committee, in the case of credit applications for amounis excesding their imits, will send the relevant
ApplicEtion Packages with INE NECESSETY MEMArks and Signatwies 1 1Ne FGAC Heanquarter INtEmal Credit COmITItEe, whidh
i the next higher level for the review and credit decision, indicating the applicat’s business, aedit and profitabiity aspecis,
This Committee, within the §mils of the powers assigned 1o i, adopts & decsion on the iransaction, nolifying the market
concemed.



It the exposure to the fransaction falls within the purview of the Credit Commitiee or the Board of Direciors, & the relevant
amount eiceeds FGAC Headquarter internal Credit Comimitiee’s §mit, the latter will submit he application package wilh its
views 1o the next higher level.

In Case e CUSLOMEN is part of an intemational group the applicaion Nas 10 be Sent to the central Evel, regardiess of the
application amount. This s1ep ensures the Group's awarenass of fisk CoNCenration LoWar the Same DUSINess goup.

2.2 Credit risk mitigation methods

Dealer Finandng

The dealers undergo & oredit analyss process. The process Lses computer procedures that can assess the fllowing for et
diealer:
« Coedit firmit;
outstanding oedit;
- OVerdue receivaiies.

WHEn credit & granted, e [iowing ae also analysed:
- e quaiity of the quarantees provided;

financial soundness;
- infoamation on genesal conduct (results of stock audit, dishonowed payments, past due invoices).

The dealer’s operzting and financial situalions are monitored on & conbinuous basis.
e guaraniees cumently aC0epled 1or Metwor,/ DEaler FIance acivilies aie as 1ollows:
+ QuArantees in the 1o of 3 ien on the vehicle (in certain countries):

+ SBCUFEd, Dank and insUrance guaraniees;

- guaraniee deposits from dealers.

getail fi "
Applications for loans are assessed - through an acceptance process - based on the sbility of the customer to fulll the
oormmibments it intends to take on.

The quarantees cumently accepted by Me Group in e etz iNance Seclor incute e Tollowing (INey depend on me indivioual
DUSINess):
- Sefured quanantees (MOrtgage/ diarge on assets), e value of WHich altects recaviery rate of 10ans in case of detault;
- personal guarantees (surefies, endorsement of nobes), with an impact on the probability of default as it means e deftor
is given a rating equal to that of the guarantor in relation to the exposure covered by the guarantee;
guaraniee in the 1orm of a lien on the vericie (in cerain cuntries).

Portfolio assessment based on “VAL FONDI * system

The group method of monitoring exposure to dedit risk is based on changes in lozns by group of past due amounts between
o given dates (Frobaiility of Detzuit) and the quantification of the final 1ss for each contract (Loss on Default).

This system, known intemally a5 “VAL FOMDI *, makes it possidie 10 detenTing the Probatilty of Default (POF), i.e. the
probability, over a given pedod of ime, that the contracts included in the portfolio will be included in the group of loans past
due for over 240 days, the default band. It also estimates the Loss on Delault {AQP) iLe. the possible kss obizined & the ratio
Denween Nistonical 10sses incumed and e inilial sum of the contract instalments.
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The “VAL FONDI * System performs a detziled analysis of loans by group of past due amounts. Amy provision is liocated on a
proporlionate basis 1o il kans in the same group of past due amounts.
The aging summary makes it possible 0 analyse and control credit sk by 2ge of the past due amounts.

For Critical Cases, TEpayment plans and,/of Speanic aCtions are prepared and submitted 1o e Cedit commitiee.

Long Term Rental

The Long Tenm Rental busingss is subject (o the remarkeling risk Le. the risk that the mareet value of the rented asset is less
thanits book value at the end of the rental contract.

The Company MORitors s risk as 10/wSs:

~ EVEry QUarter, the resiiUal value comimittes determines, hor ach MOde, Ihe residual value 1or Use in determining ihe pace
of NEw long term rental contracts. It does so Dy using local DENCIMENS of the used car market and Nistorncal perrmance
data;

& specilic procedure is followed in order to identity any variances lor fleet vehicles bebw een market value and residual value
2 CAlCUIAted Ouing the aoquisition pRase of Nieet venicies; any dillerences are COVEred by Ceating provisions.

2.3 Non-performing loans
The criteria used to classity the credit risk associated with the detedorated positions, the polides to write off deferiorated assels
and write-off poiicies in general ane in keeping with the Regulator's guideines.

2.4 Retail Financing information

The retail business is mainty designed ko finance the purchase of

-+ wenicles of he FGA Group (Fal, Landa, Alla Romeo)

-+ wenicles of the LR BRands { Jaquar and Land Rover)

JLR Porttofio &t fiscal year-end accounted for 19% af the refail DUSINESs, rose on Ehe Previous Year, snowing a siniticant
Toodprint especially in the UK and German markets.

Lirmited financing was provided also in connection with application onginated fmom Mannets other Enzn captives this acthiny is
Tefermed to as non-Captive.

The Groug's retail receivable partholio 1eatures a Mmhan dranularity end may be Classified in the retdil category based on the
intemal rating iteria presoibed by Easel Il

The exposures towards individual customers of groups are managed at individual operating company kevel. Each operzting
Company andies the approval of 0ans in 2CCordance with the reguiations and mits described in the Group cedit manual,
piNpaNting the overall risk profile.

All the positions higher an Eur 150,000 ewo are quarterly indicated by INe entilies 1o the Headguarter.

Attention is called o the following:

+ I OWINg USE of knger matunfes, 2 (End UNger Way througnout he cTedit market:
- I PrOgressive indease of e Verage lckets nanded, due 1o e growing JLR portrolio.



QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION

1.Distribution of credit exposure by portfolio and quality

SUB
PORTFOLIO/ QUALITY m STANDARD

1. Fnancal assets held tor trading 36823 36,823

2. Fnancial assets at tar vale - -

3 Avaiabie-lor-sale fnancal assets - -

4. Pnancial assets held to matunty 9,665 9,665

5. Duelmmbanis 737,004 737,004

& DuE I tnanc rEtors 18711 18711

7. Duehomosomens 5,771 100,267 A3305 19900 13307066 13,616,811

. Hedging defvatives. 17,958 17,958

TOTAL 2013 57,073 100,267 42305 19900 14217227 14436972

TOTAL 2012 49,390 140,193 £3,012 28578 13268300 13,529,483
2.Credit exposure

2.1 Credit exposure to customers: gross amounts and carmying amounts

TYPE OF DX POSURE,/ AMOUNT GRIES SPECIFIC
EXPOSURE |  ADJUSTMENTS

A NOM-PERFORMING ASSETS

PORTH, NG
ADJUSTMENTS (DUNT

CASH DUPOSURE

- Doultiul 163,627 {106,352) 57,273
- Substandard 126,677 (30,511) 95,166
- Restructured 2402 (9,430 33,012
- Ovenie 54566 2m) 33,204
OFF-BALANCE-SHEET BXPOSURE - - -
- Doubtiul -
- Substandard -
- Restructured -
T vemE B
TOTAL A 387,312 (167,567) - 219,745

E. PERFORMING EXPOSURE

- vere 426,024 {18,229) 207,795
- Other exposLe 13,004,500 (105,228 12,989,271
TOTAL B 13,520,524 (123,458) 13,397,066
TOTAL {4+B) 13,907,836 (167,567} (123,458) 13616811
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2.2 Credit exposure to banks and financial institutions gross amounts and carying amounts

TYPE OF EX POSURE,AMOUNT SPEOIFIC PORTFOLID CARRYING
GROSS BXPOSURE |  ADJUSTMENTS | ADJUSIMENTS AMOUNT

A NON-PERFORMING ASSETS
CASH EXPOSURE - - -

- Doutittul

- Substandard

- Restnaciuned

(Overdue

OFF-BALANCE-SHEET EXPOSURE - - -

- Doubtiul

- Substandard

- Restnctned

- Dverdue

TOTAL & - - -

E. PERFDRMING BXPOSURE

- Dverdue

- Ofer expasure 755,715

755715

TOTAL B TS5T15 - -

755,715

TOTAL A+B 755715 - -

755,715

3. Risk concentration

3.1 Receivables from customers - Breakdown by economic agent

£/ THOUSANDS 3

1 fram customers
- Gvermment 528 nr
- Non-financial companies 4,000,651 3,877,807
- 9,615,632 9078080
TOTAL CARRYING AMOUNT 13,616,811 12,904,524

3.2 Receivables from customers - Breakdown by geographic area

& o) sy

1. Reivables from customers

- COUNGSEs in ENEone 9855260 0.B06.189
- Omer EL countries 3435111 2689277
- her countries IF6.440 A.158
TOTAL CARRYING AMOUNT 13.616.811 1L906.624




3.2 MARKET RISK

3.2.1 CHANGE/INTEREST RATE RISK
QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE

1. General description
The Group's financial sirategy aims at:
MAINLAINIng  sane and EVersiied IUndang structure;
managing liquidity risk, and
MiriMIZing EXpOSLIE to iNErest rEte, CLITEnCy and COUMtErparty rsk.

The Treasury depariment ensures that Equidity and all other finandal risks are comectly managed at Group [evel, in accordance
wilh the Risk Management Poicies approved Dy e Board of (rectors, Managing and,/or coordinating all runding and aperating
activities tor all of the Group’s Companies.

In 2013 the Group continued to pursue the goal to lnd maturing assets in every Gime interval; in addition, the Group can rely on
the availztiity of fnancng by iNe banking sharenoider, CIéd! Agricole ConsUMer FiNance, to MEet it browing fequirements,
0 35 10 Manage any gudity sk

LIndier the interest risk management poides in place, WHCh &2 0esigned 10 protect consoidzted interest spreads against the
impact of changes in interest rates, the lizbility maturiies (& detenmined on the basis of the reset dates for interest rates) ane
matched b asset matuities.

Theinterest risk EXposure is caloulated using e tollowing methods:

Reset Gap Analysis: i MENod is AMed at kentilying N 0ap DEtween assels and lamiities with reset dales in e same ime
pering - INTEs MONKS in YEar 0NE &nd S MOntms in |2er years;

Duration Analysis: he oiyective of his method is toidendity the diflerence between the durations of assels and labilities by
TEseL date.

MLty MBACTING i ACTiEved Nough tE USE Of MONe [juid DErvatves, nouding interest [Ete SWaps and 1o an rate agreaments
(Group risk management polides call specfically for the use of plain vanilla products).

The interest rate fisk hedging strategy pursued during e year delivered a substantially Tully hedged position hus neutralizing the
patential impact of interest rates volatity.

In LIS of BXCNEnge rate Nisk, it is Graup poiicy nat 10 hold any position in Treign currency. ACCardingly, portolios in curencies
oines than Ewrg e match-lunced by CLmency. N Some cases, e NBORsSany IUNEng is arranoed synthetcally througn the use of
forsgn e diange swaps of a combination of interest rate and qurrency swaps (Group risk management poides allw the use of
foregn exchange fransactions solefy for nedging purpases).

Counterparty fisk is MiMiZed, i 3C00M0ance wilh e ditena et by GIoup fisk Management pofides, though Ine selecian of
prime banking countesparies wilh a figh oedit rating, the wse of shor-erm imvestment products and, in relafion o desvative
products, the wse of sizndardized contracts (ISDA).
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QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURE

1. Financial assets and liabilities analysis by maturity
1. Distribution of financial assets and lizbilities by maturity (repricing date)

| amoul
E

n
IINSPED-
FED
MATURITY

DESCRIFTION / MATURITY BEwWERN | BETWEE
GMONTHS | 1AKD S
AMD 1 TEAR YEARS
1. fssels IELIT9 LE4SSS4 1 TOES00 1590701 4Z2EIET 14700 10,990,952
11 AT RWESTH IFEISF 1591904 4TRIT 141700 10,407 257
1.3 Difier assets 583,655 . - - - - SERESS
1. Lizhilities £814351 300800 570000  BOO,000 - - 10,887,191
2.1 Payables 501386 300800 220000 50,000 5584655
2.3 Nodes issugd 3318776 - 70000 750000 ABIF7TE
2.3 Diner babilibes 483 TI0 . - - 4720
1. Finandial derivatives 902125 040550 (3,799,996) (§11Z603) (49250) - -
Options - - - - - -
3.1 Long positions
3.2 Short pesitions
Other derivatives 9021299  S40550 (3,799,996) (§11Z603) (49.250) - -
3.3 Long postons - 1Q1GFF 1329550 - 1148425
3.4 Short pesitions - (1.095408) (388,000) (3799556) (6112603) (49350) - (14T}
Currency GEP (amounts in €/ thousands)
DESCRIFTION / MATURITY BETWEEM|  EETWEEN BETWEE | BETWEEN E
ON| UPTO3| 3IAMDG| GMONTHS| 7AMDS| SAND 10 FIED
DEMAND | MONTHS | MONTHS | AND 1 TEAR YEARS|  YEARS MATURITY TOAL
1. hssets TTI6E M6 181865 440190 1570342 - - - 3213993
11 TTI6E BORTIE O 1B1EES 40102 1570342 3162375
1.2 Difier assets 50,618 . - SOE18
2. Liabilities LEAGIN 29587 11,995 - - - LEER1G
2.1 Payables 125700 5 11,995 1,399,030
2.3 Noies isugd 1547832 - 1547832
2.3 Dimier Kabdibes 1758 . - - 41258
1. Financial derivatives 432376 (@4510)  (TE7201) (3,3509%66) - -
Options - - - - - -
3.1 Long posisons
3.3 Short pesitions - . - -
Other desivatives 431576 (@4510)  (TE7E91) (3,350%66) - - -
3.3 Long postons 4,449.911 - - - 4483511
3.4 Short positions (137, 144) (204510} (767,297) (3350964) (4449911)




Curency CHF
DESCRIFTION / MATURITY BETWEEN|  BETWEEN BETWEE| BETWEEN UMSFECH
ON| WPT3| 3AMDG| GMONTHS| 1AMDS| SAND 10 FIED
DEMAND | MONTHS | MONTHS | AND 1 YEAR YEARS | ~ YEARS MATURITY TOHL
1. Assets - ERLEID 9479 53614 153903 - - - 335
A - 694 SBETS A1 153503 - - - 3|IA
1.2 Other assels - 2,515 - - - - - - 2,915
2. Liabilities - 249309 16792 - - - - - 26560
2.1 Payables - MATY 16792 - - - - - BGEOGTY
2.2 Noles issued - - - -
2.3 Other hiabiibies - 4530 - - - - - - 4,930
3. Financial derivatives - 05686 (32584)  (46,433) (1266700 - - - -
Options - - - - - - - -
3.1 Long positans
3.2 Short pesitians - - - -
other derivatives - 05686 JI5E4 (46437)  (126670) - - -
3.3 Long positsans - 2508 - - - - - - mgs
3.4 Shert pesitians - (3339%9)  (3584) (86432 (125670) - - - {Z3mas)

Remaining cumendes

DESCRIFTHIN 7 MATURITY BETWEM| DOWEDN | BETWEE| BETWEEN IMSPLD-
ON| UPTO3| 3IANDG| GMONTHS| 1ANDS| SAND 10 FED
DEMAND | MONTHS | MONTHS | AND 1 YEAR YEARS| T YEARS MATURITY|  TOWL

1. Aissats L3686 AOTEE  MS4ET  ISEIN GRETD - - 765
11 WME  IR031 AQTEE 14562 1583V 69ET1 - 74735
1.2 Diner assats - 1,600 - - - - - - 1,600

2. Liabilities - s - - - - EEEYTYT
2.1 Payables - 33 - - - - - 339,306
2.1 Notes issued - -
2.3 Diher iabaes - 5805 - - - - - - 5,805

1. Finantial dervatives - wLo4 (3353)  (205ED)  (69559)  (&E1) - -

Dptions - - - - - - - -

3.1 Long posisans

3.2 Short positions E . - - - - -

Dther derivatives - SL974  (3353) (20587) (69355%)  (&E1) - -

3.3 Long posiians - e - - - - - - Em
3.4 Short positions - (5707) (3353)  (PO5EZ)  (69.559) (4E1) - - {ongan)

2. Distribution of assets, liabilities and derivatives by currency

“ﬂ“ﬂ“
1. Financial assets 3,162,375 128,120 297,603
1.1 Debl secuntes - - -
1.2 Equity serunties - . -
1.3 Recewables - 1,984,426 - - 377,060 74,735
1.4 Dther Bnancial assets - 177,949 - - 1,060 12,868
1. Other assets - 50,618 - - 2,915 1,600
3. Financial liabilities - 7,846,861 - - 260,826 man
3.1 Parables - 1,299,029 - - 260,671 339,316
3.7 Debt secusbies - 1,547, 832 - -
3.3 Diher Bnancial kiabities - - - - 155 [3
4. Other liabilities - 41,258 - - 2,570 5,805
5. Derivatives - 4,372,767
3.1 Long posiions - 4408,911 - - 739,085 99,681
3.2 Short pesitions - (127, 144) - - (235,085} (09,581}
TOTAL ASSETS - 3,212,903 - - 331,035 499,203
TOTAL LIABILITIES - 2,885 119 - - 265,756 345,127
DIFFERENCE - 324,874 - - 65,779 154,076

3.3 OPERATIONAL RISKS
1. General Description
FGA, Cagital Group has an organizational struciure for the control of the operational risks in Bne with the Basel || principles.

‘This organization is based oi:
+ @ Creation of @ independent nction of Operational Risk Management (CUrmently inserted in e RRC stucture);
ihe identifkation, collection and Measurement of e main events of operating loss (With the storage of he necessary
infonmiation in & common data base to manitorn pesiodic irends);
he set-up of 3 management reporting sysiem to support comedive actions and prevention;
ne periodic cieck of he ORM process by internal ALEL

The aclivities camiad on Dy FGA S.pUA. is inspired Dy the iolkowing quicelines:
(lassification of the operational loss events under control based on the fables set out by Basel Il 2 adapted bo FGA Capital's
DUSINESS;

Fole description and adoption of 1T 100s that make up the ORM'S TEmework;
Loss data Collection LDC.



CLASSIFICATION OF OPERATIONAL RISK EVENTS
The classification of operational fisk events Nas been adapled over INe Years I FGA CApilars. DUsiness requirements.
It tocuses on e monitoring and analysis of the iolowing sk categanies:

Thedt and fraud {internal and exiernal)
EMplayment practioes and worklace satery
CUSIOMERS, PIOUCTS 3N DUSINESS Practces
Damage o physical assets

Business disruplion and system ialure
Execution, delivery and process management.

The Group & @ WHOK [iays Special aIention to risk issues:

EXTERNAL FRAUDS: iin conneciion with loan applications, Irauds are perpetrated manly throwgh the submission of fzlse or altered
dooumentation. Therelore, he group laundched in 2008 & spediic raining initiative on ihis item for all employees called “KENOW
YOUR CUSTOMER"

PRIVACY PROTECTION: iy MANaging CLSIOMErs’ parsonal data in relion to:

the necessany Credit checks

e slu{agE of cusiomer data

OMOLON and marketing activites.
spetial atention is paid, in this ares, to training (peribdically upgraded) of 2l the group sttt in e With e requirements of the
Data Profection Code.

PROTECTION OF THE COMPANY'S PROPRIETARY INFORMATIOMN: carried out through the writing of intemal procedures and
techrical instruments mat e comparry and all parners must sdopt in order 1o guarantee the efiediveness of the actions of
rOtection of COPOTaLe Prophietary dala, With special atenton to personal data.

RISKS RELATED TO NEW REGULATIONS FOR THE INDUSTRY: this item has been addressed by FGA Capital through the infroduction
of periodic manitoning, with theinvolvement of all the business areas and the coordination of the REPC and Internal Audit.

LEGAL DISPUTES: the consiznt monitoring of this risk makes it possible 10 address problems befare they become critical.
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ORGANIZATIOMAL STRUCTURE

Tne rodes and responsibiities of the funchions within the Parent Company and FGA Capital invoived in the management of
operational risks C2n De summarized as iolkws:

OPERATIOMAL RISK COMMITTEE (PARENT COMPANY): INis DOGY MEETS 0UNNG INE iNtEmal control MEeting on & quartery bass,
[OVIdIng QUidENings and poiices 10 MAnage operatonal fisk 3l group Vel It COREnNE1es and apprves Me acton plans set oul
by @ach kegal entity of the oroup, to Mitigate &nd prevent the identitied risks, MOnitoing the rekvant progress.

OPERATIOMAL RISK MAMAGEM ENT (PARENT COMPANY): INis UNCHON & part of e REPC. I 0ENNEs and upgrades me overall
operational fisk Management Framework at the GIoUp level, providing SURport to local risk Managers as ey implement the
Operational fisk management model, ensuring the appoprizie progress reports o the Parent Company's management.

LOCAL OPERATIONAL RISK COMMITTEE: 31 Jeast quartesty, for the individuzl group company. It evaluales and approves mitigating
ACTIONS, MEViEws PIOQRess in the COMaCive actions agresd with the operational areas.

LOCAL OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGER: with the new REPC structure il i one of the responsimifities taken on Dy the REPC
conkact person for each markel. Concerning Operational Risk Management issues, tis Manages implements the Framework in the
Company, defining and applying rsk measurement and Loss Data Collection {LDC) methodologies.

Moreover, this Manager submits e LDC measurements o central Rk Management and identifies the ations 10 mitigate risk by
qetting e 10Cal MAnEgement imvolved.

The Manager is supported by a number of confacts within the individual operational aneas. These figures are responsible for
identiftying and reporting, in agreement with their supesiors, operational loss events oocumed in the period and any changes in the
[MDCESSES UNGET MEr IRsponsiiity, analysing any possiIe fisk associated wilh hem.

AS 3 SLppOrt 10 the OPerational Rk Management ITamework, FGA Capital Nas developed sOMWare 1 colect, ENalyse and report
operational Ioss data. This roceoune Consists of two modules 1o map e rsks in he &ierent corpoEte Wocesses and the
collection of operational [oss oata.

The database so oreated makes it possible to prepare loss reports by individual company, company area and type of event.
ILO5S DATA COLLECTION

The Loss DE1a Collection process in FoA Capital & essentally intended 1o

- be compliant with BASEL II;

- define and comply with 2 set of standards and principles to support a unilorm map of corporate processes;

- OEfiNe SLaNGANds 101 Ne ODSENVELIoN, MEasUrement and miligation of operational Tiks;

- gecentrafize operational fsk Management, resulting in more effective preventive actions;

- PIOMOte an operational risk Culluie, S0 &S 10 iMDIOVE [rOCesses Dy COMPIRtng the analysis phases with 3 more foosed
Epproac o risk issUes.



3.4 LIQUIDITY RISK

QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE

1.Generzl Description, liquidity policies management, measuring and monitoring systems.

The Company’s liquidity risk is associated with its inability to meet its financial obligations a5 they come due.
speifically, ihis risk would matesialize if the Company wese unable 1o renew,/extend,/refinance at maturity - in whaole o in par
107 every ulLre date on the NOMZON CoNSINered - parts of its Iundng profile (in its More of IBss Stuctued 1onms).

To facilitate the proper identincation and mEnagement of Kuidity fisk, it is worty of nate that:
The Holding is resperible for ihe Group’s cash management, as ils Treasury department coordinates he bomawing requirements
of all its subsidiaries. Moreover, all strectured finance transaciions are centrally managed;

- The Company is (e only GIoup entity Wil a Credil rating assigned individually by Fitch Ralings, Mooay's e SIandard&poor's. In
this sense, 2l bank accounts and lines of credit are managed centrally;

- All the GIoup COMPAries refer 10 e Holding to mest M [iNancng requirements hrough the seiaction of e most appropriate
Tunding insiruments.

IN ESSENCE, MRasUrY Management taes place al e consoficaled Ievel.

The Group Manages this risk by Matcing ils labiites witn its assets, by amount and maturity.

This ppIOECH, WHCh Fefies 3ls0 an the approval and availability of SignRiicant fnes of cedit (incuding o the Danking sharehoker
Crédit Agricole), allows the Company and ifs subsidizries to minimize their exposwre bo hquidity risk

In Eddition, Touidity is MEasurad montnly Dy currency (Eurg, British pourd, SWiss tranc, Danish kane znd Folish Zioty).

The modef to manage Equidity risk, rests on 2 NUMDEr of key [EIErS, such as:
- Manapement o cash TIow 110 ODErating Acivilies and sructura igudty, also Nugnout @ finandial planfing reviewed and
updated;

- tonstant monitodng of cash inflows/outiiows and adoption of metrics to measure and control exposure to lguidty risk
({matwrity mismatch approach);

- Setting of SUpENisory it 1o risk exposure;

- Siness 1ests 0 evalusie risk expasure and set unoer siress siluations;

- Preparation of the CoNGNgency FUnding Pizn, which & designed 1o define rles and responsibilities, actons 1o D taken and the
identification of risk-mitigation instruments to be adopted in the event of a sudden liquidity Crisis signalied by early warning
indicators (EWI).

Based on the measurement carmied out on the reporting date (31 December 2012}, it i confimmed that the actions taken by central
treasuy, hanks also to the sigificant ines of oredit availabie (manly related 1 he amangements with the banking shareholder
to meet the Group's bomowing requirements and the presence of revahving securitization programs that czn siill be used to carmy
out addifional receivable assignments), were eflective in managing liquidity risk.

QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURE

1. Distribution of financial assets and Babilities by contract date

Currendy: EURD

DESCRIFTION / MATURITY
'IA.I'D?

Flnm:ial assats - cash 1,045,701

130,535

BETWEEN | UP T
T AND | DAYS TO 1
IIAYS | MONTH

15

& WP 1
IOMTHS | YEARTD 3
R YEARS

(amounis in €/thousands)

3:I5T

Jl.l Bons

A2 Other debt secbies

A3 Rerevabies 1045700

174

'

193115

E15,154

125,033

13757

1E 84

LRI RE ]

A4 Other finandal assets

a1

2

1273

;e

BT

.o

T

7oz 2o

Liabilities - cash exposure 43600

e

‘| ne

FALE00

1145,367

255745

00714 LEIBETD

B.1 Payabbes towasd

- Banks 2581

i

00

NEe

589119

389,191

1308

04T

- Fnancial insututons

- Dustomers nzm

B3 Nobes issued e

533308

135,007

2,600,672

B3 Qiher Kabilities

'UH-‘IEIE_I‘ICE!hE‘I' 4

(1)

fasm)

nm

(10.401)

(131

C1 Rinandal dervatves
Wil exchange of tapial

- Long Positian

- Short Posiion

CZ Hnandal dervalves
wilnoul exchange ol capital

- Posive differences. 213356

5328

1,184

16164

- Neqatve MiMerences  (34.433)

(158)

(4.093)

(1307

{1,525)

[FEE)

€3 Loans bo be recesved

- Long Positian

- Short Possion

C2 Irrevintabie
ommitments o dsburse
funis

- Long Positian

- Short Posiion

C3 Hnandal guaraniees
issugd
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£/ thousands) {amounis in € thousands)

DESCRIPTION / MATURITY BETWEEN | BETWEEN [ UP T0 15 UPTOGE( UPTD 1

DESCRIFTION / MATURITY
ON| TANDT | 7 AN | DAYS T0 1 6 MONTHS | YEARTD 3
ND DATS [ 15 DAYS | MONTH NTHS | 101 YEAR YEARS

Financial assets - cash
e

TR

13,161

13,161

A8 TET

1mazen

416,728

Al Bonds

A7 Other debt sermtes

A3 Rerevables

wEn

13161

361

53507

4622

&T7.E30

133761

AETE

A4 Other Enandal assets

Erig

Liahilities - cash exposure

a35,989

HESTTE

304 854

ETT™

11374

B.1 Payables fowasd

- Banls

- Enangial insututions

187288

106,521

457794

- Qustamers

B7 Mobes msued

113458

1ET

B3 Diner Babiites

“fi-balance sheet”
trEnsactions

(148

e

C.1 Rinandial dervatves
Wilh excrange of capial

- Long Pasition

- Snhart Position

2 Ananaal dervatves
wilhoul eschange af capital

- Pogitive diltgrences

3456

1

- Negatve mrErences

)

i)

n2s)

(1,658)

s

C3 Loans o be received

- Long Pasition

- Snhart Position

C.4 Irrewvorable
COmmitments 10 dsburse
runds

- Long Pasition

- Snhart Position

5 Ananaal guarantess.
issued
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Finandial assels - cash
EEpOSUIE

A Bonds

AT Other debt seommbies

A3 Rerevables 1060 1265 1265 ol ®|m M 54848 1mou s

A4 Other finandal assets - - - - - - - -

Liabilities - cash exposure - - - 3,705 13,080 58,072 66,663 57,073 - -

B.1 Payables fowasd

- Banks - - - E5706 13,060 = #4862 s

- Anancial insitutions

- Qustomers - - - . - - . -

B3 Qiner Mabilties

{Dif-halance sheer” - - 0 (m (e (@) - g

C1 Rinandal dervatves
Wil Exchange of capial

- Long Position

- Short Posiion

2 Ananaal demvatves
withoul exchange ol capital

- Positee difierences. - - - El El 5 4 -

- Negatve differences - - () (= ] LLE] (223) -

C3 Loans to be received

- Long Positian

- Short Posiion

4 Irrevolabie
COmimitments 1 dsbarse
mungs

- Long Positian

- Short Posiion

5 Anancal guarantees
issued




SECTION 5 - ANALYTICAL STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

PROFIT EEFORE | IMOIME TAX FR
TRES THE PEHI0D

Valuie residuali (PLN, DEK) (amounis in €/ thousands)

R Y | 4 =4 ; = 10, Frokit (loss) for the peiod 287,517 (T5,848) 171,669
ND| DAYS| 15DAYS| MONTH 01 VEAR - [£ income without realease bo inmme (2,106) (330) (2,436)
Flnml:lanl?am - ash sE BA0s 20. Property, plant and
A1 Bones 30 assels
A7 Other cebt sermmtes 40. Defined Pension Plan (2, 106) {330) (2,436)
A3 Ferevables 3158 BADE 151 04 2% 0 145 10% MEES 1T - 50. Mon-cument assets held for sale B - .
A.4 Other inancial assels - - - - - - - - : - 0. e vl ad S s
Liabilities - cash exposure 14,269 T OIW M0IT 153248 06T 190 T4 - - Comprehensive income with realease to income: 4595 (3, 430) 1,157
B1 Fayabies ioward 70. Foreign investment hedges
- Banks 5,558 1 13m wow 1mzm WETE 1m0 9T4E - -
a) Changes in e vale
- Fnangial insytubions b refease 10 income
- [ustomers 43 - - - - - - - - - o) cther changes
.7 Motes isued - - - - - - - - - - 80. Cash flow hedges (5,804) - (5504}
B3 0iner maiilies a) changes in farvale
i talance shee” - - - e m @ - - - E) riease o income
.1 Ainanaal dervatves £) other changes 15,804) - (5,804)
with :'gfl:‘::;ﬁpﬂﬂ a. Echange rate differences 10,399 (3,438) 6361
- n
R —— ::umgsm farvake 947 31m &30
.7 Finandial derivatves ) IeiEase 1o income 9458 {3, 128) 6,330
wilhout exchange of capaal € Dther changes
- Positve dillerences - : - - 100, Awailable-for-sale financal assets
- Negatve differences - - - i1 (s} 183 252y - - - a) Changes in fa vae
3 Loans to be recerved b) release i inmmea
- Long Pogitan - ITpairments
- Shart Posiicn - gains,losses on inoEease
C4 IFrevorame
COMAMtMENs 10 dsbarse £ per Ehanges
runds 110. Man-current assets held for sale
- Long Poston a) changes in tair value
- SnOrt Posion b) release I income
Icssl:;mal gquarantess c} ather changes
yz0. Share of valuztion reserve covering gains/|osses
*_on imvestments nized thiou Lty
The profile depicted in the Quantitative Information can be interpreted also in light of the fact that the Group confinued to a) changes in tair value
PUTSUE ils ODJECIVE 1D TUNd MBturing assers 107 every Hme DUCkEL. In adgiction, (e Group Gn rely on its banking snarenoloers b) refease tn income
- CA CONsWmEr ANance - 107 its DOMmOW ing requirements, 1o manage its hoquidity risk. - Impasments
- (s 05585 0N iNOEsse
The due dates related to financizl lisbilities are exposed in according to law dispositions, not necessarily reflect the real ©) ather changes
TEMDWSEMEnt outling. 130. Total after-1ax gains (losses)
140. (OMPREHENSIVE INCOME (ITEM 10+130) 50,000 (TR.6YT)  (170,390)
SECTION 4 - INFORMATION ON EQUITY 150, OMSONGHES compretensre income i e : e
160. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO GROUP'S SHAREHOLDERS 148,668 (79,617} 169,051

Piease refer to FGA Capital 0. finandial statements.
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SECTION 6 — RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS Transactions with other related parties

&.1 Compensation to key executive directors The relevant items are:
The statutory auditors of FoA Capital 5.pA. and Leasys 5.0 A receved Tees 1or €247 thousand.

£.2 Loans or Guarantees 1o key executive directors and statutory auditors

20 FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING 30,896
Mo logns or guarantees have been granted (o key execulives Directors and statutory auditors. Other CASA. group companies 30,898
&0 RECENABLES 106,673
&.3 Information on related-party transactions Other S A group @apanies 164
FGA Capilal GIoup ENtEred N0 TANS3CH0NS Wil 25s00Eled COmparies and oiNer related paries at am's lengn. T ———— 6,528
Other Aaf 5 pA. companies 76,115
Significant details ane provided in the following table: Offer ChH Industrial 5 p.A. 2,864
70 HIDGING DERVATIVES 8348
Ofher CASA group Companies 8348
BALANCE SHEET 140 DTHER ASSETS 133,72
OfNEr CASA. JTOUp COmpanies 61,157
Assets Other Far GIoup AUSmobile 54 3,056
(ther Far 5. pA. mmpanies 4ms
o P P
0 Financial assets held for tading suf:m % Liabilities
&0 0,155 06,673 mm 7%
70 Wedging derivatives - 5348 53148 5%
140 Other assels 210,845 132732 143,577 3% B s |yt
4,u54,m 1 mu,sra 5,045,325 o,7%
Transactions with shrehiolders 0 Males Issued 950,718 - 550,718 145%
30 Financial liabilities held for trading - 32,158 3,158 %
The resevant items ae: 50 Hedging derivatives - 8,646 78,646 0%
30 Other iabilities 11,620 74,370 105,549 19,8%
&0 RECEVABLES B0, 155 Transactions with shreholders
Creail AgricsIE CONSUMEr ARANCE 34,682
Fiat GIUp Avfomobiles SPA 43,473 The relevant items are:
140 OTHER ASSETS 710,845
e e e
10 DEBITI 4,054,747
Crédif Agncole Consumer Anance 4054747
20 TITOLI 1M CIRCOLAZIONE 950, 718
Créait Agnmle Consumer fAnane 550,718
90 ALTRE PASSIVITA 3,620
Créait AGncole Consumer Anan e 5,364
Fiaf GIOUP AUTOMobile SpA. 26,756
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Transactions with other related pariies

The redevant items are:

10 PAYABLES

1,010,578

Ofner CAS.A. group companies 1,000,000

Ofner Aat Group AU mobile SpA 10,532

Ofner CNH Inalstrial Sp A, mmpanies 45

30 FIMANCIAL LIAEILITIES HELD FOR TRADING 33,158

Oner CAS A gToup companies 32,158

50 HEDGING DERWATIVES 28,645

Offer CAS AL group companies 28646

S0 OTHER LIABILITIES 74,329

Oner CAS A gToup companies 7,097

Other Aat Group Aufomobile SpA_ 66,736

Other Aaf S.pA. 4z
INCOME STATEMENT

L e p———

DERS PARTIES PARTIES INE ITEM

10 Interest and similar income 3,402 98,792 166,975 7%

30 Interest and similar expenses {118 562) {29,597) {148,152) 36,9%

30 Feesand income 51,668 51,668 IR

40 Feesandc expenses (2019} (2,027) EEY

10 A Expanses {11,879) (7,579 (19,858) 1%

160 Other expi {16,452) (470) (16,521 54%

160 Other income 14,273 26,911 41,184 50%
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Transactions with shareholders

The relevant items are:

10 INTEREST INCOME 63,802
Fial Gup AUTSmaiIes SPA. 63,402
20 INTEREST EXPENSES (118,562)
Credit Agnenie Consumer Finance (118,562)
1104 TIVE EXPENSES {11,879)
Fiat Gup ATISmabiles SPA. (7,635)
Credit Agnenie Consumer Finance 4, 24)
160 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES {16,452)
Fiat Gup ATISmabiles SPA. {16,452)
160 DTHER OPERATING INCOME 14,773
Fiat Group Arfomabiles SPA. 14,373




Transactions with other related parties SECTION 7 — ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

The relevant items ame: TRANSLATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT OF FOREIGN SUBSIDIARIES
_m The table below shows e exchange rates used 10 lranslate foreign currency finandial statements at 31 December 2013 info
10 INTEREST INCOME 05,702 EUrD. FOr iMOrMmation pUrposes, e exchamge rales used 1or 2012 are also snown.
Dffer CAS.A. Qroup Companies 15,800
e s B ————— L L
Other Far 5 pA. 2,961 Prlish Tty (PLN) 4,154 4197 4,185
Offier ChH [Taustrial 5 pA. ¢ 2,842 Canish Crown (DKK) 7 A58 7,458 r,m 7444
20 INTEREST EXPENSES (29.557) Swiss Fane (CHF) 1228 1,231 1,207 1,205
Other CASA. group companies {79,588) GE Pound (GEF) 0,834 0,849 0,816 0511
Ofner Fiat 5.pA. [
30 FEES AND COMMISSION INCOME 51,668
Other CAS A group companies 45,005 DISCLOSURE ON AUDIT RELATED SERVICES
Other Aat Group Aufomobie SpA. 5,663
40 FEES AND COMMISSION EXPENSES (2,019) As required by Legilative Decree 39,10, details of audi-related senvices provided are as follows:
Dher CASA. Qroup companies (2,006)
Other At Group At mOGIE SpA . 3 _ AMOUNT
TR o I T
Offer CAS.A. Qroup Companies i) Reconta bmst & Young SpA. FGA Capital S pA.
Offer Aal Group Afomobe SpA_ [4,475) Rermnta Emst & Young SpA. 57 oagunated by Pg':‘nmf'f;é 200
Otfer Faf 5. pA. B.475) Remnta Emst & Young SpA. Foreign Subsdares 1,275
160 OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES (470 Attestaton Rermnta Emst & Voung S Fh Capetal S8 456
Dher Aat Group AUSmoBIE SpA .- (432) PE oaguated by FGh SDA.
Ofher CNH [RGUStrial S p A mmpanies 8 Rernnta finst & ong SpA. ﬁ:ﬁip;a
160 DTHER OPERATING INCOME 26,911 Reconia st & Young SpA. Foregn Sutsdares o
Other CASA. group companes 2791 DUNEr SeMdees Reconta Emst B Young SpA. FGA Capital S.pA. m
Ofher A Group AUDMODIE SpA. 5092 Rexonia Emst B Young SpA. Foreign Subsedares 31
Offer Aal 5 p A companies 9,468 TomL 1,680
Oher CNY Imastrial 5 pA. companies 8,160

Tusin, 17 Febiuary 2014
0n behall of the Board of Directors.

Chief Exequtive Officer and General Manager
Gian Luca De Fcchy
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITORS’ REPORT

ON THE
CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AS
at December 31, 2013




EY

i

FGA Capital S.p.A.
Consolidated Financial Statements at December 31, 2013

Independent auditor's report pursuant to artt. 14 and 16 of
Legislative Decree n.39 dated 27 January 2010
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Independent auditor's report pursuant to article artt. 14 and 16 of Legisiative Decree n.39
dated 27 January 2010
(Translation from the originai itailan text)

To the Shareholders of FGA Capital S.p.A.

Ull mwmmmmmwmmmm:mumtov
3l position, the income the consolicated statemant of

income, th of ¢h in equity, the consolidated
statement of cash Nows and the related expianatory notes, of FOA Capital S.p.A. and its
subsidiarios (the “FGA Capital W)udwlumvurmdtdoombor 31, 2013.The
mnnd MM in I with {

Dy the European Union and with art, 9 of Legisiative Decree r.

mzoosmmmmwvdrsucwm-smmm Our rasponsibility is to
express an opinkon on these Mnandial statements based on our audit.

2. Our audit was performed in with auditing by CONSQE (the

tallan Stock Exchange Requilatory Agency). In with such we and
pamumod eut audit to obtain the inf: ylo the financial

d and If such financlat taken as 3 whole, may be
ulloomn.mnuoﬂlncwmnm mammmmmmu
disclosures in the consolidated well as 9 the dppropriateness and
correct application of the g or .._...-\lm Mummmw
management. We belleve that our audit provices a reasonatie basis for our opinion,

mnmmtomwunummu d financlal st of the prior
year and the at Jenuary 1, 2012, derived from the consolidated
n‘ ber 31, 2011, 2l restated as a resull of the retrospective application
of the ent L0 IAS 19, a5 in the related explanatory notes, reference shoukt he
made, . 10 0w report Issue0 on March 4, 2013 and to the report of other auditars
issued on March 2, 2012, We nave 2xaminec the methods used (o restate the comparative financial
data and the int [ inthe y notes in this respect for the purposes of

3. In o opinion, the consoldated Mlll sm:nmm: of FGA ww Group at omm 31,2013
sccordance with i Financial Stan

have been prepsred in 9

ihe European Unlon and with art, 9 of Legislative Decree n. 38/2005. accordingly, lvw und

r.baﬂundohotruemﬂl&v(ﬂoﬂmmncu I the results of op and the cash
flows of FGA Capital Group for the year then ended.

4. The management of FGA Copltal 5.p.A. |$ responsitie for the preparation of the Report on
0 ons, in

¢ with the faws and Our ity Is to espress
an opinion on the st with the fi
by the law. For this purpose, we have performad the procecures required unoer Auditing
001 issued by the ltalin Accounting Profession (oncsou recommendes cy CONSOB. In our
opinion, the Report on s financisl st of FGA
cauumuamu 2013,

Turin, March 4, 2014

Reconta Ernst & Young Sp.A.
Signed by: Ettors Abate, partner

T seport has been transialed Into the £nglih sofoly for the of acers
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